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We are Biffa

we’ve been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years.

Our strategy for growth means that our waste reduction,
recycling, energy recavery and collection services ol haove g
positive impact across the UK, Wwe have a strong track record of
growing our profits whilst reinvesting to grow our business.

Today, Riffa is an established enabler of the UK circular
econamy and our team of just under 11,000 colleagues carry out
essential services every day in line with our purpose ‘to change
the way people think about waste’. Sustainabitity has been ot
the heart of our business strategy for many years. Cur areas of
investmernt reflect the waste meratchy - to Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, all supported by the need to Collect.

we: have already taken huge strides in our sustainability joumey
by ivesting in surplus redistribufion, plostic recyeling, energy
recovery infrastructure and low carbon collections, leading to a
70% reduction m our carbon emissions since 2002, Our
sustainability strategy, ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, will see us
unleck £1 2500 of invesiment in vital green economy
infrerstructure by 2030, of which ¢ £1ba has already been
committed to, while further raducing our carbon emissions by
50% by 2030 Our aim is to reach net zero emissions by no later
than 2050

Our people care abouf doing the right thing and, in turn, we
strive to do right by them by prioritising their health, safety and
wellbeing We are proud to have been awarded a 5-star rating
by the British Safety Cauncil. wWe have also made strong
progress in making sure Biffa is an inclusive place to work where
diversity is championed and our employees feel valued and
understand the positive contribution they make to enabling the
UK circular economy.

Our longstanding Biffa Award programme supports sustainabie
projects across the UK which deliver environmental benefits,
while making a valuable contribution to local communities.

Through our proud partnership with Wastedid, we are helping to
share proctical and low-cost waste management knowledge
with communities 1n developing countries.

As we look forword, whlst being mindful of the neor -term
challenges the UK economy 1s facing, we dre increasingly weli
positioned 10 play a key role in the fransition that our secfor is
embarking on, supported by an ambitious policy agenda
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

why we exist beyond profir who wa are ond what drives us How we deliver for our stakeholders What we're striving to ochisve
<f)> Our Vision - +, Qur Sustainable
=2 |} Business Model
To lkead the woy in UK « Collect .
sustainoble waste management + Reduce
+ Recycle .
. . + Recovar
Our Purpose Qur Sustainability
Goals
Sy
7
To change The * Bulkding a circulor gconomy
way peopie think . ing climote change
gbout waste PN » Caring for our people,
b 4 Our_ Balanced supporting our communities
: ] Business Plan

~ Safer Together

+ Vatue Peaple

» Customer Firss

+ Protect our Pianet
= Grow Susranably

Why we do what we do

Our business madel combines purpose with profit, helping to enable the circular economy, generate protit for our shareholders and deliver
our core purpose - to change the way pecple Think about waste.

Who we are and what drives us

Qur values demonstrate how we act every day and how we make
decisions. They set us aparT from the competition and show that
how we do things is just as important as what we do. They are the We make
guiding principles for how we do business. Things

happen

We take We do
pride the right
in what thing

we do
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Strategic Report

What we do

Our business model focuses on faur strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect.
Concentrating on these tour areas enables us to deliver efficient and sustainable waste
management in line with the waste hierarchy and enables us fo deliver the most value from
our oparononal capabilities,

Our business model s resilient by desigh, demonsirated by how we have navigated economic
uncertamty and marker challenges during the year. Our services are generally essential, non-
discretionary and predictable i dermand. Commercial terms either offer good levels of pricing
fiexibility or contractual structures designed fo protect against commodity and inflationary
expostres
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Reduce Recycle Recover Collect

To pieneer and operate
the UK’s leading waste
reduction and

redistribution services,

Sources of revenue:

. sale of surplus
produce to Compony
Shop Group's
members

To develop and operate
the UK's leading recycling
solutions.

Sources of revenue:

. Gate fees for processing
and treating waste,

. Sale of commodity
products

Where we focus: our objectives

To invest in energy
recovery infrastructure as o
lower carbon alternative to
fandfill for our customers’
waste that cannot be
recycled.

Sources of revenue:

+  Gate fees for processing
and treating waste,
. Sale of renewakle energy.

To build the UK'’s largest,
most efficient, low
carbon waste ond
recycling collections
operation,

Sources of revenue:

. Service fees for
collection and disposal
of commercial woste

. Fees for outsourced
proviston of household
collechen services

Our Balanced Rusiness Pian ('BBP ' 1s alighed to five key pillars - Safer Together, Value Peopie, Custormer First. Grow Sustainably ond
Protect our Planet. The actions Aand targets within our annual 8BP help to guide activity oround our business maodel.

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,

based around three key pillars:

Building a circular economy

Tackling climate change

Caring for our people,

supporting our communities

Biffa Limited / Annual Report ahd Accounts 2023



Strategic Report

The Directors present their strategic report for Biffa Limited (‘the Company’) and i1s subsidiary companies (fogether 'the Group’ or
‘Biffa™ for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Accounting reference date

This strategic report and the accompanying financial staterments are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 The comparatives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022, The strategic report for the subsequent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 29 March 2024

Principal Activity

Biffa 15 a leading mtegrated sustaingble waste management company in the UK. 1he Group collects and processes a significant
proportion of the waste generated in the UK with a focus on developing a circular economy. Operations include waste collechon,
recycling, organic waste treatment, landtill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in two Energy from Waste (‘Etw') joinT ventures.

Ownership Structure

On 26 January 2023 the entire issued and 1o be issued share capital of Biffo plc was acquired by Biffa Bidce Limited (formerly Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa’s listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled at 8am on 27 January 2023 and Biffu plc was subsequently
re-registered as @ private company and renamed Biffa Limited.

Bifta Limited remained o wholly-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited at 31 March 2023, Bifta Bidco Limited is an enity wholly owned
by the funds managed by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies (ECP).

Founded in 2005, ECP |5 g leading investor across energy fransition, electrification and decarbonization infrastructure assets, including
power generanon, renewables and storage solutions, environmental infrastructure and sustainability, efficiency & relicbility assets
facilitating the energy transition. The ECP team, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industiy experience, deep expertise
and extensive relahionships, has consummated more thon 100 transactions over the last 18 years, For more information, visit
WwWwW.ECPgP.COM.

Going concern

The Directors have concluded that the Group 1s able to continue as a going concern and the financial statements have been prepared on
the gomng concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 to the financial staterments tor more nformation.

Forword-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-locking statements with respect to the financial condition, resuits, operations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve nisk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on
cireumstances that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could couse actual results or developments 1o
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements and ferecasts.

Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs")
The Directors utilise a number of KPIs when measuring the perfarmance of the business. These KPIs have been detailed in the betow table
and discussed further an the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the financial s1atements.

FY23 FY22 Movement
Financial KPIs:
Qrganic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% (8.0)%
Acquisition net revenue growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0%%
Adjusted Qperating profit margin (%) 6.7% 6.7% -
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets (%) 18.2% 18.2% -
7 Adjusted Return on C;mml Employed (%) B“.S% 7.0% 1.5%
Group Leverage FECITI()—(?\IEEI Debt: EBITDA)Y (%) 3.0x 31x (0.1x
Non-financial KPIs:
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (k1) 524kt 538kt (14kt)
l VPIusTics recycling copa"m[kt) 167kt 151kt ) 16kt
Employee engagement (%) 63% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTL) rate Q.52 Q.39 (0.7
RIDDOR rate 0.19 0.17 0.02

Bitfa Limited / annual Reporf ond Accounts 2023 5



Strategic Report

Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other financial performance highfights in addition to the KPIs above are detailed in the fallowing fable. Aiternative performance
rmeasures are also defined and reconciled in the Appendix to the financial statements,

T T T Ryas | T RY22 TTwéﬁt

Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 14432 2372

Adjusted EBITDA - ﬁ"'ﬁ|—"_' T2255| 1980 | 305

‘Operating Profit/(Lessy | &7 ]| (83 | ':1’5\@

Adjusted Operating Profit 1i2.8 %.6 162

Loss After tax | (en "EJ_H?F— T T og ] ‘
Net Debt: EBITDA T 30x 31x (0.1

Group performdnce

The Group has built upan FY22's strang trajectory with Staturory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year to the record level of £1 480.4m.
This has been achieved across the Group with Callections, Resources & Energy and Specialist Services divisions growing by 15.1%, 11.2%
and 34 8% respectively, The majonty of the growth has been organic, being roughly twice that attributed to acguisitions,

Operating Profit has risen from o loss af £8.3m i FY272 to a profit of £6.7m. This was driven by the 16 8% improvement in Adjusted
Operating Profil from §66 6m in FY22 1o £112. 8m.

The Group cantifuies 1o experience significont inflationary headwinds Despite this, the Adjusted Operating Profit Margin has remained
flat at 6.7%, demonstrating the Group's resilience ond pricing flexibility.

The Group nses Alternative Performance Measures ('APM<’) to enable a better understanding of Group performance. APM’s exclude
certain items from statutary results and are used to enhance the comparahility of information between reporting periods and the
Grovip’s divisions.

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix to the financial statements. The net impact of adjusting items on Loss Before Tux was
a charge of £1G5.1m (FY22: £104 2m charge). The main adjusting items were acquisition related costs (£24.8m), strategy refated and
restriicturing costs (£18.0n7), increase 10 provision related to HMRC Landfill Tax enquiry (£5C.7m), asset impairments (£9.1m),
amartisation of gcguisthon intangibles (F25 2my and impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions (£24 8m credit)

Net debt and borrowings

Group net debt is £667.0m (MY22° £595 8m) representing 3.0x Adjusted EBITDA (FY22: 3.1x). This demonstrates strong continued cash
performonce ncross the Gronp.

On 1 February 2023 the Group's existing borrowings drawn down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bideo Limited, with a corresponding
loan established between Biffa Bidco Limited and a subsidiary of Biffa Limited. The RCF was simultaneously repioced by a new £225m
RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited,

The private placements held at 25 March 2022 were still held ot 31 Mareh 2023, but were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the deit
rastructure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rose from £19.2min FY22 to €22 8m The primary driver behind this was the £5 9m increase in finance costs on loans
and private pfacements maostly caused by interest rate rises during the year, partly offset by net inferest income on the net defined
nenefit surplus incredsing by £2 5m

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates o defined benefit pension scheme for certain employees which is closed to new entrants and which closed o future
occruci for the meajority of its members as at 1| November 2013, At 31 March 2023 the Group’s Total TAS 19 net retirement benefit surplus
wers £95.1m, a significant fall from the surplus of £166.1m at 25 March 2027,

The recason for this fall is the overall shrinking of the largest scheme, with both plan assets and lighilities decrensing due to the rise in
borrowing rotes

Return on Capital
Group Adjusted Return on Capital Employed improved from 7.0% in FY?22 to 8.5% due to the rise in Adjusted Operating Profit,
HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

This enauiry is in progress and therefore the outcome remains unclear. Following the receint of further information from HMRC, we have .
increased our provision from £20m to £64m Refer to Note 1 ta the financial stetements for more information.
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Strategic Report

Financigk Review continued
Post-balance sheet events

The following material events occurred after the reporting period:

+  The Group acguired the entire 1ssued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% ot the issued share capital of Esterform Packaging
Limited in April 2023

«  Arestructure of the Group's debt became effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rolling credit tacility incieasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

« It was announced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will ne longer comimence in FY24 as previously expected.
A replacement scheme will commence in October 2025 at the eartiest.

«  In Moy and June 2023 £7.8m was poid fo EVP preference shareholders end ex-management in relation 1o the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. A further £10.0m is expected to be paid in FY25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report and Note 34 for more information,

Operating Review
The Group is organised into three operating divisions:

. Collections
. Resources & Energy
. Specialist Servicas

Collections

This division provides sustainable waste and recycling callections and related services, It is sphif into two businesses: Municipal and
Industrial and Commercial ('1&C'). The Municipal business provides household waste and recycling collections, street cleaning and other
services for households, on behalf of local authorities. The 1&C business provides waste and recycling collections for o wide range ot
industrial and commercial customers.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m %

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 8739 132.2 15.1%
l&C 792.7 6309 101.8 14.7%
Muricipal 2134 183.0 304 16.6%
Net Revenue N 1,006.1 8759 1322 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 654 103 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 7.5% 75% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA ) 146.1 13067 154 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 82.5 75.0 75 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% 8.6% n/ua n/a

The Collections division had a strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising by 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with 1&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively.

I&C

The growth in 1&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions (including ¢ full 12 months’ contribution trom the Viridar
acquisition in FY22), volume growth and price increases. The 1&C business has continued 1o be affected by substantial inflationary cost
pressures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had o significant impact on our operating costs, pricing flexibility builr
into our contracts has enabled the business 1o pass on most of these cost increases to customers, thereby protecting our profitability
with Collections Adjusted Dperating Profit Margin only falting from 8 6% in FY22 to 8.2% in FY23.

while the business was impacted by national HGV driver shortages in FY22, these shorfages eased in the larter part of FY22 and this

easing continued into FY2Z, Supply chain disruption has continued 1o provide challenges in FY23, e.g. the procurement of new vehicles.
These chatlenges require careful monagement going forward.

Our strategy remains to drive forward our plan 1o consofidote the fragmented I&C collections markef. Acquisitions are highly synergistic
due to the removal of duplicate routes and locations, and result in a more efficient, tlexible service proposition for our customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acquisition pipetine fooks promising and Biffa’s new owners infend to support our historically acquisitive
approach,

Operating Review continued
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 7



Strategic Report

Collections continued
Municipal

The sigmficant growth experienced in FY 23 has been driven by the revenue indexation built into our Municipal contracts, enabling the
prices charged to customers 1o rise in line with the relevant inflation indices This results in revenue nises laggmg cost increases inan
environment with growing inflation, but then o caich-up as nflation slows A maorgin improvement )s therefore expected in FY24.

The challenges faced by the Municipal business are similar o those faced by the T&C business and the mitigating actions are therefore
broodly similar,

The husiness is well placed to continue ta deliver its growth strategy by capitalising on its scale and expertise. We will seek to caprtalise
on the opportunities that are presented by the approaching regulatory changes in the industry.

Resources and Energy (‘R&E")

The R&E division focuses on the sustainable treatment, recycling, energy recovery ond ultimate disposal of waste. It comprises the
Recycling, Crganics, Inerts and Landfill Gas businesses as well as our equity nvestiments in two Energy from Waste ('Efw") facilities that
were under construchion at the year end dote.

FY23 FY22 Change Change
B £m £m £m %
Statutory Revenue 439.6 3952 44 4 11.2%
Recyching 165.1 140.8 4.7 17.5%
Organics C ) T 1020 | 780 VY 30.0% |
Inerts 54.7 56.7 (1.9 (3.4)%
_ondfill Gas 421 40.4 1.8 4.5%,
‘Net Revenue T o 3639 | 359 | 4807 152% |
| Operating profit 35.3 175 178 1017% |
Operating profit margin (%) 8.0% 4.4% n/fe n/a
| Adjusted EBITDA 78.3 734 ag 5.7%
| Adjusted Operating profit | 423 411 W) 2.9% |
IjAdjusfed Operating profit margin (%) 9.6% 10.4% n/a n/a

The R&E division saw strong perfarmance in FY23 with Net Revenue of £363 9m, up 15.2% on the prior year. This was drniven by growth in
the Recycling and Qrgonics businesses, which in turn was partly caused by o full 12 months’ contribution from the Virdor acquisition

The sigmficnnt cost increases expenenced in the year were largely mitigeted through the Group's risk manogement measures and pricing
flexiblity, but Adjusted Operating Profit Margin did fall from 10 4% to 9.6%.

Recycling
Our Recycling business comprises our leading Polymers plastics business and our Materials Recycling Facilities ('MRFs7)

FY22 was o transitional year for the Polymers business due to customer acceptance at Seaham taking longer than expected but o
number of multi-million potnd agreements were signed late in FY22 and FY23, driving the 17.5% revenue growth in FY23

we rxpect demand for plastics recyeling 10 continue 1o strengthen following the introduction of the UK Gavernment's Plastic Packaging
Tax cnd grecgter scrutiny on corporate behaviours,

Construction of the third tHDPE IIne at Redcar 15 now complete.
Grganics

The Gigamcs business includes Biffa’s anaerobic digestion (*AD"), composting and residual waste treatment assets. Assets are generaily
supparted by long term local authority contracts, The business had a strong year with revenue growth of 30.0%

Inerts

Qur Inerts business includes the treatment and disposal of romplex canstruction waste and provides landfill disposal for untreatabile
residues Inerts Net Revenue fell by 34% due 1o a dechine in landfill volumes caused by macreecancmic uncertainty

Londfill Gas
The Landfill Gas business provides energy generation from landfill gas extraction
Revenue grew by 4.5% in FY23 with the positive movement in energy prices offsetting the reduction In gas yields

Operoting Review continued

Biffa Limited / Apnual Report and Accounts 2023
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Resources and Energy (‘R&E’) continued
Energy Recovery

The freatment of general waste for energy recovery is an important part of aur investment strafegy for waste which cannet be avoided,
reduced or recycled. Biffa has invested in two Energy from Wasre joint ventures in partnership with Encyclis (previously Covanta).

Censtruction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility is compiete and the site became fully operationul in May 2023, so FY24 Adjusted
Operating Profit will henefit trom roughly 10 months of contribution. Construction of the Protos Energy Recovery Facility 1s still in
progress and is 1-2 years behind Newhurst.

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services division helps customers fulfil their sustainability ambitions by providing bespoke solutions including surplus
redistribution, integrated rescurce management and hazardous waste services. The division contains the Industrial Services and
Company Shop Group (‘CSG') businesses.

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions to customers who have more complex waste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on site services ond eguipment rental ('Infegruted Resource Management’
or ‘IRM’), huzardous waste collection and treatment and pockaging producer responsibility compliance services (‘Biffpack’).

CSG adds waste reduction and redistribution capabilities to Biffa’s range of susiainable waste management solutions It also enables us
o support customers in moving surplus products further up the waste hierarchy and to deliver on therr sustainability ambitions
Alongside its core network, CSG operates Community Shop, a not-for-profit community interest company that supports some of the
most deprived areas of the UK through a network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners ar deepty
discounted prices, alongside the provision ef a number of community services.

In July 2022 Biffa announced that Circutarity Scotland Ltd ('CSL), the scheme administrator for Scotland's Depesit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa To provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks containers which are placed on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financial performaince wus to be included within the Speciclist Services division due To the unigue
nature of the scheme. The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as originally planned, as it was announced on 7 June 2023
that a replacement scheme would not go ahead until at feast Cctober 2025, Refer to Note 34 for further details on the DRS and position
as at the balance sheet date.

FY23 Fy2z Change Change
£m £m £m Y
Statutory Revenue 347 1741 60.6 34.8%
Industrial Services 145.1 103.4 41.7 40.3%
Company Shop Group 89.5 70.7 189 267%
Net Revenue T 234.7 1741 606 | 348% |
Operating profit / (loss) 12.7 (19.9) 326 n/u
Operating profit margin (%) 5.4% (11.4% n/a n/u
" Adjusted EBITDA 21.6 1.6 100 86.2%
Adjusted Operating profit 138 5.4 8.4 155.6%
Adjusted Operafing profit margin (%) 5.9% 3.1% n/a n/u

The Specialist Services division had ¢ very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth wos seen in
Industrial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Company Shop Group which saw i1s revenues mcrease by 26.7%,

Industrial Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance into FY23, with all three business unirs (IRM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services in March 2023 will help drive further growth in FY24.

Biffa Is uniguely placed to benefit from the growing Industrial Services market as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can take advantage of cross-selling services from our 1&C customer base.

The business experienced similar challenges to those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently minigared 1o
ensure performance was not significantly impacted

Company Shop Group

The business saw o significant turnaround in FY23, moving from being loss-making 1o profit-maoking. The encouraging progress seen in
the hnal quarter of FY22, achieved through strategic changes, continued intc FY23 as membership, footfall and gross margins
maintained their positive trajectory. Performance 1s expected to improve turther in FY24 due to a full year of higher sales and margins

Stakeholder engagement and sustainability

Biffa Limited / Annucl Report and Accounts 2023 @



Strategic Report

we have contimued 1o focus on our purpose “to change the way people think about waste™. Sustaingbility is at the heart of our business.
We're committed to doing the right things to protect our planer, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst defivering the maost
chvironmental, social and financial value from the resources we collect. We are also proud to give something back to the communities we
serve and in dong so create value for all our stokehalders.

we care about our customers and their needs. Every day we provide essential services to d wide range of customers ageross the UK from
large corporates to thousands of local businesses and local authorities, wWe focus on delivering excellent services consistently, as
promised, every fime. Our sustainable approoch, responsiveness to customer needs and delivery makes us the first choice for customers,

Qur suppliers play an impactant role in helping aur business deliver far our customers. we form strong, sustainable and toasted
pirinerships and look ta secure excellent value for money, whilst minimising risk in our supply chain,

The health, safety and wellseing of our colleagues and our communities continues 1o be of paramount Importance. Duning the year, we
have continued to actively support the communities in which we operate through various community projects, Including our proud
parmership with the charity, WasteAid. Wasteaid is an independent UK charity, set up by woste management professionals to share
practical ond low-cost waste management knowledge with communities in developing countries. We support them through our
spensorshio, empioyee fundraising and with their projects in the Gambia, Kenyo and Cameroon

Employee engagement
Our employee engagement scare has increased 4% during the year, and we are now 7% above the UK average.

we want our people 10 be engaged in their work and with their workploce, Research shows that arganisations with ligh levels of
employec engagement are more efficient and effective and that highly engaged employees care about the future of therr orgonisction
and are motivated fo help it achieve its objectives. We have doubled engagement over the past 10 years and our ambition is fo be in the
fop 25% of all companies in the UK, which we are now only 4 percentage points oway from achieving

we have o teom of just under 11,000 taiented ond diverse colleagues who support Biffa’s purpose of changing the woy people think
rbout waste. We pride ourselves on howing an open and honest relationship with our workforce, empowering Them 10 have their say,
whilst ensuring they remain supported. We engoge with each other respectfully, encourage each other and help make Biffa o farr,
inclusive and fun place to work.

we nlso continue to mamtam two-woy engagement with our workforce, ensuring that they are kept up to date with the latest busmess
developments and answering their questions Our channels include reguiar oll- employee video calls with our Group Executive Team, CEO
vlogs, conferences and news updates viao ouwr intranet and employee opp, Biffo Beat. Biffa Beat helps us to communicate and engage
with our frontline workforce. enabling them to openly ask guestions and voice their opinions ot the 1ouch of a button, This 1s further
supported by the Biffa Involvement Group, a forum of over 100 employees that meet regularly to share ideas and feedback with both
each ather and the Group Executive Team.

Health and safety

Over the year, through dedicated facus on risk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from 0.39 injunies per 100.000 hours worked to 0.32. wWe
aleo reduced the averalt proportion of all injures that resulted in any lost time frem 12.35% to §.95%. Disappointingly, our RIDDOR rate
rose shghtly over the 12m period due largely to our T&C busmess, We are maintaining our approach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk management processes with a specific focus on reducing road risk by improving our systems, technology and driver capabilihes. We
are also mvesting in EcoOnline, a best closs H&S management platform to help us improve our incident management procedures, ancd in
the TupSet mvestigation methodology to improve our ability to learn from incidents.

Other matters contained within the Strotegic Report

The Section 172 statement, Task Force on Chmate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), Principal risks and uncertainties and Non-
Financial Intormation Statement below form part of the Strategic Report

On hehalf of the Board

A ,:;q;!,\-.'-\ -

Michoel Topham

Director

Biffa | rnyterd

Registeted in Fngland and Wales No 10336040
11 September 2023
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Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard to their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 (5172°) to promote the long-term success of Bifta
Limited (the "Compeiny’) tor the benefit of its members during the year. In doing so, the Directors have considered the matters outlined
below.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Qur business model focuses on tour strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recaver and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more details, 5172
factors were considered in The Board's discussions on strafegy, including how they underpin the Company’s fong-term success and the
need 1o act fairly between members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, both through their day-to-day activities and via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events. The Directors and Group Executive Team host regular all-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity to provide
feedback and ask guestions. All Directors alse have access to our employee app, Biffa Beat, giving them the ability to view employee
teadbcick on announcements and other communications. In addition, the annual employee engagernent sutvey provides valuable insight
to the Directors across a range of key employee marters, including safety, wellbeing, reward & recognition and diversity & inclusion. see
puge 10 for more derails.

The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

To be able to fulfil thewr s172 duty when making decisions, 1t is essenticl thot the Directors understand what matters to the Company's
stakeholders. Much of the stakeholder engagement at Biffa is carried out at a business level. The Board has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year. See page 10 for more details.

The impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment

Sustainability is at the heart of our business. We're committed to changing the way people think about waste and doing the right things
to protect our planet, which includes minirmising our carbon foatprint whilst delivering the most environmental, social and fingncial vatue
from the resources we collect. We are also proud fo give something back to the communities we serve and in doing so create value for alt
our stakeholders. See pages 12 to 20 for more details,

The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
we gre committed to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areos of our business. More detail 1s provided as follows.

. Stakeholder engagement - puge 10

. Employee engagement - page 10

. Health and safety - page 10

. Environment and sustainability - pages 12 1o 20

. Non-Financial Informotion Statement - pages 28 to 2%

Example of principal decision of the Board

During the year, the Board considered and approved the acquisition of the whole of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
mancaged and/or advised by Energy Capital Partners LLC ('ECP’), implementec by way of scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the “Transaction’)

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s lorgest shareholders and consistently considerad
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company’s wider (non-shareholder) stakeholders. This included looking for reassurance fo
ECP on a number of matters as follows:

s ECP having a sfrong track record of employee stewardship with the evaluation of the Transaction not being predicated on headcount
reductions or cost cutting inifiatives and that all existing employee rights would be safeguarded;

. ECP supporting the Company’s sustainability strategy, with Biffa’s leodership in this area being a major reason for thair interest in the
Transaction; and

. ECP’s support for continued focus by the Company on its customers and communities.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendadtions. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer a mandated requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntary disclosure
consistent, olbeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. Using this fromework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-related opportunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in a purposeful and comparable context.

Governdance

Board

For the majority of the year the Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable value to our key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of cur strategic commitments, which are aligned with our sustainability strategy Following the acquisition by
ECP, the Biffo Topco Limited (formerly Beors Topco Limited) Boord are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainability.
This ensures climate related risks and opportunities are considered in all aspects of the business including capital expenditure,
acquisitions, and performance objectives

Executive Sustdinability Committee

During the reporting year the Executive Sustomability Committee managed the Company's sustainability strotegy while senior
management are responsible for the day-to-day implementation, monitoring and management of our sustamability pertormance
including climate related risks and opportunities. During the year the Executive Sustainability Committes met twice. At the end of the
tinancial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was dishanded and sustainability has become a standing item on the Group
Fxecutive meeting agenda at least 3 times per year. This ensures climate related risks and opportunities are integrated in decision
making acress our biisiness,

During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee received updates on UK legislation including the Envircnment Act and Resources
ahd Waste Strategy, the Group's Alternative Fuels Strategy, the Group's sustainability ratings and accreditations, the Group's social value
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strategy. The Executive Sustainability Committee giso approved the Group's
Scope 3 emissions target which has now been submitted for validation by the Science-based Target Initiagtive (SBTH. Simular updates will
be provided at least 3 times a year at the Fxecutive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustainability Team

During the reporting year the Group’s Environment and Sustfainability team reported to the Corparate Affairs Director however the team
now report to the Generei Counsel and Company Secretary followng changes to the Group Executive Team i FY24. The team provide
reqular upddtes ncluding to the Group Executive Team and work closely with management teams and employecs acress the business tao:

. Identify and report any emerging climate-related risks and oppartunities to the Group Executive Team. )
«  Dnve awareness of our sustainability targets across the business and ensure that where relevant, sustainobility targets are !
incorporoted inte our divisional balanced husiness plans
. Evolve and refine the sustaimability strategy and asscciated targets, ensuring it keeps pace with Riffa’s averall ambitions, mearket
developrments and the latest Science-based Targets,
. Ensure porformance monitoring and reporting 1s completed and rigerously audited through both internal audit and external
verificotion to ensure accurate nformation is communicated to stakeholders
. Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy 1o the Group Executive Team
»  Parficipate in industry working groups, along with other experts, and monitor best practice,
. Ensure the Company poshion is reflected in developing Government policy through transparent and pro-active interaction with our
requlgtars and policy mokers,

Audit Committee

The role of the Committee 1s to assist the Board in fulfilling s oversight responsibilities by monitaring and reviewing the integrity of the
Group's fmancial reporting and the effectiveness of the Internal and External Audit functions and risk management framework and
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system of internal control.

During the year the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s principal risks and emerging risks which includes climate change. The
review of the principal risks considers the fikelihood of the risks matenalising and the potential impact, in terms of both the inherent risks,
before any mitigoting actions, and the residual risks, after considering mitigating actions and controls. The emerging risks reviewed by
management and the Committee include risks relating fo physical and transiticnal climate change.

Following the acquisition by ECP, the Audit Committee for Biffa Limited was disbanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Committee of Bifta Topco Limited.

Strategy

As a leader in UK sustainable waste managerment, we play o critical role in climate action; enabling the UK circular economy and
allowing custormers and society to reduce their emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy 'Reduce,
Recycle, Recover and Collect’ guides the services we offer, our operations, our supply chain management and our investment in research
ond development,

These four areas of our sustainable business model retlect the outcomes and value creaticn delivered by our operational capabilities and
our capital allecation:

+  Reduce: To pioneer and operate the UK's leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

«  Recoycle: To develop and operate the UK's leading recycling solutions.

+  Recover: To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure as o lower carkon atternative to landfill for cur customers’ waste that
can't be recycled

s Collect: To builld the UK’s largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operotion.

To furthier align our funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identified, we have
established a Sustanability-Linked Finance Framework which was published in Decermber 2020,

Our sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Responsible, was published in March 2020 and identifies 20 clearly defined targets which
mitigate agoinst cimate-related risks and capitalise on climate-related opportunities. These targets nclude Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, alternative fuelled vehicles, mcreased collection route efficiencies and the purchasing of renewable energy

Progress against the strategy is reviewed annually and will take on board any changes in regulations, societal demand, technology
availability and the development of climate science. Where required the strategy will be adapted 1o reflect these changes.

Scenario analysis

we use scenario analysis to ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential future climate
scenarios ta 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluated against three scenarios. Expanding cur scenario selection enables us 1o
explore the key transitional and physicat risks and opportunities that Biffa may be exposed fo:

. The ‘sustainable’ scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from a successiul decarbonisation, aligned with
the Paris Agreement and its goal is to limit global warming to 15 degrees Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.

s  The ‘middle of the road’ scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded as
the most likely climate trajectory with a global temperature increase of between 2 and 3°C.

s The ‘hot house’ scenario - enables us to assess the risks where the Paris Agreement is not met and for global average temperatures
rising o above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenario we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scencrios used were informed by the International Pangl on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways! and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK $5Ps)% Data from the UK Met Otfice, that aligned with the global average temperature rising to
above 4-C by the end of the century was used 1n the *hot house’ scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable fo our UK operations

In 2022 we carried out a matenality assessment, asking our key stakeholders whether they saw the material topics as risks or
opportunities for Biffa 1o ensure we had a balanced view. The Executive Sustatnakility Committee consider that the material risks and
opporfunities outhned in the 2022 materiality assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of our Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on outcomes of the assessment: www biffa.co.uk/sustainability.

Foatnates

1 The Interguvernmental Funel oh Chimote Change Representative Concentration Putliways were used iUl scendiias os they allow pbyaical dimnate impats To be Conude ed
such us rempetature tlooding and exteeme weather, across difrenng overuyge Tempeiotaie nses resulting from varying radiarive furees

2 Sociuerononti Pothways (55Ps) destiibe o set of dltetngtive pluasible trujectunes of societal developrent, which ure bused o hypotheses ubsont which sucietal elenient- ure
tha most unporiant detedninunts of challenges To cimate change miliganion and udgptonion spoticl expliut Projections ot EnviroienEnral Dovers (5PEFD) huve wiurhed witn
partners T develup UK versiulis of The S5P. Through o paitiuipaiony process mvohang stukeholder worsshops, miesnews and questionnames 10 spatially, ernporaily and
sactorally extend ghobol und Eoiopear versions of the S
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L Low

M Medium H High

Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 1 (‘sustainable’}

Potential financial impact
Medium

TCFD Short Loeng
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource rMore efficient Reduced and avoided We have arn ombrtious cartion reduction
afficiency technalogy operating costs for rarger and in order Fo meet this we have o
facilities and collections sirong focus on energy efficiency dcross
fleet. M H L ovr operations and fleet and we believe
fechnology advancement woulld enable s
tn accdderate This under the sustomable
e - waorld.
Proclucts s Increased Increased revenue due We are committed o optimising our

- sArvices / dernand for o the continued processes and using our prert knowledge

@ markets } . dlevelopment and 1o delivar low carbon services/products,

£ ow carbon . H H H . .

c K reduced operating costs, We confinue 1o manitor customer demands

£ services and and markets changes so we remain

8. materials competitive.

8. - e —— e — [, .
Additional Increased revenue from Wwe understand the importance of green
technology conftinued development technology ahd our mmbition is 1o unlack

of additional services H H H £1 25bn af investnient in green econonty
infrastructure by 2030, which inclides but
1zt limited to investrments m plastics
e reryeling S
Resilience Collaborative Increased market volug We engage collaboratively with our key
relationships and revenue due 1o L M L stakeholder groups to help find solutions o
reputational benefits, the mast difficult climate challenges.
Mergers anid Redyuced operating costs M&A enables us 1o continue 1o gan
acquisitions, due fo efficiency gans H M H operating efficienmes and new capabilifies,
and increased revenie. helping s to achieve our cmbiticus
—— - sustaingbilty targets.
Patential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Pahry ond Emussiong Incregsed opeardting We continue to review our progress against
leqal legislation costs In order to alr emissions targets ond ensure our
maintain emissions L M M targels aligned to the latest cimate
compliance and comply science,
o with low emission zones
Renewnble Impact on revenue due The cessation of the rencwable obigation
energy to changes in initiatives schernes for landfill gas which we currently
legisiation avallable, " recave for our Iondﬁll gay operc.hcns has

“ L L been bt mfo aur five- year business plane.

% Other sources of renewahile energy suiich as

o solar would aliow us fo utlise the gricl

e e e cOnNechions across our londfill poitfolio_
Wasle Impact on revenue onrl We engaoge productively and transparently
legislation ocperating rosts due o with requlators and policy makets 1o ensure

change In service that we have foresight of upcoming
demand L L L legisiotion, ollowing us 10 moke the
and materidls necessary adaptations A higher demand
for recycled matenals presents o great
o o e ~opporiumby for Biffa o
L ow emisainn Costs 1o transition to low Collahorating with our suppher on
techinofogy carbon fechnology M M L technology advances enables efficiency

gans in the use of resources ancd
operananal processes,
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Summary of our most materiol climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 (‘middle of the road’)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCED Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efticient Reduced ond avoided we huve a sfrong tocus on energy
efficiency technology operating costs for efficiency across our operations and fleet
faciities and L L L Improving our energy efficiency across out
collections fleet. opergtions and tleet is exsennial for us o
meet our ambitious carbun reduction
_ commitments. o
Products/ Increased Increased revenue Qur sustainability ambitions will be
services / demand for due fo the continued delivered by cptimising our processes and
markers low carbon development oqd H H H combining these with out actions 1o help
i reduced operating customers move their waste further up the
services and costs. waste hierarchy, helping to reduce the
materials I carbon tootprint of the services we offer.
Addifional Increased revenue Our gmbition 15 to unlock £1 25bn of
technology from continued H H H investment in green economy intrastrucrure
development of by 2030, which includes but isn'T nuted to
additional services. nvestments in plastics recycling.
Resilience Collaborative Increased marker we engage collaboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakeholder groups to help find solutions tu
due to repurational L M M the most ditticult climate challenges and
benefits, help ovur customers meer their own
sustaingbility rargets.
Mergers and Reduced operating we continue to develop our cupabilities
acquisitions costs due 10 efficiency through M&EA, which will enable us 1o
gains and Increased M M M continue o gon cperating efficiencies and
revenue. new capabilities, helpimg us to achieve our
ambitious sustainability rargets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response ond resilience
Policy and Emissions Increased operating we are making significant progiess
fegal legislation costs inorder 1o Towards our cormmitment of ¢ 50%
maintain emissions reduchion in our emissions by 2030, we
compliance and L L L have also seT a farget tor Net Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050, Achieving our fargets will
emission zones. reduce our expose 1o enmission related
COSTs.
Renewable Impact on revenue The cescation of the renewable obligation
energy due to changes in schemes tor landtill gas which we currently
legislation initiatives availuble, receive tor our landfill gas operations has
L H L been bult info our five-year business plans,
Wwe are exploring other sources of
renewable energy that will allow us to utihse
our lurge land holding and grid
infrastructure. e
Woste Impact on revenue we engage productively and transparently
legislation and operating cosrs wirh regulators and palicy makers to ensure
due fo change in that we have foresight of upcoming
service demand L L L legislarion, ollawing us to make the
and materials. necessary adaptations A higher demand
for recycled materials presents a great
opportunity tor Bitta.
Low emission Costs to fransition fo Colluborating with our suppler on
rechnology fow carbon ™ M M rechnulogy advances enables ctticiency

technology

gains In the use of resources and
operational processes.
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Summadry of our most material climate-related risks - Scenario 3 (‘hot house’)

Potential financial impact

TCRD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
_-A'ru{;ﬁ\}mcni D-O-l-'HCIg‘E_l—O_-_“ﬁ Increcsed costs due Understanding the exposﬂ?é ofour
mpacts property/site to physical domage. operomons o the nsk from extreme
{increase in infrastruciure i weather events, including flonding, allows
~everity of from extreme Increased insurance us to identify business-crivical locations
extreme weather premiums and M H H which can then be assessed for climate
weather) and events reduced insurance change adaption investment. New focilities
chronic availability for *high incorporale cimate change and flooding
physical nsk’ areas. measures infe their planning phases and
impgcts (ong development,
rerm climote e
o shifis) Increased Increased capital whilst the frequency and extent nf extreme
- health and ©osts gs a result of weather is hard to predicr, we continue ra
[ safety risk fire damecge to monitor changing weather pafterns on o

buildings/vehicles .
9 short-term basis and take action to

Indirect costs due rmutigate any negative effects,
to impacts on

health and

wellheing. L L L

Incregse in
operational costs
for heating, cooling
and change in
operating proctices
due 10 shifting
temperatures.

The Risks and Oppotrtunities Identified

Riffer views potential climate related risks and opportunities under two main categories:

. Transition risk: changes os a result of legislation, customer expectations and new fechnologies
. Physical cimate, physical climate impacts and how this impacts our facilities and operations.

Under both decarbonisation scenarios used i our analysis, the risks we face are intrinsicolly linked to changes in policy and legislation,
rechnological advancements and innovation that support o low carbon, energy efficient econony. Risks that relate fo transport andg
emissions, impact most sectors, while other risks are waste sector sperific Mitigahon measures include support of our subject-matter
experts and the menitoring of future changes and our current busmess maecel shows our consideration of a deeply decarbonised
pothway.

To achreve decarbomsation the circular economy is needed to decouple economic growth from the use of natural resources  This
presents significant opportunities for Biffo including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recyeling services
and low carbon materials These opportunities are enhanced by Englond's Resources ond Waste Strategy, which supports the circulor
2canomy and green consurmerism, Our business strategy positions us in key role to support our customers during this fransformation.

If global climate mitigotion s unsuccessful and the 'hot house’ scenario becomes a reality, we understand thot the wotld will face
changes in market conditions, but the size and noture of these changes are highly uncertain, Therefore, the focus of this scenario is the
physical chimate impact on ot business and warkforce. The physical impacts are primarily related to severe weather events. These could
pose a risk to our workforce and facilities in the long term and require us to infroduce odditional safety measures and training. We
beleve the best mitigation cgainst the risks from this scenario Is to support the goals of the Poris Agreement and make o positive
contribution to chimate action ourselves and through our value chan

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due ta the amaount of carbon already in the atmosphere and unknown carbon feedback loops,
some Increase N extreme weather events and iong-term changes in Tfemperature and rainfall patterns is expected These will impact cur
business. but to o lesser magnitude than if g decarbonisation pathway isn't achieved Our business continuity planning is mformed iy
bath past ond simulated events and ensures that we remain resilient to any disruption causerd by extreme weather events Business
crticol operations that are at a higher risk will be assessed for adaptation If required
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Risk Management

We use our well-established risk management framework 1o review our climate-related risks and ocpporfunities.

Risk governance

The Bifta Topco Limited Board ensures the Group’s internal confrol systems and risk management framework are effective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated authority to review the ettectiveness ot the risk management and internal control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team 1s responsible for the day-to-day risk management and control. This ensures that management provides
leadership and direction 10 employees so that our overailt risk-taking activity 1s kept within our risk appetire.

Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship
between the various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated. The Internal Audit
funchion assesses our risks and contrals independently and objectively.

Risk appetite

The Biffa Topco Limited Bourd sets our averarching risk culture and appetite and ensures nsk 1s mancged appropriately across the
Group, Health & Safety, legal, reguletory and environmental risks (including climate-related risks) are our major focus. Biffa dedicates
sigmificant rescurces to managing and monitoring rthese risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside. In each cose,
controls and mitigating actions aligned to the risk appetite are put In pluce,

Risk assessment

A risk assessment mafttix is used 1o ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the hkelihood of the risk
maotericlising and its potential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual 11sk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. wWe also identity any additional activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate the
risk.

For more information on our Risk Management Process please see the ‘Principle risks and uncertainties’ section

Emerging risks

In eddition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as port of cur existing risk management
processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team and the Audit Committee, and include risks relating to chmate
change such as alternative fuels, flooding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management process is centrally coordinated. [t tilises a risk management 1ool and considers the existing business
modet and future strategy. Within thes fool, climate-related risks have a separate section, but these risks are also included within the
operational nsk profile for each area of the business where relevant. An established network of ‘Risk Champtons’ is in place 1o facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the sentor management team and take o lead rele in engaging local
management to identity and regularly update risk information.

The Group Executive Team ure updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership ot each ot these risks is assigned to
individual members of the Team.

The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal and emerging risks, as identified and ossessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committes also reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internat Audit tunction, which
operates o risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended o mitigote and reduce risk 1o The lowest extent possible, however, we cannot eliminate ali
nisks 1o the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or 1oss.
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Metrics and Targets

We assess our effectiveness of integrating climate related risks and opporhunities into our business throuigh the use of ¢ series of business
relevant climate change indicators,

Our targets are;

. Redure our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 50% by 2030 from o 2019 boseline (746,925 tCO2e) and achieve Net Zero* by no later
than 20650, During FY24 we hope to receive validation from the SBTi for our Scope 1, 2 ond 3 emissions fargets

. infroduce 10% non-fossil-fuelled collection vehicles by 2025

s Increase collection route efficiency by 10% by 2025,

. Purchose 100% renewable energy by 2025.

“haot zero e et Ak A o buldm # peteeea the amonat of areenlonsse gos encsiona neadused and the smonnt tennesd {iem the atmnsphere

Metric 2023 2022 2021

Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (| ncation-based) (1COe)* 524.367 537.950 533187
™ reduction i Scope 1 and 2emissions since 2019 2980 2798 2862
Scope 3(tC0e) 666,065 622170 n/a

% of alternative fuetled collectian vehicles 150 <1
Collection rovite efficiency (ifts per km) 0.50 049 042
% Increqse in collechion route efficiency from 2019 417 208 1250
77;’;:;?6;19\»}(‘]th‘ energy purchosed * T 1(50 7 100 51

Srmited ossuriree provioed by Bucern Vertas The indeperdent nssuron e starement soin e sewed of hrips 7 Zesew bifla co v/ snstanaiad ty ‘tenorts and perfarmnren
CTY2 aroneits Fave beer realeobated ieinelude tha imipast of the Vindor asouisit nnodanng the prior penon
0 Amaunts have been restated to reflect the percentege of tenewable energy purcnased for sites where Biffa controls the energy supply agresmen®

Commaents on the data

1 Donneg Ty 23w orbpted o new methadology tor ealetlated fmissions nssorinted with Scape 8 Categnry 1 rparchasen gooas anc services) and §ateqay S rwaste gennated m
AP atnns) Fe new eetneanlary menns we ore 1s0e quontity data for thrd-party waste treatmeant frliaposal whers posaible rather shan the spend brsed metaadeiyy

2 erine Fr 21 we moved oor moee onetfolin s here we are respensible tor the energy supplies onto a rerewabile torff

3 Callmctian revnte affirienry wes sipnfiranthy mpacted by Cosad 19 Y22 nns been anatber ehallerging vers weh Covid 192 wmipacting the stert of 1heyear ond drves shorteogr s,

hrwse sor nositiee proaress ane heen miade teverds our 202530 target

To lead in UK sustamable waste monagement 1t)s critical that we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue 1o develop our ability 1o
offer low corbon services to our customers. Qur emissions reduction target is built into the Groug Balanced Business Plon (BBP), This
mfluences our divisional BBPs which in turn determines senior leaders’ remuneration policy. Where relevant, other targets outlined in our
siistainability strategy are incorporated into our divisionol BBPs.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

we have seen d reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of almost 30% compared to our 2019 baselinet. When tuking into account
our purchasing of renewable energy”’, this reduction is 31%.

This has been achieved through the continued improverment of cur landfill gas capture and efficiency gains within our operations, including
the removal of 56 diesel RCVs to date as a result of our acquisitions since the launch of our sustainability strategy, equating to a saving ot
1,600 tCO2Ze per year.

11 FY20 we transitioned our portfolio to o new energy management system to aid mere granulor date analysis. Following
recommendations from our annual SECR audits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed ¢ series of actions, including a
Non-Half Hourly (NHH) meter replacement exercise and creation of an independent site List, o allow us To have greater understanding of
our electricity usage and quickly identify problems. During FY23 we have begun work on business area intensity metrics, helping us ta
normalise electricity usage as the business continues to grow.

During the year we have implemented a Computer Aided Fucilities Management System which has allowed for the development of
regicnal networks, reducing the mileage fravelled for reactive maintenance we also operate a rolling upgrade programime of energy
efficiency improvements across our sites In FY23 we have htted 7 sites with external lighting 1imeclocks and installed LEDs across 18 sites.
A Building Management System has been installed at our Head Office to control the Heating, Ventitation and Air Conditioning (HVAC;
system etfectively. It is estimated that these improvements wilk save ¢.751C02e per year.

Bullding on the successful roll out of energy and utitity audits in our Municipal business in FY22, during FY23 our Resources and Energy
division have undertaken energy and uTitity audits fo identity potential areas for energy efficiency improvements to be made. By
identitying our sites individual energy usage, we can take more effectve measures to reduce the energy corsumption. The plan for FY24 s
o roll cut @ similar audit across our I&C estate.

As a result of our positive progress to date, we are well on course to achieve our sustainability strategy targets to reduce carbort emissions
by 50% by 2030.

UK Greenhouse gas (‘'GHG’) Emissions and Energy Use Data

Emissions from: (in tonnes COZe*) I 2023 2022 2021
Scope 1 494 959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 (Market-based)™ 15, 641 16,04 20,355
Scope 2 (Locchonjt;;;_ed): Electricity, heot, stearmn and cooling™ T 27,408 30,320 26,959
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Market-based)™ 512,600 523709 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 ernissions (Locahon-basedy™ 524,367 537,950 533,187
Scope 1 cz-a;_’(Mc:rket-bqsed) infrensity rafio - 1CO»e per £m revenue - 304 363 505
Scope land 2 (Locc;;;:—bused) intensity rafio - 1CO, per £m revenue 311 373 512
Scope 1 and 2 {(Market-based) intensity ratio - 1CO.e per employee 47.40 5375 6392
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity rafio - tCOwe per employee 48,55 5521 64,72
Totci Scope 3 666,065 422,170 n/a

* Carbon doside equivalent (G0 e) = a standard aint i carbon oLLounting 1o guar 1y greennouse gas enissiols, emissions reductiors and carbon credis
T Lineled assuronce providea by Bureau Vedtas The independent Ossuiance stateien Lan be yiewed ar htins /o www Bilta co.uk/sustanabdity/repor ts and perionmance
SRY 22 amolnts hdyve eet e aloulated o ndude the mnpact of the Vindo uequisition duting the unor peiod

Comments an the data

1 Bitte collects and reports eny runtmentdl dota n gocondance vath the gaigehies ol the Greenhouse Gas Profuced The CO2e etmesiuns wele calodlated awng the BE I 20y
emission tuctors We hove followed the Ghie Protocol scope 2 Guidance requning dudl repot ing using fwa entissien foctors tur each site Murket buzed and Lucationr: bosed
Prion e FYZ1 the Lacution based methed nas teen used us o proxy for the Market-basea method

2 Scupe L encompasses direct GHG grszsiony from energy genarated from tossil tuels dsed within oun opetaniors sich as diesel, gus ond ol Ir also nelt des our lard il gas
ESHISSICNy SLupe J encempusses ndinect GHG emussiuns frofm the on-site generaton drd purchase of lectnioly using market bused erisaions dard Seupe 3 eicomipsses
e ent GHG enmsiors n Bshtu's yalue chamn tupstraam und downshieom)

3 The dutu reported 1> based o vt operationol conttul Reuor ted eaniss-ots aig wifiin the UK only No diect operations are cunnied out oftsnote Gue mnestimenls njomt
ventures and ussoutes are incduded within Categoiy 15 of oul Scope 5 envssions ds they fall outside wal operational control Details of fiese vestinenis Lon be foand in Note
28t the cansohdated tinanciul sturements

4 Scope 3 entssions ncludes puichused goods and soreces, capital goods, tuel and energy related activibies, downsireant transpor fation of sukd produc s, waste generared Jan
Ope ations, susiess favel wmployes commuting, end-of -life frzatment fur products sola by CSC, feaseu ussets and mvestments LDunng the yect we hove Seveloped an
wpdaled methodology and FY22 s ow boseline to Scope $ eitssions asit s rot passiole 1o caleulate the pion years Laing The updoted methodology

& We have extenden the boundary of oul Stope 1, 2 and 3 eressiuns tondude acaured companes Ine emissions assoiatad with the acguied companies have not exceeded

our emissicns recalculation thieshold
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

: Energy Consumption within the UK

Climate Change/GHG emissions table (kwWh) o T ﬁ”r__ 77270—2;A7’ 205; 1 77262-1 N
Methane emiq%\ong (Utilised) 236G 479 389925 422,215
Diesel fuel used 554071615 457705737 347 216,629
" Red diesel used T - | seraoss | ameasa | nssones |
Vﬁk'Jnreaded petrol used 1,236,875 643513 196,097
7Kproqene used 2,501,887 87499 87547
LPG* B 3,215,745 3073594 3,080,66;1.*
Newrlges o T gezesn 9389522 | 9279018
HVQ 4,393,127 1,670,603 “'——
Purchased electncity 108,628 860 108,025,000 81,480,688_‘
75;\1‘SLJDDIi;(;_VPVIPCII‘icHy" a o ) 3%,101 886 34.:/:69.481 54,155,1_
777{6’{(]'7” )T _‘777?0_841,5];! h92_534,607 77:’:42,558_;76—

S P bt hese restated fo e e sites russing Trom disr lasires in the prior perios All other rhise [osrires 10 shas inble are ueaffectas]

Comments on the data

1 o al vlesta tha fbowe Cananpt oo figures, we dsed methndelngy bncer oo the Strecumlined Frergy Carlnn Repor fng ¢ SECR') ramplionse sehese

2 The Wi ense i K attonnmed s Piesel sl usea s die team mersass 1 flest size fellowing s hon cemb ned witt rad diesel’ sane beine reploeed by whos mesel
ereneti nf the bosiness, thenach as poiaitions ks laod to on overall increase n Totel lkKwh sed by the Grop
- Tne et Tepor O s ey vEet wiir e LK by T ensray s uset SfEsbere A Biffers anrrotions sre Uikt sern
} A SECR Antas udited by Carbon ecoded

' £ nhase 3 Audr doe lay Decombese 3003

Energy Generation

renevnfion (Gwh)

¢ arbon benefit (k tonnes CO.e

2023 2022 2021
349 83 596
468 81 97
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Bitfa Topco Limited Board has overall responsibility for risk management at Biffa. In support of this, risk management is firmly
embedded within cur everyday business activities and our culture,

Gavernance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
effective. The Audit Committee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Boord in the management of risk and has been delegated with autharity
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control processes during the year.

Cay-to-day risk management and contred is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that management provides leadership and direction 1o our workforce so that our everall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk
appetite.

Risk Management Framework
Bitta operates the ‘Three Lines Model' to manage the ongoing etfectiveness ot risk and centrol, to define the relaticnship between the
various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated.

The Internal Audit function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively. On a quarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key contfrols within their area of responsibility have been operating ettectively. The Internal Audit tunction independently validarte
these results through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Boord sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk appropriately across the Group. Health and
satety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our top priority Biffa dedicates signiticant resources and focus te managing and
moeniforing these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside this,

Managernent assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considered and agreed. The Group categorises these risks info varicus
areas, including: interest rate risk; inflation risk; commadity risk; currency risk; disposal risk and energy risk. This assessment includes the
exposures and the associated rnitigarions, This enables Biffa to have informed decision making in line with its risk appetite, ensures
confidence 1n the response to risks, enubles transparency over the principal risks faced and how these are managed.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management processes are centrolly coordinated via o second line risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in place to facilitate updates Ta risks during the year, The Risk Pariners are members of the senior
managemnent teom and toke ¢ lead role In engaging local management ta identify, agree and update risk information on a regular basis.

We use a risk assessment matrix 1o ensure thot all risks dre assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelhood of the rnisk
materichsing and its potential impact We assess both the inherent nisk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We aiso identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigore the risk.

The Group Executive Team enguages with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cyclical end-to-end
process. Risks are updated individually by CGroup Executive Team members in conjunction with the risk management function on a regular
basis prior to Group Executive Team meetings. The risks are then assessed and reviewed and then further updated as part of the cycle.
Ownership of each of these risks are assigned to ndividual members of the team. They are responsible tor ensuring the effectiveness ot
the internal control systems and for implementing risk mitigation plens. The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigations, as identified and evaluated by management through the above process. The Audit Committee also
reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit functien, which operates a risk-based annual plan of ussurance reviews.

Cur risk management sysfems are infended fo mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible, however we cannot elirminate ail risks
to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reascnable and not absolute assuronce against material misstaterment or
loss.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we have a horizon scanning review process 1o consider emerging risks, This entails involving key stakeholders,
including memibers of the Group Executive Team ond external third parties, in the identification of emerging risks along set timelines,
collating the information, reviewing and considering in-depth analysis and then creating a risk radar to llustrate the relative time horizons
and assessments.

This enables us to engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues and
cpportunities. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Biffa Topco Limited Board and the Audit Committee, and
include risks relating to future environmentai, social and governance challenges, funding the fransition to a greener environment,
technological changes and the use of alternative fuels,

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 21



Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk movement

Risk level

0 Increasing @ Stable

0 Decreasing Low

Modium High

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
regulatory
compliance

Risk movement and
tevel

o High risk level

Risk impact
Repiiational
Reqgulatory
Frmonciol

The Group operates m a highly
requlated industry ond any
rhanges to Government polcy,
regurements with, or failure by o
statf or third parties who we do
huisiness with 1o comply with iaws
or regulations or to uphald our high
ethical standards could bave an
adverse impact on the Group's
operations and results

The Group was awarded the
logistics contract for the Depaosit
Return Scheme (DRS)Y in Scotland.,
It hed originally been planned to
commence in August 2073 but this
heis heen cancelled Management
remain optinustic that Biffa con
seciire eguivalent DRS contracts at
a later dote

A key industry area of risk 15
leandfilk fax complhance,
prrticular the misclassificntion of
waste causing the incarract rote of
landfill tax to be paid Historically,
the Group has made o number of
material payments to HMRC due
tn what HMRC perceive to be non-
compliance with landfili tax
guidance

The current landfill 1ax enguiry to
arise poses a significont financial
risk to the business, given the scale
of the protective assessments
isaned by HMRC

There remeains a high level of
uneertainty around the finel
oufr ame of this enguiry

Experienced and qualified teams,
supported by external adwvisers
where necessary, that monitor
changes and plan appropriate
mitigations and set policies and
procedures

Representation on the
Environmental Services
Asgociation and other externel
tiodies, haison with pobey-meakers
and Regulators at national and
local levels, responses to
Government /regulatory
consultnhong and sustainabdity
raparting.

Environmental complionce strategy
in place including annually
reviewed targets and actions or

loc gl, divisional and Group levels,

Eslablished compliance policy and
procedures are in place to manage
other requlatory comphance nsks,
such as landndl tax, bribery, riata
protection. modern slavery,
competition and vehicle operating
licenc es.

Inclustry teader n raising
awdareness of modern slavery risk
and foumding member of the
Slavery Free Allonce

Trarning for staff an a range of
complicnce topics mcluding landtill
tax procedures, modern slavery,
anti-bribery, doato protection and
competiticn

The Group has mitigations in place
to recover some of the committed
expenditure incurred on DRS An
msurance policy 15 also in place to
reimburse the Group for some of
the casts not recovered through
the mitigating actions above

We are warking closely with stakeholders

1o mamntain our presence in the DRS

scheme structure and have retaned logal

advisors 1o suppont

We continue to fully co-operote with HMRC

n relation to the aongoing landfill tax

enquiry and are recewing advice from

Ernst & Young

Strdfegic/
competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Reputational
Reguirtory
Finiemnc el

Medium risk level

Mearket disrupion from the
apphcation of new technology and
the ndvent of new business models
could change the waste supply
rhein rind adversely mpact Biffo's
sctablished operating asset hase
of a nadmonal collection network
aned processing facilities

Internal business Tnnovation
Special Interest Group focuses on
market developments and acts as
an incubator for ideas and new
business models

Continual competitor analysis to
consider threats and changes to
the landscape

Annual strotegy review to ensure
that Biffa business moedel remams
current and competitive,

Ongoing investment in and
improvermnent of the customer
experience through digifisation,
improved processes and
managemsnt informatian

The business QT}E(J_\T\;‘_(N vipcated and

appraved by the aoard ahgned with the

5YF

The Tnnovation Special Taterest Groun
continyed with good representation from
the husiness and covening o large numner

of disriptive topics

Adoptien of the My Biffa digiral customer

platfarm hos continued alongside the

establishment of o dedicated digital tram

A pumber of external events were attencded

and projects with key par thers,

implemented to extend our innovehion

network

Biffa Limited / Annuol Report and Accounts 2023

22



Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Financial
Cperational

High risk level

Fallure 10 deliver strategic
inmigtives, such as energy recovery
facilities and business
transtormanon, acguisition
integranions, commercial projects
and system implementations
Business fransformation is focused
on our products and services, how
they are sold and delivered, the
technology used and the online
services offered To customers

The key M&A risks are not being
able to find and secure surtable
fargets and rnisks and 1ssues thot
dtlse post completion, that impact
on the investment case.

As with uny such projects, there
are risks that the project fails 1o
deliver the anticipated
improvements and/or benefits for
the budgeted investmient,
adversely impacting reputation
and operating results

Bouard and Group Execulive Team
sponsorship and leadership.

Selected sottware 15 d proven ‘oft the
shelf' product

Dedicated prograrnme team ond
chunge network in place, with
experienced resources

Post-nvestiment reviews of all
Broecrs,

Proven ERF technology, with
substantial UK and wotldwide
reference plants

Limited recourse project structure

Due diligence undertaken for all M&A
transactions, including use of
external advisers depending on
Turget value ond cormplexity, A
stundardised approach using an
established valuation model 15 n
pluce with all Transaction

reviewed /approved by the
Investment Committee und (where
appropriote) the Board.

Dedicated corporate tinance
expertise in place, who together with
experienced Bifto subbject matter
expeits act as senior sTakeholders
for rhe goquisition process and help
drive opportunities through the
pipeline.

The HR and payrolt solution has been buiit
and completed funchional testing and will
be ready 1o mplement in the coming
tinancial year tollowing extensive testing

The Finance and Procurement Analysis and
Design phuse was completed and signed
oft enabling the bulld ot the solufion fo
cammence and the nmeline ond budget for
the solution to be refined

The Sales and Service wotkstreaim wos
mokilised and has now entered an nihal
discovery phase.

At the year end date Newhurst remained on
Target fo reach full operations inline with
plan. The site became fully operational in
May 2025 and is perfurming in line with
expecrarions.

Protos canstruction has been impacted by
the avallabibty of steel tollowing the
Russian imvasion of Ukraing - mrihigahion
and contingency measures employed,

JV Steerco meetings held monthly tu review
progress and agree actions

Completed 3 ucqguisitions n the year, Forge
(I&C, share purchase), DJB {(I&C, mude and
assely) and Toral Recychng Services
{Industrial Services, share purchase)

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Financial
Reputational
Operancnal

Medium risk level

The Group 1s exposed fo risks
nherent in leng-term fixed-price
contiacts, In particular inits
Municipat business and Resources
& Energy division and refated
operations

Risks Include inaccurate fong-term
cost estimates due 16 changes in
the external operating environment
and market dynamics that lead to
matenal deviations from imitial
underlying assumprions

Group Delegated Authorihies Policy
tor the review/approval of ids by
semor management, Investment
Cummittee and the Bearad.

Material bids are compiled by
dedicated development Teams with
significant expertise and experience.

Pratection from chenge of law or
force majeure for unforeseen
circumstances s agreed in ConTracts,
where possible

A confract sk framework s in place
to identify key commercial/legal
risks and confirm through the
governance process that these have
been considered and miligaled

we are maoving gradually the risk protile
with customers (particularty around labour)
as and when contracts come up tor re-tad
or extension A miore Iransparent pass-
through concept 1s starting 1o emerge
although s wiil olvioushy fake lime to
beconie tully embedded.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & safety

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Reputanone
Reguilotonry

Medium risk level

Business
continuity, cyber
security and IT
resilience

Risk movement and
levet

<

Risk impact
Finemneinl
Roputatonal
Operational

High risk level

Biffa’s operations present inherent
H&S risks to our emplovees, our
custonmers and the wider puiblic

Violations of HE&ES lows frequiations
could have a materal adverse
affect on Biffa's business and
repation

Group H&S Diractor reports to the
CEO

Active and regular engogement by

senior menagement including weekly

reporting and calls vath the Group
Executve Team

Inclusion of H&S targets and
objectives within Group Bolanced
Business Plans with one of the five
pillars being 'Safer Together

Embedded policies, standards and
procedures in place across Biffa for
the systemuatic control of sigrificont
HE&S riske

Primary authority relationship with
Hampshire & Tsle of Wight Fire and
Rescle Service enables aceess to

rdvic e and «caunsel on fire risk 18s1es,

Martained managament system
cartification of TSO 45001 2018

A EI(;I;”‘H_GFIT disruption to Biffa's

infrastructure, including 1T
systemns, could potentially hove an
impaet on the activity of the
Group's customers, such as
ncreqased billing times,
mterruptions o collectinn
operations and pracessing
loaustics, and additional costs

Addibonally, the theft, loss,
destrichion, misappropriation, or
release of sensitive andyor
confidential information coued
result 1IN blisiness disrlption, data
protection breach, negative
pubheity or brand damage

Crisis management and emergency

respanse pians in place for key sies
and operations

server nfrostrocrure scpportng key
1T services hosted in Microsoft Azure

Clove! providing resihence faillover
and backup ~ervices

150 27001 ond Cyber Essentials Plus

certification in place

Intrusion detection in place and a
cloud-based 'always on’ security
service provided by Microsoft

profectmg against key cyber threars

Estabhshed data protection poliry
and procedires 1o ensure
complianee.

Investment in EcoOnline for incident
management, audit & inspection, and rsk
management.

Company-wide ndnption of TOPKET
methodology for incident investigations
generahng increasingly useful root cause
antlysis

Full review of all fire risk ossesarments for
every property in the Bitfa porttolio

Restructured HaS leadership bearm with
crhoncer assironce and proyect
management focns

Introduction of Deep Dive assurance \
reviews lookmg at key nsk (Rire, Morhineary
and Pededtrian cafety in Fy235)

Development of sute of flearning from
ncidents’ materials ineluding new Group
standard and video 'lessons’ shaning
learning from key incidents

New proresses for collertion point nisk
assesaments frw [&C 1o minimss risks
drivers and customer s

Fxtansive development programme tor HES
teant mcluding [TRSM Risk Monaasment
and NEBOSH Process Safery ,

Regular 1T security update piovided 1o the
honred

IT secority doshboatd developed ond in
place

A number of IT secunty traiming ond
inferventions delivered

Some additional securty medsiires angd
features implemented for koord and
executive menpe s

Miciosoft Secure score impover by 270,

Transition te more comprehensive Mt
Fartor Avthenticohion

" Attraction and
retention of talent

Risk movement and
level

S

Risk impact
Fioncial
Operanang)

Medium risk level

The nahility *o source ond retain
appropricitely priced and skied
lobouwr to Maintaim competitive
advantage, could have a matenal
arverce effect on Biffo's business
results, aperations, fnancial
candition and prospects

Ongoing review of the recriitment

and retention of key warkers such as

drivers

Benefits apprapriate and
rompdarable to market

Talent and manggemeant

development progrommes deployed

af semior levels and progressively o
ather levels going forwerd

Foundation Living Woge now numimuam poy
level 1n Biffa (excluding CSG)

Driver atirihion has reduced wo pre
pandemic levels, recrintment process
improved utiising internal recrutment team
for drivers

Inb famihes immplementerd far staff roles
ana pay adiustments mndde to ensare
comparable to metke!.

Family friondly benefits inp oved,

Grociate progranane infrodiced

Aruanced Lendership Progromme 1AL
conbnues
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact

Medium risk leved

Biffu produces significant volurmes
of recyclked commodities for resale
Comimodities produced inctude
various paper grades, card,
plastics, and ferrous and non-
ferrous metals

In addimon, Bitta generates power
trom renewable scurces and
changes 1o electricity export prices
impact revenues and piohts
achieved.

Ongoing matitoring and
ymprovements to product quality
within recycling processes.

Oft-taker strategy to limit
dependency, where able, on non-
OECD markets

Commadity price risk sharing within
long term commercial contracts

Puwer price hedging policy n place,
which 1s regularly reviewed.

OCC sules in particular moved to OECD
markets with Turkey now o migjor of f-tfaker

we hoave continued our progress with 75%
ot LA contracts now on cormmodity risk
share.

Power hedging I1s reviewed monthly by The
Energy wolang Group.

PPAs 1 pluce for power supply up to ena of
FY26

Finaneial tMarkets for these recyclate Route to market Power Purchase
Operational products have individual supply Agreement with top ter oft-taker
and demand dynamics impacting gives otfrake certainty and credit
both price and avallabdity of off- worthiness.
tuke
Finance If the Gioup were 1o not maintain Siynificant and flexible bank funding The Company’s debt was purtially
R s adequate cash balances, the tacility with substantial headroom to restructured when ECP’s takcover was
OVGlldblllf\// Group would be uncble 1o pay enuble the Group to progress completed. With regards to tiexible
investment supplers, payroll and other strategic priorities and tacilities, the existing £350m RCF held oy

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial

Low risk level

credifors ina nmely manner or on
agreed terms This could result in
delays or ceasing of operohons,
both ot which could lead 1o
reputational darmage and a
deterioration i financiat
performance.

[f the Group were fo fall to comply
with any ol the lingneial or non-
tinancral covenants in its credit
tacibties (due, for exomple, to
ncreasing interest rates and a
deterioranion in financial
pertormance), it could result ina
default and the acceleration of the
Group's obligations ta repay those
borrowings, increased borrowing
casts or cancellation of certamn
credit facllities

Underperformance, a large one-ott
cash vutflow or untavourable
terest rate movements would all
increase the risk of a covenam
breach

accommedate any downside
perfarmance risk As at the end of
the year, the Group held ¢ cash
balance of £40 8m

£225m revolving credit facility ('RCF")
expining in March 2026 held by 1he
Company's immediate parent As at
the end of the year, £102m of the
facility was undrawn. Drawdowns can
be requested and processed at short
notice If the need arises.

In addition 1o the bank tunding
tacility, the Group has over £50m of
undrown asset financng tucilities,
although these are uncommitted

Ongoing moniforing of tinancial and
nen-finuncial covenants with regular
updates to the Board.

Incorporate cash perfurmance and
funding reguirement conwderanions
1o budgeting and torecashng
processes.

Consider the impaoct on covenants
when making key strafegic decisions
on acquisitions, disposals and caprtal
expendifure.

Ongoing monitoring of the status of
the HMRC landtif tax enguiry with
regular updates 10 the Bitta Topco
Limited Board

The Group hos signihicant headroom
on the lending covenants and irtends
to mawitain high levels of headroom
guing torword. This, combined with
the flexibility in the business model,
enables the Group To mitigate any
financial nisks that materialise

the Company was reploced with g £225m
RCF held by s immediate parent, On 23
May 2023 the tacility was increased again
to £525m Refer to Note 23 and Note 34 for
more information on the wider debt
restructure

Ihoreosed debt levels and rising inferest
rates huve teduced the headroom an the
Group's lending covenants, parficularly
interest Lover
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Principal risks and uncertfainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement and
level

; Hegh risk level

Risk impact
Finoneial

Economic conditions in the UK
may have an odverse impact on
the Group's operctional ond
financial performance

The Group expo<ura inchides

= Politicol, sozial and
macroeconomic risks relating o
the UK's exit from the EU

= Any fronormic weakness fhat
lecids 1o reduced volumes of waste
and recyclote,

= Adetcrioration in
macroeconomic conditions
resulting m incregsed pricing
pressure anc customer furnover
* Rising Interest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrowing,
teducing the headroom on the
Group's lending covenants,
particularly interest cover

= Suppfy chain disriaphion, ionger
leged times aned price mflotion,

The Group has revenues and costs
that are impacted by the volue of
sterling relative to key currencies
surh as the WS Dollar or the Eura
This provides same degree of offset
and natural hedge.

To improve short-term earnings
visibility and reduce the suscephibility
af fingnciol performance 1o price
fluctuations, the Group enters inio
forward contracts for:

« The sale of eleciricity
» Short-term cuirrency exposiures
+ The purchase of fuel

Biffa provides services 1o customers
in the public and private sectars night
across the UK acanomy The breadth
of customers offers a degree of
protection agoinst economic
pressures thot may affect specric
markets and industries.

The Group hos access to a Revolving
Credit Facihty with a number of
relationship banks which provides
additional saurces of funding. Cash
and hguidity Invels are regulorly
moenitared 10 ensure the Group can
meet its obligations and strategic
objectives

The Group continues to monitor thys risk,
specifically the impact of increasing
mterest rates, inflahionary pressures and
supply chain constraints, and remains
confident that existing mitigahans enable
the iImpact of any weakering conditians 10
be minirused
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Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financial Reporting Requirements set out in the Act are addressed in the statement below.

Main policies and standards which govern our approach

Environmental information
Environment, sustainability and carbon policy

Pratection of the environment and the climate 15 ¢ comerstane of
Bifta's business. It 15 underpinned by cur Vision and Purpose to be
the leader in UK sustainable waste management and to change the
way peaple think about waste. It is delivered by our sustainability
and uperaticnal environmental comphance strategies. Biffa is .
commifred toaits compliagnce cbligations as well as promoting high
stondards of enviroaimentdl, sustainability, carbon and energy
management at all our werkplaces, and ik all our activities

»  Colleagues
»  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a long-establishied whistleblowing policy by which all .
employees may, in contidence, report any concerns that the interests
ot the Company or others aie af risk.

«  Diversity and inclusion policy

Our Diversity Policy is designed tu provide equal opportunities in .
empleyment and ro avold unlawful discrimination.

Biffa will not discriminate directly or indirectly in our recruitment,
employment and post-empluyment practices because of oge, .
disubility, sex, gender reassigniment, pregnancy, mafernity, race

(whuch includes colour, nulivnahly and erhnic or national origins),

sexual crientation, religion or belief, or because someane 1s marred

or i a cwil partnership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safety and wellbeng is the highest prionty within the .
business and Biffa 1s committed to manitoring and reviewing
performance on a regular and ongoing basis Cur goal 1s fo
keep our people, our customers and the public safe through
effective leadership and risk management, promoting high -
standards of health, safety & wellbeing in the workplace and in
all our activities

. Social matters

»  Sustainable procurement policy

. Biffa is a significant purchaser of goods and serwvices. This .
requires us 10 ensure our procurement practices are not only
responsible, but also enviconmentally, economically, and
erthically sound.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Responsibility for environmental compliance si1s with the Boaid.
Our Envirgnmental, Sustamobility and H&S teams work tagether
across the business ensuring we meet our comphance obligations
by menitoning, evaluating. audming. coaching and training.

We report on our progress against our sustainability strategy
targets annually in our Sustainability Report

All whistleblowing reports are enfered in the Group Whistleblowing
Register and are thoroughly invesngated

The output of an investigation 1s ypically reviewed by the Group
HR Director, General Counsel and Company Secrefary and other
senior leaders as appreopriate, dependent on the nature of the
complaint.

The Audit Commitree maonitors the Group's whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every emplayee is required to assist us to meet our commitment to
provide equal opportunimies in employment and avold uniawful
discrimination.

we have manager guidelines for diversity, helping them ro consider
diversity /fequal opportunity cbligotinns Manogers are ulse adwvised
to make reasonable adjustments o our standard working prachices
to overcorne barriers caused by disability and we have a Flexible
working Policy In place o support requests tor varianons 1o
standard werking practices,

Employees are expected 1o report and discuss bealth, safety and
wellbeing matters with ther managers, and Groug Health & Sofety
business partners who will offer or abtain further expert advice,
where necessary.

Employees are encouraged to contribute good ideas and
improvements and reporT any shortfalls so management can make
informed decisions and improve standards across the business

we menitor performance through our LTI rate and have a farget in
ploce 1o reduce lost time injuties by 50% by 2030 from our 2019
baselne.

Biffa works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externally 10 order 1o share best practice, identity new
opportunities and deliver programmes that premaote our ams for
sustaingble procurement.

Performance is monitored and recorded, and key performance
meastres such as carbon emissions reductions are regularly
reparted.
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Social matters continued

Suppliers - social responsibility and ethical standards

Our suppliers of goods and services must comply with ali relevant .
legislahion and internationgl standords including troding policy, child

and frrced labour, health and safety of workers, non-discrimination,
emplayment law, human rights, hribery and corruption. We procure .
under the Cade of Ethics of the Chartered Institute of Purchasing

et Supply.

*»  Corporate responsibility policy

Qur corporate responsibility framework encompasses otr people, .
health, safety & wellbeing, communities, the environment,

marketplace, relationships with stakeholders and commitment fo
business ethics and conduct. «

Employee volunteering policy and procedure

Riffa recognises that facititating the voluntary involvement of our .
smployees in community-based projects can result in a range of

positive autcomes

Bifta will grant one doy's poid leove per onpum, inline with an .
employee’s contracted hours, to eligible employees to get mvolved in
team voluntesring opportunities within our locol cammunifies and
environmental-based projects

«  Human rights

¢«  Maoadern slavery and human trafficking policy

The policy sets out the meastires, systems and procedures which .
Biffer ernploys to mineise the apportunity for madern slavery aned
buman trafficlang taking place within the Group and within our

sty chiain

. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

+  Anti-bribery and gifts and hospitality policies

Cur policies set aut the standards that are expected of anyone .
working at Riffa, and third parties working with Biffa. They include

the requirements an qiving and receiving business qift= and

hospitality .

we have a soaal responsibility to our supplers When problems
arise with o supplier's performmnee, we work with the compony
concerned 1o help them to meet reguirements.

/e will be fafr and lowful i our dealings but avord ony conduct
which could be counteractive to our corporate sacial responsibility
and ethical standards, We reserve the right to discontinue busmess
with suppliers who do not comply with our reauirements in this
areaq.

Qur standard trading terms with suppliers are 40 days This hos
bren the policy since May 2008 and is apphcable to ail existing and .
new suppbers alike

we are committed 1o complying with our permirs as well as
promoting high standards on all of our sites, premises, and n all of
our activities.

Our Grovp Executive Team is responsible for the delivery of the
policy at a business level, with aversight and direction from the
Bitfo Topen Limited Board 15 success is meosured through our
sustamability KPTs, which track our performance across three key
arcas (buikding « circular economy, trackhng cimate change and
caring for our people, supporting our communities), enobling us to
deliver against our responsible business objertives

Managers are responsible for assessing local operctional needs
and proposed volunteering activity, taking into nccount the
benefits to both the employer and o Biffa

Managers will also consider personal develppment and where
appropriate, volunteernng meay be otfered as one of the methods ot
meeting development neads,

Biffa conducts risk assessments across its octivifies and supply
chdin i arder fo identify any darea of its aperations that might
represent mgher potential risks far slavery or human trafficking to
fotoleltly

Biffo works with speaific recruitment agencies and labour
resourcing partners who are equally committed to ensunng the
work environment 1s free of slavery and human trafficking

All Biffa colleagues and managed servica providers have regulanr
meetings with onsite accoumt managers where we discuss their
actions regarding the prevention of modern slovery 1t is a standing
item on monthly business meeting agendas and quarterly business
reviews Labour providers also give biweekly updates onany
activity of concern.

Wwe produce an annual modern slavery statement, which the Riffa
Topco Limited Board reviews and approves.

Brffo enforces a strct prohibition against the gy, recenng,
offer, acceptance, payment or authorisation at any brives. and also
agamsi any other farm of corruption.

Wwe also demand fransparency and integrity in all sur business
dealings, to avoid any improper advantage, or the appearance of
questionable conduct by our ermployees or third parties with whaom
we do business

Any instances of potential or octual non-compliance with these
policies are fully investigated and reported to the Audit Committes
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report und the consolidated financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023

This Directors’ Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Compuany in compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (‘the
Act’).

Directors
The Directors who served during fhe period and up 1o the date of signing were:

M Topham

S Parsons (appointed on 31 March 2023)
R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023)

C Chesney (resigned on 26 Jonuary 2023)
K Lever (resigned on 26 January 2023)

D Martin (resigned on 26 Jonuary 2023)
C Miles (resigned on 26 Janucry 2023)

L Morant (resigned on 26 January 2023)

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropnately indeminified subject to
the provisions of the Act. In addition, the Group maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Netther the Cormpany’s
indemnity nor insurance covers claims arising from dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches outside the UK.
Company Registration

Bifta Lirmited is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated i England and Wales with company number 10336040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 312,

Engogement with employees
The Company puts employee engagement at the heart of its people strategy and plons, as detailed in the Strategic Report
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes and akilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every eftort 1s made 1o ensure that their employment with the Company
continues and that appropriate training is arronged. Tt s the policy of the Company that the fraining, career development ond promaotion
of disabled persons should, os tar as possible, be identical with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022 6 89p).
External Auditor

So tar as each Directar 1s aware, there is no relevant information of which the external auditor {Delgitte LLPY 1s unaware. Each Director has
token all steps that ought to hove been 1aken as a Director to moke themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that Deloitte LLF are aware of that information,

The guditors, Deloitte LLP, will be proposed for regppointnient in accordance with section 485 of the Act,
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhouse gas ( GHG') Emissions and Energy Use Data, Energy Consurmption in the UK and Energy Generation
data within Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. market risk {including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and hiquidity risk The Group’s averall risk management pregramimes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse etfects on the Group's financial performance. Financaial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Post Bolance Sheet Events

Tn April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capital of Esterform
Packaging | imited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Enerqy division.

A restructure of The Group's debt became effecrive on 23 May 2023, with the following changes:

Term ioans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 1o £.235m
Roliing credit facility increased from £225m on 31 March 2023 to £325m
Private placements decrensed from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

O 7 Jure 2023 the Scoftish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it
wotlld be delayed until October 2025 at the earliest, An announcement had been made previously on 18 Apni 2023 that the start date of
the scheme would ke delayed from August 2023 ta March 2024, Circularity Scotland Limited ("CSLY), the scheme administrator, entered
admimstration an 20 June 2023 as 115 funding wos withdrawn ond was therefore unable fo meet jts contractual obligations o Bitfa and
other parties, The Jont Administrators’ Proposols were teleosed on 78 July 2023, indicating thot at best Biffa would receive an
immaterial porton of the totel amount due from CsL.

In Moy and June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shoreholders ond ex-monagement in relotion ta the EVP dispute disclosed 1
Note 29 At 31 March 2023 the total ligbility was €17 8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected to be poid in the year ending 28 March 2025,

Refer to Note 34 to the financial statements for mare information.
Looking to the future

we have o well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us continue to grow fhe business over the coming years The
foundations are in place 1o enable us to do so, whilst retaining the balance between changing the way peaple think about waste,
sustainabiity ond delivering strong financial performance. The UK Government’s amintion to move to a circular economy 1s also expected
10 provide further opportunities to support cur growth,

O behalf of the Board,
M,L}'t‘\[f» -

Michdel Topham

Direciar

Biffa Limited

Registered in England and wales No 10336040
11 Seprember 2073

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 30



Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law reguires the Directors 1o prepare financial staternents for each financial year. Under that taw, the Directors are required to
prepare the Group financial staterments in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the reguirements ot the
Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) The financial statements dlso comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the IASB and as adopted by the UK.

The Directars have also chosen 10 prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and farr view of the state of affairs of the Group end Company and of their profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statemoents, the Directors are required to:

+  Select suitable accounting poilicies and then apply ther consistently.

+  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabte and prudent.

+  State whether the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any material
deportures disclosed and expluined in the financial staterments.

. Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate fo presume that the Company will contfinue in
business.

« Inpreparing the Group tinancial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

«  Properly select and apply accounting palicies.

. Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides retevant, reliable, comporabie and understandable
information.

+  Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient to enable users 10
understand the impact of particular fransactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

= Make an assessment of the Company’s ability 1o continue as ¢ going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and Company’s
fransactions and disclose with reasanable accuracy ar any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to
ensure that their financial statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible tor safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corparate and financial information included on the Company’s
website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation ond dissemination of financial statements may difter from
legisiation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

I oty opinion

. the financiol stotements of Ritfa Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group™ give o true and fair view of the stote

of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31/03/2023 and of the group’s lass for the year then ended;

. the group fingneia) stotements hove been properly prepored in accordonce with United Kingdoem adopted international accaunting
standards ond International Finanoial Reporting Standards (IFRSS) s issued by the Internationgl Accounting Standards Board
(1ASBY:

. the parent company fincncial statements have peen propetly prepared in accordohce with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accountng Prachice, imcluding Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framewark™: and

. the financial staterments have been prepared ih accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

«  We have audited the financial staterments which comprise:

- the consolidated income statement;

» the consolidoted statement of comprebensive Income;

- the consohdared and parent compony statement of financial position,
. the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in eguity,
. the consohdated statement of cash flows; and

- the related notes 1 1o 34

The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable kaw, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparanion of the parent company finaoncial siatements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accouniing Standarcds,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disciosure Framework” (United Kingdem Generally Accepted Accounting Practice),

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditer's responsibilities for the audit of the financial staterments sechon of car report

we are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our oudit of the

financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the 'FRC'S”) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other .
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obstained is sufficient and

appropricte to provide a bosis for our opinion

Conclusions relating to going cencern

In aditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial stoatements is approprigte,

Our evatuation of the diractars’ assessment of the group’s and parenit company’s ability to continue fo adaopt the going concern basis of
accounting included

. held discussions with mandggement to understand the Group’s process in respect of its going concern assessment,

. reviewesd the reasonableness of assumptions applied by managemant in preparing 18 FY24 budget and 5-year plan;

. performed an analysis on the Group's results against budget to assess historical accurocy;

« assessed the level of headroom awailable to the Group from its loan facilities and evaluated the risk of breaching covenanis,

. chollenged manaigement's reasonable worst-tase analysis and whether it iz appropriately plousible but severe, and performed
sensitivity analysis on key varniables;

. assessed the appropriateness of considerations and assumptions regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill tax enquiry and the
Group's ghility te settle o potential hability in the going concern penod:

«  evaluafed the additional external funding facilities accessible fo the Group;
. obtaimed and performed analysis on post year end results and benchmarked this agamst management’s forecasts;
. assessed the disclosure i Note 1 to the finoncial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate ta adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preporing the financial statements, and
. assessed the going concernaimpact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Note 34,
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties releting to events or conditrons that, individuclly
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company's ability 1o continue as a going cencern for a period of at
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Gur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect 1o going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
repart.

Other information

The other intormation comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon The directors are responsible tor the other information contained within the annuat report Gur opinien on the financial
statements does not cover the other mformation and, except 1o the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we da not express uny
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other infermation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materialty incensistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained n the course of the audit, or otherwise appears 1o be materalty risstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatemnents, we are required fo determine whether this gives rise to a
material misstaterment in the financial statements themselves. Lf, bosed on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 1s a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directars are responsible for the preparation of the financial
staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such infernal contro! as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent compaony’s abllity to confinue
as a geing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no reclistic alfernative but o do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the finonciof statements

Our objectives are fo abtam reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as o whole are free from matenal
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect o material
misstatement when it exists. Misstaterments can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal it, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the econoric decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the qudit of the financial statements is located on the FRC'S website at
www.frc.org.uk /auditorsresponsibilities. This descripricn forms part of our auditor’s repert.

Extent to which the oudit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, To detect material misstatements in respect of irregulanties, including fraud. The extent 1o which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 1s detailed below.

we considered the nature of the group’s industry and 1ts control environment, and reviewed the group’s decumentation of their policies
and procedures relating to fraud and complionce with laws and regulations. We olso enquired of management, internal audit, those
charged with Governance and the directors about their awn identification and ¢ssessment of the risks of irregularitics, including those thar
are specific to the group's business sector

we obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and
regulations that

e had a direct effect on the determination of matenal amounts dand disclosures in the finencial statements. These included UK
Companies Act, pensions legislation and tax legslation in all refevant jurisdictions where the Group operates, and

« donot have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability 1o
operate or fo avoid a material penalty. These included the landfill tax regulations and the Environment Act 2021

we discussed among the audit engagement ream including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions, IT and valuation specialists
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation tor traud ond how and where fraud might occur in the
financial stutements.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 33



Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures pertormed to
address them are described below:

. Impairment of Company Shap Group Goodwill. We considered the reasonableness of the model (drawing on input from specialists 0
FY22 gs the model was unchanged), invalved valuation specialists in defermining reasonable ranges for discount rate ancl long term
growth rate, evaluated revenue growth and gross morgin, as well as assessing the relevant disclosures in Notes 1 & 9;

- Completeness of Municipal Onercus contracts: we obtained an understanding of relevant controls 1n place to identify contracts which
mory be onerous ond determine whether the potentiol linkibity is oppropriately accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements,
we alsa assessed the contract 1erms for contracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions arsund inflation & wages, and
analysed torecast future perfarmance against historical contract results, and where appropriate, bridged any expected improvement
in performonce to specific one-off events in the year and considered whether they would reoccur. Finally, we assessed the disclosures
in Note 18 to evaluote whether 111s in accorddance with the requirements of TAS 37 “Provisions. Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent
Asgsets”

K Landfill Accounting: We pinpointed the fraud risk to certain gross cost estimates on higher nsk sites, therefore our response focused
ob gssesming and chalienging the underlying data and key judgements used in determining the provision. Specific considerations were
paid 1o long-term energy prices, included as part of our assessiment of gross cost estimates for higher risk sites. Furthermaore, we
performed an assessment of the renschableness of the gross cost estimates used by management, by performing a retraspective
review of the costs incurred in comparison o those originally estimated.

. HMRC lemdfill tax inquiry: we obtained an understanding of the assumptions and the estimation process for tax provisioning. we
engaged internal forensic specialists to avaluate the scope and findings of the Group’s internal analysis which was itsell supported by
legal and forensic adwvisers We also involved internal Tox specialists in understanding the requirements of LFTL, the application by the
Group, analogous leaal precedent and potential exposure. We assessed the competence, capobilities and cbiectivity of the legal and
forensic ardvisers used in the Groug’s investigation,

For cormpletenass, we reviewed carrespondence between the Group, HMRC and the Graup's external leqat advisers and obtained direct
correspondence from and made direct inquities of the Group's external legol adviser with regard 10 the status of claims ro datre and their
views, when making direct inquiries of HMRC, we sought to understand the status of their investigation and to corroborate areas of inguiry
as the mvestigation progresses Additionally, we brought additional resource onto the team, mcluding at partner ond director level, who
supported in challenging the findings arising from the Group's investigahon, in particular 1n relation to the complereness ond occuracy of
provisions and contingent liahilities ansing from the Group's internol anclysts. We evaiuated the completeness of the provisions and
contingent iabitities through review of board minutes and baard corresponderice, internal audit reports and other supparting aitd
contradictory evidence. Lastly, we clso challenged the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the financial statements relating to
the investigation and challenged monagement and the directors on the impact on the completeness of their going concern assessment
and disclosure relating to this maotter,

In commaon with ail audits under [SAs (UKY, we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond 1o the risk of management
override, In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries and
other adjustments; ossessed whether the judgements made in making caccounting estimates are indicative of o potential bias, and
evaluoted the husiness rationale of any sigmificant trahsachions that are unusual or cutside the normai course of business

n addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified mcluderd the following:

. revicwing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of rejevant
lows and reguiations described as having a direct effect on the financiol statements,

. performing andlytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due 1o froud;

¢ enquiring of management. internal audit and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and cloims, and
snstonees of non complionce with laws and regulahons; and

= reqading mnutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertoken in the course of the audir:
- the information given in the shategic report and the directors” report for the financial year for which the financial statements are

prepared 15 consistent with the financial staterments; and

- the strategic report and Yhe directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with opplicable fegal requirements,

In the hight of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their envacnment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identitied any material misstatements in the sirategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

» adeqguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, of returns odequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agieement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

s« we hove not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

we have nothing to report In respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as @ body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, Our
audit work bas been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required 1o state to them inan
auditor’s report and for no uther purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by low, we do not accept or assume responsibility 1o anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as & body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by,

ZPAFADLEIHEBA 1A

Peter Gallimore, FCA (Seniot statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutery Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 september 2023
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

-

Continuing operotjons
Revenue

Cost of sales

__Opemring costs

Impairments

Operating profit / {loss)

Finance income

Finance costs

Share of results in jont ventures ond associates

Loss before toxation

Taxation

Loss for the period

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

7T TNotes | s3weeksended | 52 weeks ended |
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
16804 | 14432 ]
T w54 | (1,351 5) |
- Y T 9l7 |
(90.0 (75 n)4
R T s |
6.7 | EER
- T ey Y
@S s |
!l T au]
0 B RN
TTas | T e
aen a7y |
ae7 (1763

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

Notes

53 weeks ended
31 March 2023

‘Loss for the period

Other comprehensive income

Actuaral (i6se) / Emun on definad benefit pension scheme

mi[relming 10 1ems that will not be reclassifed subseguently to profit or loss

Goin on fair value of cash flow hedges:

Foir value {loss) / gain arising on hedgmg instruments

" rax r'@f{jﬁ\}; 1o rtemis fiaf :ﬁﬂy be ;eriussif[ﬂd??ﬁ%é&ﬁpf?h?@ profit or (055

Net goam on cash flow heddges injomt ventures and associgtes (net of tax)

h?hm7romy§mher\siv€ (Joss) £ inrome for the period, net of ncome rax

52 weeks ended
25 March 2022

Tatal comprehensive (loss) / income for the period

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Mon-current assets
Goodwilt 9 2918 264.3
Investments in Joint ventures and associates T Tos 61.9 T 294
Ommer infang bie assels 10 206.6 2629 |
Property, plant and eguipment 11 654.6 6172
Long-term receivables 13 2.5 73
Loans 1o joint ventures 16 20.2 14.3
Derivative financial instruments 16 0.9 7/
Refirement benefit surplus 25 951 | 1661
1,333.6 13242
Current assets
| Trvenrories 12 T Tazs | he7
Conhact dysets 14 62.5 /1.8
Trade and other receivables 13 2179 20/6
Financial assers 16 B 14.4 163 |
Derivative financaial instruments 16 - 40 |
Cash and cash equivalents 15 413 4().5_‘
) - 379.6 3517
Current lighilities
lease liabimes 74 (55.1) (538) |
" Borrowings 16 (351.3) T
Trade and wther poyables 17 (349.2) (340.7)
Deferred and contingent cansideranon 16 {3.1) (4.
Contract liabilmes ’ - 14 T T | (ZAL
Decvative tinancial instruments 16 {0.4) (0.2)
Provisions 18 (20.0) (20.3)
T (807.0) (445.3) ]
Net current liabilities (427.4) (70 &)
Non-current {iabilities
Borrowings 16 - (81.5) (568.3)
Lease liabilites 24 (228.4) (2225%)
Trade and other poyables 17 (5.6) (bb)"
" Deferred consideration 16| (2.8) T T Goy
Provisiots 18 {164.5) (137 F
Deterred 1ax bty 19 (12.4) (32‘57
495.2) | (770.3)
Net assets 411.0 485?
21 ]
Equity
Called up share capital 31 3
Share premium 2522 24/ 6
Hedging reserve 21.2 99 |
Merger reserve 170.3 1705
Retained earaings 22 (35.8) 594 |
Total equity attributable to shareholders 411.0 4853]

The fincncial stotements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on 11

behalf by:

e

Michael Topham
Lirector

Lot

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 37



Consolidoted Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up Share Hedging T Merger Retained Total
share premium reserve reserve earnings equity
capital | (Note21) | (Note21) | (Note21) | (Note22) £m
(Note 21) £m £m £m £m
' £m
| Asatzemorcnzozs o Jr Bl 24701  ed)| 1703 439
| L ess for the period - [— -1 - - L_ 1176)
| Other comprehensive income. —[ - - 63 _—_r_R 337
Total comprehensive income for the period __“_1__7___ ot A -t 183 I R L-X 1
Exercise of share options - 0.6 - - R
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust -1 - - o __G3y
Value of employee scevica in respect of sliare option - 27
schemes (excluchng NICs) o :7|r - .
e
| DvdendspodNote 33, -y o=l L ey
As gt 25 Mgrch 2022 b Ba ) 276y 0 99 0 1703 ) 00 524 |
Lossforthepenod 0 | - - - : (o7
|_Other comprehensive income / (loss) N - 1.3 - (6193 (508
|_Total comprehensive income / (Joss) for the period | - - s T gee ] (613
_Fxerrise of shore options B - 4.6 - - - 4.6
Shares purchinsed by employee benefits trust - - - - 1% [5))
Yaiue of employee scrvice i respect of share ophon ] - 62 6.2
~chemes (excluding NI1Cs) - -
| Dwvidends por (Note 53 e 4_ S Y RN DY
| As ot 31 Mareh 2023 2522 212 1703 | (35.8) | 11.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

52 weeks ended

Notes 53 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Caosh flows from operating activities
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 {8.3)
Share-based payments 20 4.7 3.7
Amorhisation of infengitles 10 29.3% 30.7
Deprecianion of proper ty, plant ond eguipment 11 1080 549
[Impairment of assets 9,11 9.1 250
Profit on disposal of fixed assety 4 (2.3) (62
EVP related items __ - 208 |
Pension deficit payments (8.6) (4.2)
Increase in inventories 18.%) (12.2)
Decrease / (Increase) i receivables . . BB (72.7)
(Decrease) / Incredse lgc-:yub!e:. 4.1 628
Decrease / (Increase) in finonciol assets 0.9 (3.4)
(Decredse) / iNCredse in provisions 231 13.7
Net cash from operating activities 166.7 144.6
Income tax received / (paid) 04 (0.3)
Net cash flows from operating activities 167.1 1443
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property. plant and equipment )] (67.2)
Purchases of intangible assets [¢F) (21
Funds on long-rerm deposit (0 2) -
| Business comainations a8 37y (135.8)
Cash acquired from business combinations ] 43 14.2
Deferred constderation (3.6) (L2
Investment in oint ventures and associates (117 (1/749)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and eguipment 5.2 6.9
Loan 10 joint veniure ’ (4 6) (15)
Interest received 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (128.6) 2102) |
Cash flows from financing activities ]
Interest paid (24.1) (19.3)
Employee share schenie purchase (1.5) (36}
Exercise of share options 4.6 R 1)
New loans raised 23 725 345.0
Repoyment of borrowings 23 (13.4) (19L.1)
Cash flow on settlement of denvutives - _ _Lal
Lease ligbilites principal payments 23 (61.8) (53 1)
Dividends paid 23 {143} {6.7)
Net cash flows from financing activities L . (38.0} 759
o 0.5 100
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents . L
Cash and cash equivalents af the beginning of the period I 4081 308 |
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 41.3 408
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

General Information

Biffo Limited (the ‘Company’)1s a private company imited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and 1s the parent company of the
Riffa Group (1he 'Group'). The address of the Company’s registered office is Coranatian Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12
312 The principal octivity of the Group s the prowision of woste monogement services in the United Kingdom.

Rasis of accounting

The consolidated finencicl statements have been prepared in accordance with Tnterngtional Accounting Standards in conformity with the
recrirenients of the Act and International Financigl Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as issued
by the TASR and as adopted by the UK. The comparative financial nformation has also been prepared on this basis.

The consalidnted financial statements have been prepared on a Iwstorical cost basis, except for the recording of pension assets ond liablines,
share-based payments and the revaluation of certan derivanve fnancal instruments that are measured af revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of each reporting period, os explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost 1s generally based on the fair volue of the consideration
givan my exchange for goods and services, Fair value & the price that wauld be received ta sell an asset or paid to fransfer aliabliry in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

These financial stotements are presented in Pound Sterling (‘GBP™) and are rouinded to the nearest £0.1m The financial statements for 2023 hove
bean prepared for the 53-weck period ended 31 March 2023 The prior vear was o b2-week period, to 25 March 2022, The uptoming year will be o
52 week perior, 1o 29 March 2074

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS reguires the vse of certan crivical aocounting estmares 1t alsa requires
management ta exercse its Judgement in the process of gpplying the Group's nccounting policies The areas mvolving o higher degree of
jdgement or complexity, or areas where assumphons ond sshmates are significant to the consclidated financial starements are disclosed at the
end of this Nate,

Goitg concern

I assessmng whether s appropriate for the Group 1o adopt the gomg concern basis of occalinting, management have considered the Group’'s ahilty th
continue for a period of at legst 12 months frorm the dote of appraval of the consalidated financial statements In doing so, management have challenged
future cash aned debt levels and lending ovenant headraom using o number of downside scenarios 1o assess the resihenca of the Group's financial pasitinn

During the year, the Group was delisted from the Londen Stock Exchange heving been acquires by Energy Capital Partners (FCPY, a US-based private equity
flom 1t is not nxpected that the FCP takeover will drastically change the Group's business medel and monagement have mantoined o focus on sustainable
grawih, demonstrated by the complehion of three acguamons since the takeover The Boord recagnise the medium and lohg-term sustainability risks gnsing
from climate change, Including reesation of Renewable Ohligotion Certificates held by the landfill gas business m 2027, Short ferm impacts in refation fo
“limce chnnge are not consideted 1o hove a significant impact en the Group's business model within the going concern perind

The Group hos performed strongly agam thraughout FY 23, growing Revenue and Adpisted EBITDA despite confinued headwinds n the form of iflanonmy
pressures. supply chom distuption and a challenging economic outlook. At the year end the Group had unutihsed committed hank forilities available or

£107 0m and cash and cash equivalents of £408m The closing loverage rato (Net Debt:Ad|usted EBITDA) of 3.4x on a covenant basis compores agains® the
ravenant hmit of 4 Sx correspanding 1o the new debt faalities cffective from 23 May 2023 The headroam on the 4 Ox interest covar cavenant imit wes
sranvhicantly greader thon the hondraon on the leveroge rovenant of Hus date doe tivthe lower interest 1o1es a0 the FY23 yenr

Since the vear end, the Group has reatructured ts debt by incregsing i1s roling credit facility by £150m, increosing its torm loans by § 135m and repincing its
rxisting £345m af privite placements with £260m of new private placements The net import of these changes 15 ah increase in total liquudity of £200m but
e the new facdibies the Group s redquired o comply with revised leverage and intorest cover covenonts  In modelling 15 forecost cash flows and
rewvenants, the Gioup ns considered the mpoct of o possible setlement of the HMRC Landful Tax Enguiry in line with the provision recagmsed in the finoneial
slatements in the first holf of FY25  Cash flow forooosts inchicate thot the Group wil mamtain net nvadahle hguidity levele above £200m throucghout the e 17
manths, <o the Group would have saffic.ent iquicity to fund o large one-off cash poyment

Management hove olen applied roverse stress tests 1o delerming the extent ta which key financial measures could worser: over the next 12 maonths before
Lovennnt ity are brencherd Inlernst rover headroom s expected (o be noticeably lower than previous penods due la increased floobng rate sxposure ond a
shrays nise ininterest rates. so certan downside scenanes could couse a breach of interest caver. However sufficient headroom is expedted over the next 12
monthe 50 thnt o breat h of cither covenant would still teouire 0 warsening in EBITDA and cash flow alongsirde a rise v interest rates

Tnterect cver headroom s expected to reduce further ot September 2024 making a potenhal preach due to o worsening of pertarmance or o Fise i intoreast
rodn expocialiors more [ikely than at September 2023 or Merch 2024 It s management's expectation thot an amerdment ‘o the covenant will be reques o
flam lenders but if required we consider we could mest our existing covenants by carrying out a number of cash impravement initiatives such as delaying
crpntol rxpenditure, cancelling non-essental costs, utilising addihonol funding from owners and working capital management Tt may alse be possible to Anter
ey annterest rate swap ta reduce the exposuie to any further adverse interest rate movements On this basis we consider the likelihood of a future covenant
Iageh At Septentber 2024 1o be reminte.

Bazed on the obove, management have conclided 1he Group 15 well placed 1o manoge s financng ond other business nsks satsfactenly and have n
rocsonable Axper tat an that the Group will hove adequate resoures to continue it opetation for at feast 12 manths from the agning date of these
consolidated frrancnl statements 14 s therefare considered apprapeare to adopt the gomng concern busis of accounting n prepanng the consol dnted
financ ol Stetements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial stotements of the Company and enfities controlled by the Company (its

subsidiaries) made up to 31 March 2023 Control is achieved when the Company:

L Has power over the investee,
. Is exposed, or has rights, fo variable returns trom its involvement with the investee, and
»  Has the ability to use its power 1o affect i1s returns.

The Company reassesses whether or nat it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. wWhen the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an invesree, It considers
that it has power over the investee when the voling rights are sufficient to give 1t the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally.

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumsrances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give i1 power, including:

e The size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings ot the cther vote holders,

«  Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

«  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

s Any additional facts and circumstances thar indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 1o direct the relevant
activities at the fime that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

Consohdation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
ot the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during rhe year are included in the Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control untii the date when the Company ceases 1o control the subsidiary.

where necessary, adjustments ore made to the financiot statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-Group fransactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process,

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year
AT the date of authorisaticn of these financial statements, the below Standards and amendments are etfective for reporting periods
beginning affer 1 January 2022, but have not impacted on the Group’s reporting:

+  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 First-nme Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments, IFRS 14 Leoses, and IAS 41 Agriculture

«  Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: References to the Conceptual Framework

. Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

«  Amendments to [AS 37 Onerous Contracts: Cost ot Fulfilling o Centract

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have a material impact on the financial s1aternents of the Group

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of guthorisation of these financial stutements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that
have beeri issued but are not yet effective and had not yet been adopted:

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

. Amendments to LAS 1 Presentation of Financial Staterments. Classificotion of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

»  Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

= Amendments to IAS 1. Noncurrent Liabilittes with Covenants

«  Amendments To 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting £stimates and Errors. Definition ot Accounting Estimates
»  Amendments to [AS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

. amendments to IFRS 167 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments to [FRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Stondards listed above will have a material impact on the financiol statements of the
Group in any future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration trunsferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, habilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the ocquiree and the equity inferests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acguirea, Acaplisition-related costs are recogmised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifioble assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that

. Deferred 1ax assets or liokilities, and assets or liabilites related 1o emplovee benefit arrangements, are recognised and measured in
accordance with [AS 12 Tncome Taxes and TAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

. Liabilities or equity meosurerments related ta share-based payment arrangements of the ucquired, ond share based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based poyment arrangements of the acquired, are measured in accordance
with IFRS 2 Share based Payments at the acguisition date,

. Assets (or disposal grovps) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standerd.

Goodwill 15 measuied as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiee, and the far value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the ocquiree (f any) over the net of the acqusition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the habilities gssumed. 1. after reassessment, the net of the ocquisition date omounts of
the Identihable assets ocquired and the liablities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess amount of any
nan-controlling imterests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any). s recogmsed
immediately in prohit or loss s o bargadin purchase gain,

Wwhen the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or habilities resulling from a contingent
considerahon arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured af its acquisition date far value and included s part of the
consideration transferrad i a business combination

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consicderation that qualify as measurement period adjustments are odjusted refrospectively,
with corresponding adjustments agamst goodwill Measurement pered adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement penod (which cannot exceed ane year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed ot the acquisition date

If the imitictl accounting for o bvusiness combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period In which the combinotion occurs, the
Groug reports provisional amounts for the items far which the accounting is incomplete

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement periad (see above), ot additional assets or liakilities are recoghised, to
reflect new information cbtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would hove affected
the omounts recognised ar that daote.

Goodwilt
Goodwill 1s initiclly recagnised and measured as set out in the ‘Business combinations’ section above.

Goodwill is tested anhually for impairment or if there is an inctication of impairment Gamns o lasses an the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying omount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unit.,

For the purpeses of impairment testing, goodwill 15 cllocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash -generating
units) that s expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impatrment annudlly, or more frequently when there 1s an indication that the unit may be impaired. Tf the
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
omount of the unit, the impairrment 1oss 1s allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goadwill dllocated to the unit and then to
the othear assets of the unit pro-rato on the bosis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill 1s not reversed 10 o sibsequent period.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast reventie and costs, Management’s calculotion of value in vse hes been
developed from forecast frve-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance, expectation of future performance
intluding climate change related matters such os the potenhol cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificate (ROCHY schemes in 2027,
imphcations from possible carbon tax regulation and the Depesit Return Scheme coming into effect. The value in use is also deterrmined
after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of each division.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, the attributable ameunt of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture 15 a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have nghts to the net assets of the
arrangement, Joint control is the contractually agreed shering of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing contfrol. An associate is an entity over which an investor has
significant influence, but not control or joint control.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the eguity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate or a joint venture On acquisition of the investiment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and fiabilities of the investee is recognised as goadwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised immediotely in protit or loss in the penod in which the investment I1s
acquired.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate of a joint venture is tecognised initiolly in the Censolidated Statement of
Financict Position af cost and adjusted thereafter to recogrise the Group’s share ot the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associote or joint venture, when the Group’s share of ivsses of an asscciate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in thar
associate or joint venture (which includes any fong-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net Investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its shore of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive cbligations or made payments on behalf of rhe associate or joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 3& Impairment of Assefs are applied to determine whether it is necessary fo recagnise any impairment (oss with
respect to the Group's Investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) s tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is allocated 1o the investment
as a whole and not to the underlying assets of the investee that make up The carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with TAS 36 ro the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
Increases.

when a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the tiansactions with the joint venture
are recognised In the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related To
the Group.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reparted in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chiet Operating Decision Maker The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, whio is responsible for ollocating resources and assessing performanice of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group's operating segments are split info four divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Cormmercial (I&C")

. Resources & Energy (‘R&E’) which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

. Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group ('CSGY, Hazardous Waste, Integrated Resource Management (‘(1RM"), and
Biffpack

. Group Business Function ('GBF’)

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered to customers in the normal course of business, net of frade discounts
and VAT, The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers are applied to determine when services are deemed fo
have been delivered and when the Group has met its obligations under its service confracts. Payments received in advance of
performance are held as contract liabilities and recognised as revenue when the related service 1s delivered.

Coflections division

Waste collection revenue

[he Collections division collects waste from custormer sifes, Revenue is recognised af o point in time when the waste is delivered 1o fransfer
stations or to a third party. The fransaction price 1s based on contractually pre-agreed prices for collecting and processing the waste. Due
to the short time between start ond completion of the performance obligations (usuclly on The same day), the revenue recognition and the
allocation of the transaction price over pertormance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste,

The Collections division also provides collections services to households on behalf of local authorities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue is recognised ‘over time'. The nature of the contracts und performance obligations includes management fees to operate local
authority recycling centres, waste collections ond gate fees. The annual revenue for the service is agreed at the cutset of the contract and
invoiced in equal amounts, monthly in arrears. The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting period,
which 15 considered an appropriate approximation to when the process occurs. This is adjusted for any discounts given and penalties for
non-delivery ot services, However, gate fee revenue 1s recognised as custamer waste is deposited and based on tonnage recerved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued
Revenue recoghition continued
Resources & Energy ('R&E’) division

Landfill revenue

The Company generates revenue from landfill activities by accepting custfomer woste onto site for disposal into void space. This revenue
stream consists of gate fee revenue derived from the Company's operational assets and 1s based on measured tonnages received from
customers. Performance obligahons are satisfied os the customer waste 15 deposited onts the landfill site and revenue is recognised at ‘a
pomnt in hime’

Revenue from sole of recyclata materials

The Group collects various waste materials, some of which are general waste and some of which are recyclable materials The recyclable
matericls are generally comrmingled and os such then have fo be separated into individual recyclafe stracims ready for resale. Recyclate
revenues are measured ot the agreed transaction price per tonne of recyclate under the contract with the customer Revenue recognition
occurs when control over the recyclote assets has been tronsferred and therefore the performance obligation is satisfied This 1s at the
notit of collection by the customer,

Energy revenue

The Group receves revenue front the sale of electnicity from generating assets. These cssets mclude anaerabic digestion and gas fraom
londfill sites. Revenue from the sale of electnicity is measured based upon metered cutput delivered at rates specified under agreed
contract terms with Biffa's broker, EDF. under Power Purchase Agreements (‘PPA") or prevailling market rates. Energy generahion revenues
are recognised at ‘g peint in hime’, being the point gt which the power is suppled through the sale to the customer, via EDF, bhased on the
quantity of units supplied

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food and household products

CS6G s a redistnbutor of surplus foed and household product in the UK. The business redistributes surplus stock that it purchases from
the Fast Moving Cansumer Goads [FMCGY supply chain to members who work in key sectors including FMCG businesses, smergency
services and social care. Sales cre recognised when the risks and rewards attached 1o the products (including product ohsolescene o)
have been fransferred] to the customer This occurs when the customers take possession of the stock that has been parchased

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agread as part of the rerms of certain customer controcts. The discounts are usuolly in the form of g price reduchion
based on volume collected on a monthly basis. The calculations and terms of the discounts are set out in the agreed customer contracts,
They are calculated in accardance with the contract, accrued automatically by the cecounting system on o monthly basis, and reported as
o reduction in revenue At the end of the calendar month, the omount of the discount for that period is disclosed to and agreed with the
retevant customers This discount Is then recognised either by raising a credit nate or by the customer raising o separate invoice These
mechanisms dare agreed at the outset of the contract As the monetary frade discount per unit is known ond the volume 15 known, thore 15
no element of estimotion within the calculation.

The Material Recyeling Facilities (MRFs’Y hove contracts with local authorities which contain o ‘risk-sharing mechanism® 1 ogal authorties
are charged a gate fee per tanne of waste delivered, at the point the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled weaste
recyclote streams have been sorted and sold, the local authorities are then entitled to a rebate based upon a pre-agreed percentage of the
recyclate value achieved The calculations and terms of the rebates are set out in the respective centracts with local authorities. The
rebates are nccrued by netting this amount of f revenue every reporting period The calculation is shared with the customer and a credit
note roised (or the customer raises an invoice). There 1s no element of estimation within the calculation.

Leqgses

The Group assesses whether g contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract, The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and o
corresponding lease liahility with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, unless the Group decides to exercise the
exemptions aveilable under TFRS 16 Leases for short-term leases (defined as leases with o legse term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low value assets (defined by manogemant 1o not exceed £5,000). The applicability of these exemptions is considered on a lease-by-fease
basis, 7f the Group exercises these exemptions on certain leases, the payments corresponding to these leases are recognised os an
operating expense on a stranght-line basis aver the term of the lease unless another systematic basis 1s more representative of the tme
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed

The lease fiability is inftially measured ot the present value of the lease payments that are not pard at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. Tf this rate cannot be readily determuned, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate

The Groug’s incremental borrowing rate s defined o5 the rote of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow, over a similar term
ond with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 0 a similar economic environment
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L Accounting policies continued

Leases continued
Leuse payments included in the measurement of the liabitity comprise:

«  Fixed legse payments, fess any lease incentives;

s Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate af the commencament date,
s The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees,

+  The exercise price of purchase opfions, if the lessee 15 1easonably certain to exercise the options; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option o terminate the lease.

Ihe lease liability is presented as a separote line itern in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease llability is subsequently measured by increasing The carrying amount 1o reflect the inferest on the lease liability (using the
eftective inferest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lecse liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

s+ The lease term has changed or there 1s a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

= The lease poyments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cose the lease liability 1s remegsured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate {unless the
lease payment change 1s due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rote is used), or

+ A lease contract s meditied and the tease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the tease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate ar the etfective date of moditication.

Right-of-use assets
The nght-of-use assets comprise the inifial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment at or before the commencement day
and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured af cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

whenever the Group incurs an ebligation for costs fo dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it 1s locared or restore the
undertying asset o the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provisicn is recognised and measured under IAS 37 The costs
are included in the related right-of -use asset.

Right-af-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful Iife of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the night-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects 1 exercise a purchase option, the related nght-of-use asset 1s
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciction starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies 1AS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaoired ond accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and eguipment” policy.

Foreign currencies

in preparing the financial intormation of each individual Group entity, fransactions in cutrencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(toreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Af the end of each reporting
peried, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevalling ot that date. Non-monetfary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-franslated at the rates prevailing at the dofe when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary iterns are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

s Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those ossets when they are recognised as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowmngs;

e  Exchange differences on fransactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under financial insiruments
hedge gecounting), and

. Exchange differences on monetary items receivable frum or payable to o foreign operation for which settlement 15 neither planned
nor likely to cccur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially m other
comprehensive income and reclossified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary itfems.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost In a foreign currency are not retransiated.

For the purposes of presenting These consolidated financiol statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilinies
are translated intc Sterling using the exchange rates prevalling of the end of each reporting period. Income and expense 1tems are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significontly during that period, i which case the
exchange rotes at the dates of the fransactions are used.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies continued
Exchange differences arising an the difference between translating net ossets at closing rate and translating P&L items at the average
rate, f any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of gualifying assetrs, which are assets that necessarily
take o substantial perion of time 1o get ready for their intended use or sale, are cdded 1o the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially recdy for their intended use or sale, All other borrowing costs are recognised i profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred

Government grants
Gavernment grants are nct recogrised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them ond that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or ioss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recoghises ns expenses the
rnsts for which the grants ore intended 1o compensale. Specificolly, government gronts whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assers are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related ossets

Employee benefits
Payments to defined contnibution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entithng
them to the contribubons.

For definec benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valations being carried out at the end of each annuak reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuaral gains and fosses and the
return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial pesition with a charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive iIncome In the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss. Past service cost 1s recognised in profit or loss in the pericd of a plan amendment. Nel inferest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit casts are categorised as follows:

- Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and losses on curtailments and setilements)
. Net interest expense or iIncome
. Remeasurement

The Group presents service costs in operating costs and net interest expense or income 15 included in finance income, Curtailment gainsg
and losses are accounted for as past service costs

The retirement benefit obhgation recognised in the cansohdated statement of financial position represents the actual deticit or surplus in
the Grotip's defined benefit plans, Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited 1o the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans,

The Group makes contributions under Admitted Body status to o number of Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS™) for the period to
the end of the relevant costomer contracts The Group will only participate in LGPS for a finite period to the end of the customer controcts.

The Group determines whether an LGPS scheme 15 accounted for under o defined henefit or defined contribution scheme based on
whether the deficit/ surplus can be passed through to the next contractor or Local Authority of the end of the confract Tf, at the end of
the cantract, the Group is not liable to sethle any liability or equally entitled to any benefit, the scheme is recognised as defined
contribution and contributions are recognised as an expense. For contracts that do not allow for pass through of pension costs, the Group
recognises the defined benefit abligation less tha fair value of scheme assets, and an adjustment to only recognise the amount of defined
beneafit for which 1t 1s responsible under the contract. Mavements in this adjustment are recognised m the same way 0s movemeants in plan
assets,

& bty for a termmation benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdrone the offer of the terminarion
benafit and when the entity recognises any relaled restructuring costs

A hability is recognised for benefits accruing to empioyees in respect of wages and salanes, annual leave and sick leave 1in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be poid in exchange for that service,

Ligibilities recoghised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscountect amount of the benefits expected to be
paric in exchange for the related service,

The accounting policy for the Group 15 to recognise the net surplus/deficit for defined benefit plons upon acquisition through Other
Camprehensive Income, as opponsed to an adjustment to goodwill, pursuant to TFRS 3 Business Combinations and TAS 19 Employee
Renetits
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1. Accounting policies continued

Share-based payment plans

The Group’'s management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benetit expense in The
income statement equivalent 1o the fair value of the benefit awarded. The foir value is defermined by reference to the stochastic pricing
model. The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access, other short-term investments and bank
deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception.

Taxation
Tax represents the sum of the tox currently payable and deferred tax. This foallitotes comparison with priot periods to assess trends in
financial performance more readily.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxakle profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ os reported in the
consolidated income statement because of items of income or expense that are faxable or deductible i uther yeors and items that are
never taxable or deduchble. The Group's current tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Ceferred tax is The tax expected 10 be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets ond habilities in the
financial statements and the correspanding tax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit and 1s accounted for using the Liabilty
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary difterences. Deferred tax assefs are generally recogrised
for all deductible temporary difterences to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be availlable against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utiised.

Such deterred 1ax assets and lighilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liablities i a fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addimorn,
deferred tax Labilities are not recegnised If the temporary difference arises from the inimal recognition of goodwll.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed af the end of each reporting period and reduced 1o the extent that 1t is no longer
prabable that sutficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1o be
recovered.

The roup has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the probakility of sufficient taxable profits (loss of revenue from
cessafion of Renewable Cbligation Certificates (ROCs”) in 2027, potential legislation of Deposit Return Scheme (DRS’) in England and
operating costs due to incieased carbon faxes in subsequent reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact
from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in the futuie forecasts, however given fthe low financial impact of the DRS legislation and
ncreased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it fo have o material impact on the recoverability of the deferred tax asser

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured ot the tax rates that are expected to apply in the peried in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deterred tax liokilities ond assets reflects the tax conseguences that would follow from the manner iri which the
Group expects, af the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the corrying amount of 1ts assets and hiabilities.

Current and deterred tax are recognised in profit or ioss, except when they relate 1o items that are recogiised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deterred fax ure also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial acceunting of a business combination, the fax etfect is included in
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landtill sites are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of tandfill sifes includes the
cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites, There ore no directly attributable borrowing costs Property, plant and equipment is
stated @t cost tess accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised on ¢ stramght-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful ife and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being gccounted for on o prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied to property, plant and equipment during the period:

. Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
«  Plant, vehicles and eguipiment - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
. Landfill sites - on a void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 to 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction (AUC”) are not deprecioted. AUC 15 depreciated when the asset is deemed to be complete, and in line
with the above classifications.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Property, plant and equipment continued

Wwhere the obligation to restore ¢ landfill site is an integral part of its future economic benefits, a non-current asset within property, plant
ond equipment is recognised Changes to the obligation are recorded as adjustments 1o the carrying value of the asset. The asset
recognised is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are deprecicgted over their expected useful lives on the same basis os owned assets However, when there 15 no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease ferm, ossets are depreciated aver the shorter of the lecse
term ond their useful lives.

Antem of property, plant ond eguipment 15 derecogrised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continuad use of the asset Any gain or loss arising on the dispasal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference berween the sales praceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recagnised in profit ar loss.

Intangibie assets

Intangible ossets with finite useful lives that are acguired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulared
impairment insses. Intangible assets acquired in business cembinations and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised inttiaily
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is reqarded as their cost) Amortisation is recognised on n stroight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives The estimated useful life ond amortisation method are reviewed at the end of ecich reporting period, with the effect
of any changrs ov estirmete being accounted for an a prosgective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite usefut lives that ore acouired
separctely are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The following useful lives have been applied to the intangible assets during the period:

. Brand - indefinite [ife

- Customer contracts - 3 1o 20 years

. IT development - 3 ta 5 yeors

. Service concession arrangements - over the life of the contract

«  Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas extraction based on the life of the site’s ossociated ROCs

Annternally generated intangible asset arising from devetopment (or from the development phose of an infernaol project) is recognised if,
and onby 1f, all of the following have been demonstrated.

«  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

. The intention to complete the mtangible assat and use or sell 1,

. The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

. The evanlability of odequote technical, financial and aother resources to complete the developmient and to use or sell the Intangible
assef, and

- The ability to measure reliahly the expenditure attnibutaisle to the intangible asset durng its development.

The amount nitially recogmsed for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
ntangible asset first meets the entena listed above. When na internally generoted intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure s recogmsed in profit or loss in the period i1 which it s incarred. Expenditure on research activities 1s recogrised os an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to winal recagriton, intemally generated intangible assets ore reported ot cost less accimulated amortiscrion ard
accumulated impairment losses on the same basis as intfangible assets that are acquited separately.

An intongible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains of losses
arising from derecognition of an intangibie asset, measured as the difference between the net disposol proceeds and the carrying omount
of the nsset, are recognised in profit o loss when the asset is derecognised.

The Group has a number of contracts for Software as a Service (‘Saa5") arrangements These contfracts permit the Group to access
vendor-hosted software and platform services aver the term of the arrangement. The Group does not control the underlying assets in
these arrangements and costs are therefore expensed as incurred.

The Growp also meurs implementation costs in respect of thase contracts Implementation costs are capitalised as mtangible ossets where
they meet the definihon and recognition criteria of an intangible asset under TAS 38 Intangible Assets Such costs typically relate to
software coding which can provide o benefit to the Group on a standolene basis

Other implementation costs, primarily relating to the configuration and customization of the Saas solution, are assessed to determine
whether the implementation activity relating to these costs 1s distinet from the Saas solution, in which cease costs are expensed us the
activity occurs If the configuration and customisation costs relate to gativity which 1 infegral to the Saas solution such that the activity 1s
recanecd aver the term af the solitan, costs are recogrised as a prepayment and expensed over that term,
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1. Accounting policies contfinued

Impairment of fangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite usetul life are not subject 1o amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or creumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss s recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
Its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 1s the higher of foir value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units ({CGUS'), the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows

In assessing value n use ('VIU), the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reftects current market assessments of the ime value of money and the risks specific fo the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) 1s estimated 1o be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the osset (or CGU)
1s reduced 1o its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset i1s carried at
a revalued amount, in which cose the impairment loss I1s treated as a revaluation decrease and 1o the extent that the iImpairment loss 1s
greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss,

Wwhere an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carryihg amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of i1s
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prict years, A reversal of an impaitment loss is recognised immediotely in profit or loss 1o the
extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the assef in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is treated as a revaluation increcse,

The Group carries different classes of intangible assets including. gas reserves, brands ond customer contracts. The Gioup also has classes
of tangible assets in property, landfil gas and plant, vehicles, and machinery. The carrying value of these 1s dependent on future cash flows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group's expectations there 1s nsk that the assets will be impaired. The Impairment reviews
performed by the Group contain a number of significant estimates:

«  Forecast energy prices mcluding the impact of climate change 1o these prices

»  The ROCs recycle benefit rights {which is dependent on the RCC scheme being in place)
. Forecast gate fees, tonnage prices and gas yield projections;

»  Long term growth rates; and

. Ciscuanil tules,

1he above have been considered in determining the VIU of other intangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on g first-in-first-out basis. Net
reclisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Full provision is made for obsolete or defective stock

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a tesult of a past event, 1t 15 probable that the
Group will be required 1o settte the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recegnised as a
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obhgaotion at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. wWhen a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of Those cash flows (when the effect of the tme value of money is material}
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount elemen? on existing provisions are reflected in the financial staterments s a tinarce
charge.

when some or alf of the economic benefits required 1o seftle a provision are expecied fo be recovered from a third party, @ receivable is
recognised as an asset if virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the recevable can be measured reliably.

Provisions for the cost ot restoring Jandfill sites and cafter-care costs are mode as the obligation to restore the site arises. Costs are
charged to the profit or loss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each landfill site. The restoration
cbligation is typically fulfilled within two years of the landfill site being closed to waste

Provisions for affer-care costs are made as the void usage increases, which results in the recognition of an asset representing the future
economic benefits expected to arise from future gas generation from the landfill site. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the
operational life of cach landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives cccess 1o
future economic benefits, an asset in property, plont and equipment is recognised. Changes in the pravision arising from revised estimates
that relare to the asset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying vatue of the asset.
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L. Accounting policies continued

Provisions continued

The asset is depreciated over tive period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the
closure dete, producing commeraia! volumes of gas for up to L6 years. After-care costs are provided for based on the Directors'
expectation that the obligation will hove been fulfilled 60 vears post closure of the site.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under cnerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a confract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the confract excead the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Service concession arrangements

Service concession arangements typicolly involve o private sector entity constrecting infrastructure and using that infrastructure o
provide a public service on behalf of a government or lacal authority for alimited period of time before handing ownership of the
infrastructura hack to the government or local authority

The Group applies the financial asset model when the concession grantor contractually guarantees the payment of amounts specified in
the contract or the shortfall, if any, between amolunts received from users of the public service and amounts specified. This financial asset
accrues finance moome and s reduced as the financial payments are received. This appreach has been adopted on the Leicester City
Council contract,

The Group applies the intangible asset model when 1t has o right or a kcence to charge users or the local author ity based on usage of the
pubbic servica This approoch hos been adopted on 1he west Sussex Recycling contract thot was acauired os part of the Vindor acquisition
N the year ended 25 March 2022

Financial assets and intangible assets resulting from the application of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements are recorded in the
Consoclidated Statement of Financigl Position Refer 1o Note 30 for further information.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when o Group entity becomes o party fo the contractual provisions of the
mstruments Financial instruments are derecognised when they dre discharged or when the contractual terms expire The financial
msiruments recodmsed by the Group are set out below

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially ar fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest methaod, less
experied credit losses,

Expected credit fosses are updated ot each reporting date to reflect changes in crecht risk since initial recognifion. Expected credit losses
dre estimated based on the Group's historical credit loss expenence, adusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions at the reporting date. For financial
assets, the expected credit loss is estimated s the difference between all contractual cash flows 1hat are due 10 the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flaws that the Group expects to recaive. discounted at the eriginal effective interest rate.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financigd asset has increased significantly since mtial recognition when contractual payments
ore more thom 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportabie information that demonstrates otherwise.

All customers are subject to credit scorng an g quarterly basis The Group considers a financial asset 1o have low credit risk when the
external cred't rehing of the counterparty exceeds the Group's minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strang financial
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms

The Group cderecognises o financial asset when there 15 information indicating that the debtor 1s in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recogrised inmially at fair valie and subseguently at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and eguity instruments are clossified s either finoncial labilities or as equity in gccordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements,

Borrawings are recogrised mnitially at far value, net of iransaction costs, Any difference between the amaunt initiafly recognised artd the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement aver the periad of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Rorrowings are classified s non-current iabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liapility for at
least 12 months ofter the balanre shees dote,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instfruments continued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detailed above, the Group applies the financial asset madel to service concession arrangements where there is @ guaronteed right 1o
receive payments, The financial asset accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This approgch hos
been adopted on the Leicester City Council contract,

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are inially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the strument and
are subsequently remeasured at their tair value at each balance sheet date The method ot recognising the resuiting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designoted as o hedging imstrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities), or b)
cosh flow hedge (hedyes of a particular risk associated with ¢ recognised asset or liability or a highly probable torecast transaction), or ¢)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the fransaction relaticnship between the hedging instrurments and hedged items at inception

At inception and at each reporting date the Group assesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement ot changes in equity. At the reporting date the Group has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the refationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged irem,
along with its risk management cbjectives and 1ts strategy for undertaking the hedge transcctions. At the inception of the hedge and cn
an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in far values or cash tlows ot
the hedged ifem, which 15 when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

»  There 1s an economic relafionship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

s The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

+  The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the uantily ul he hedyging Instrument that the Group actuolly uses to hedge that guantity of hedged item

It a hedying relationship ceases 1o meet the hedge effecfiveness requirement relating 1o the hedge ratic but the risk management
objective for that designared hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e
rebalances the hedge) so that 1t meets the qualifying criteric again,

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cosh flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group’s cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either the income statement or in the
hedging reserve,

when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss in equity at that time remains i equity gnd 1S recognised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast fransaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
" equity will be transterred to the income stotement

If o hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement reloting to the hedge ratio but the risk management
cbjective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so thar
it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair volue of any derivative instrurments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Amaounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in eguity are reclassified 1o profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transacrion results in the recognition of a non-financiot asset or @ non-financial liakility, the gains ond losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial meosurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income, Furthermore, If the Group expects that
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will nat be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclussified 1o profit or loss
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1 Accounting policies continued

Cash flow hedge continued

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria
tafter rebolancing. if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminaled or exercised. The
discontinuahon 1s accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve ol that 1ime remoins in equity ond is reclossified to profit or loss when the forecast fronsaction occurs.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at par volue of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premiuvm account net of direct 1ssue costs,

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution fo the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a iability in the financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are agpproved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areos of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertointy

The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and olso requires
managerment to exercise its judgement in the process of dpplying Grotz accounting policies. The Group confinually evaluates its
estimates, asswnptions and judgernents based on available information and experience. &s the use of estimates is inkerent in financicl
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Critical Judgements
The Group applies judgement inidentifying the significant, exceptional and non-recurring items of income and expense, We have
summarised the policy in more detail in the Appendix.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

The Group operates o numizer of landfill sites in the UK Cperators of landfill sites are responsible for collecting landfill tax and paying it 1o
MMRC Excise Natice LFTL o general giride fo landgfilf rax CLFTL) sets aut quidance published by HMRC on the appheation of landfill tax
legpslation to the activities of tandfill site operators such as Biffa.

The Group is the subject of an HMRC enguiry ('the Enguiny’y regarding fandfill fax compiiance as part of HMRC concerns regarding possible
misclassification of waste across the industry. To date approximately £377m (2022 - £168m) of protective nssessments have been issued
by HMRC 10 Biffa. The growth in the level of protective assessments reflects both an extension of the time period covered by the
nssessments and increase in the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC.

In February 2020, Biffa Waste Services Limited {BWSL') was notified by HMRC that it had concerns regarding certam aspects of landfill
tax complicnee that may have led o an underpayment of landfill tax and was conducting an enguiry primarily relating to the
interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out in LFT1, HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, aver the
potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers which may hove led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

Fines are particles produced by a waste freatment process fhat involves an element of mechanical treatment For o landfill site operatar o
treqt fines as qualifying fines (meaning that landfill tax on such material i1s payable at a lower rate), it must be satisfied that the conditions
et out in LFT1 have been met. These Include pre-acceptance checks on customers, visual inspections of materinls deposited af the landfill
site and complicant loss on ignition ('LOT') tests conducted at the specified frequency (which is dependent on whether a customer is
classified as low or high risk). LOT fests are laboratory tests on samples of waste to establish the amount of organic content in the waoste

In respanse to the concerns ransad by HMRC, Biffe appointed Ernst & Young (‘EY'} to ronduct an extensive raview In Moy 2020, on interim
report was submitted by EY and BWSL to HMRC addressing a number of the concerns raised by HMRC and outliming some immediate
rhanges 1o processes at jandfill sites operated by Biffa, which were made on o without prejudice basis, to mitigate the risk of any angoing
potental habiity,

In March 2021, & disclosure report ond supporting data (the ‘Disclasure Report’). prepared by EY and BWSL, was subnvitted to BMRC This
chaollenged HMRC's findings and assumptions used,

In February 2022, BWSL recerwved a further lefter from HMRC which responded o a number of specific findings in the Disclosure Report,
asserted specific armounts that they considered were due and indicated that HMRC would be carrying out further work on other aspects of
the Disclostre Report Following receipt of this leiter, further detailed work was carried out by Biffo and its advisars

In the period since the release of the 2022 Annunk Report and Accounts, the Enguiry has continued with Biffa and its advisars corrying out
further detailed work and communications with HMRC.

Management has applied judgement in concluding on the different potential cutcomes and their respective probobilities in accordance
with 1AS 37 Provesions, Contingent {iabities ond Contingent 4ssets A provision of £64m has been recognised af March 2023 (March 2022
£20 my as 1his represents management's best estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation at that date
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1. Accounting policies continued
Critical Judgements continued

Legal aond tax cases
The Group has provisions for ongeing litigation Managemen? exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision required This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professionals where applicable or management’s best estimate.

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relotion to the tandtill tax treatment of sub-scils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos The Group has recelved @ protective assessment of £8.5m, which has been paid As the Group 1s currently disputing this
assessiment, and maonagement believe it likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included in prepayments in the current
vear (2022: £8.5m).

Going concern

This is cansidered an area of critical judgement due to the Group’s recent debt restructure and interest rate rises. Refer to the geing
concern section earlier in this Note.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the following key scurces of estimation uncertainty that hove a significant risk of causing a marerial adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next tinancal period:

Environmental and The Group operates a number of landhll sites i the UK. A signihicant cost of owning and operating a landfill sire in the
ofter-care UK arises ufrer the land-filling operation ceases due 1o the constructive and legal obligation to restore sites and then fo
commirments of care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk fo the environment.

£hibem

A provision is made for the costs assouiated with restoring and maintaining its londfill sites and controlling leachate and
(vee Note 18) methane emissions from the sites, A number of factors crectie estimation uncertainty, ncluding fhe impact ot regulafion,
transporiation costs, intlation and cheoges in the real discount rate, Due to recent volotility, the impact in the change of
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are a particularly source of estimatrion uncertointy. The provisions
incorporate our best estimates of the financiat effects of these uncerfainties, but future changes 1N any of these
estimates could matericlly impoct the colculation of the provision. An increase of 5% n gssumed energy and chermical
costs, which impacr energy censumed and leachate freatmernt costs, would result i an increase in the environmental
provision of £1.2m.

The gssociated cutflows are estimated 1o anse over o period of up to 60 years depending cn the date of each site
closure. In determining the provision, the estiimates for future expenditure required to seftle the obligation are nflated
using longer-term inflation rates of 3.1%, and discounted using the nominal risk free discount rare of 4.4%. The rafes
reflect the period of the obligation on o site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years. Future energy prices are
estimated using reliable external sources.

An increase of 1% in the nominal discount rate (at current cost) would result in a decrease of environmenial provisions of
approximately £8.0m (2022: £16.0m). A 10% increcse in forecast cash outtlows would result in an increased
enviranmental provision of £5.2m (2022, £78m) Long-Term after-care provisions included in landfill restorahon and
after-care provisions have been intlated ar a rate of 3.1% (2022 3.3%) An increase of 1% In the rate ot infiamon would
result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23 1m)

Retirement Benefit The Group operates several defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted tor under [AS 19 Employment
Accounting reloting Benefits, Pension accounting is a specialist area requiring the exercise of significant management judgerment ond the
to surplus of 95.1m use of technical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted

actuoriol practices. The assumptions used in valuing the defined benetit pension liabilities includmng the discount rate,
mortality ossumption arrd inflation fevel are complex and changes to the assumptions can have a materiol impact on the
value of pension liobilities As af the end of the financial year 1he Group recognised a refirement benetit surplus of
£95.1m (2022 £166 1)

(see Note 25)

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefir asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m). 1t the inflation
assumption mcreases by 1% the detined benetir asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022 100 Om). It the life expeciancy
increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benetit osset would decrease by £9 6m (2022, £14 9m).

All pension valuations are performed as af The year end reporfing date
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Onevous Contract
Provision of £20.3m
{see Note 18)

Goodwill
Impairment in
Company Shop
Group ('CS6G) (see
Nate )

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered onerous and long-term in nature. These contracts can be complex
and contain key performance indicotor clouses where penclties may be incurred in the event of non-compliance. The
Group 15 theretfare required to make operational and financial assumptions fo estimote future losses over perinds that
can extend beyond seven years,

variahility of contract penalties. underlying delivery costs, inflation rates, cammodity prices applied and customer claims
or disprites can put additiono) pressure on marging and on future contract protitability, giving rise to onerous contract
provisions. The Group mitigates ogainst the risk of price movements by entering into fuel hedaing arrangements,
Monagement continue to manitor pofentinl cost impacts on services and seek 10 discuss those with customers as
appropriate, on g case-by-cose basis

The prediction of future events over extended periods contains inherent risk and the outcome of rustomer ane
subcontractor claims 15 uncertain and nvolves o high degree of manogement estimation Management recognise the
risk of future onerous caontract provisions being recognised due 1o significant cost increnses as detailled above

The Group holds three oneraus contract prowvisions reloting to contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vale and
Letcrster The future cash inflaw fram the remaining onerous confracts are highly predictable as they are fixed, based on
the terms of the contraict. However, the costs associdated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future
cash outflows is considered a significant estimate when madelling the future net cash outflows on onerous contract
nrovisions, On the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Voie pravision, @ 5% increase in future cash outfiows would
ihcredse the provision by £15m. On the | eicester provision a 5% increase in future cash outflows would incregse the
provision tiy £2.3m

In arnving at the gnerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group
has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6% Tt this rate increased by 500 basis ponts the
provision charge would decrease by £0 2m In arriving af the onerous confract provision for the Leicester confract, the
Graup hos discaunted the future cash flows using a risk-free cate of 4 5% [ thus rate incregsed by 504 bosis points the
erovision charge would decrease by £15m

The Group recognised goodwill on completion of the acquisition of CSG in February 2021 The carrying value of the
goodwill 15 dependent on future cashflows and. If these cashflows do not meet the Group’s expectations, there 15 a risk
that the assets will be impaired. The impairrment review performed by the Group rantains a number of significant
estimaotes:

. Revenue in both the short and long term

. Gross morgin in both the short and long form

. Discount rafe

Changes in these assumptions can have o sigmficant impact on the estimated value in use, An impairment assessment
wars perfarmed by the Group in the prior year, with the outcome being the recognition of a £25.0m imparrment to
goodwil due to trading under performance, in accordance with TAS 36: Impairmient of Assets. The annudl impairment
assessment was performed again in the corrent year, with the valie in use exceeding the goodwill carrying amaount gnd
the outcome being no further impairment This is due fo impraved trading in the year. The value in use excludes any
additional value which may be generated by future store roll-outs,

The key assumptions when calcukating the value in use ore defoied above Management’s calculation of valie in use has
been developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance and
expectahions of future performance which considers, climate change, market mformation and o consistent growih rate.

The valuerhon of the goodwill allocated to CSG has headraom of £29 4m af the end of the financial vear The pre-tax
discount rate used 1 the value in use calculanon was 10 75%. Anincrease in the pre-tax discount rate of 320 basis points
would rediice headroom ta nil. The average short term annual growth rate used was 3.00% A reduction of 167 bhasis
points in the average short term annual growth rate would reduce headroom 1o nil The long term compounded annual
arowth rate used was 3 25% A raductinn of 587 basis pomnts i the fong term compounded annual growth rate wold
reduce headroom to nil, The average gross profit margin used waos 56.2%, A reduction of 210 basis points i gross profit
margin wotld reduce headroom 1o nik
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1 Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

HMRC Landfill Tax
Enquiry

Protective assessments

HMRC has issued protective assessments totalling appraxmately £377m 1o BwSL in respect of the penod from March
2016 1o September 2021 Consistent with thelr usual proctice when conducting an enquiry thot may result in additional
liakility o tax, the protective assessments have been issued by HMRC before the conclusion of the Enguiry fo ensure
that any claim tor payiment of landfill tax that may be made by HMRC as o result of the findings of the Enguiry is not
rime-barred.

These proTechive assessments are not necessarily an indication ot whot liability moy ultimately arise and may be
omended or withdrawn by HMRC at the conclusion of the Enguiry. BWSL 15 not curiently required to make payment fo
HMRC or reserve or ringfence funds tur o possible payment as a result of these protechve ossessments, however 1t has
made payments on account of £2.2m To date,

Potential outcomes and liabilities

In Bitfa’s view, based on advice received to date, there are a range of possible outcomes to the Enquiry, including an
agreed setflement To date Biffa has received approximately £377m of protective assessments from HMRC HMRC bas
also shared further estimartes of liability in the context ot without prejudice settlemert discussions. In addition, BwSL will
incur turther costs in conducting and resgonding to the Enguiry.

At the end of the Enquiry, HMRC will be required 1o cenfirm the amount of the protective assessments, It no settlement
is agreed and BWSL does not accept HMRC's decision, BWSL will be entitled to request o formal statutory review by
HMRC. Assuming HMRC uphalds its decision in respect of cll or part of the assessments, BwSL will have 30 days from
the date of HMRC's review decision to submut an appeal fo the Fist-tier Tax Tribunat ('FTT'} to challenge HMRC and
formally protect BWSL's position To bring the appeal, BWSL would be reguired to pay the assessed londfill tax 1o HMRC
ar that stage, clthough BwSL could moke a hardship application to HMRC fo secure therr agreement fo the deferral ot
the payment of the assessed tax, faling which BWSL could apply fo the FTT directly on grounds of hardship. 1f the
Enquiry resulted in BWSL being liable 1o pay addiftonal landgtill tax, such amounts should be tax deductible.

Provision (see Note 18)

A provision of £20.0m weis recognised at 25 March 2022, based on Biffa's best estimate of the habilifies at thar pont in
fime, recognising the fact that the Enquiry was at on early stage This reflected the mformation that hed been shared
with Biffa at that fime and the Direclors’ expectations of how the matter would be resolved

Following the receipt of further correspondence and protective assessiments from HMRC since then, the provision at 31
March 2023 has been increased to £64m.

This reflects Biffa’s best estimate of the specific amounts asserted by HMRC in ther estimates of liabiliry that buve
been notitied to Bifta in 1he context of without prejudice settlernent discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments and the turther estimates of liability excluding the element we consider to be a
conningent lability,

The estimate assumes that any possibte penalty that could be levied would be suspended subject 1o certain conditions
and accordingly has not been recognised. A suspended penalty will not need 10 be paid providing we meet rhe relevant
conditions during the suspension period and do not incur a further penalty within the suspension period.

Further liakilities could arise in relation 1o general issues roised by HMRC about Biffa’s compliance with the qualifying
fines regime set out in LFTL These been disclosed as a contingent liabihity.

The uttimate manner of settlement of the liability remains uncertain but we do not beleve payment will be due before 31
March 2024 and accordingly we hove disclosed the ability as non-current.

Contingent Liability (see Note 27)

A provision has been recognisad in respect of specific amounts asserted by HMRC 1o date. However, general 1ssues have
also been raised by HMRC about how certain requirements within the gualifying fines regime sef out in LFTL were
intended to be applied In prachice, and the extent to which Bifta has complied with tThese requirements.

Bosed on advice received to date for These areds, @ present obligation does not exist and o liability 1s not probable
BWSL's potential additional liability for landfill tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m based un
information provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry

Bosed on advice received, the Directors do not consider a liability is likely 1o arise In respect of such general issues, 1o
can u cost be reliably estimoted, and thercfore this item s treated as a contingent liability und ne provision anses for
these general issues.

In order 1o illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and financial position, further sensitivity
onalysis has been included within the Notes,

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 55



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Segmental information

The Group 1s managed by type of business and is organised into three operating divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial,
- Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recyching and Landfill Gas.
Spectalist Services which includes Company Shop Group and Industrial Services,

These operating divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its primary segment infarmation and are consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker Head office costs are recarded within the Group Business
Function (*GBF") division, however for operating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Business Function costs
represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Boord and corporate costs, finance, HR, IT, legol and insurance,
external affairs and Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Management (‘SHEQ')). The chief operating decisien maker, who 1s
responsicle for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating divisions, has beenidentified as the Group Fxecutive

Team.

The Group’s segmental results are as follows,

2023 2022
Revenue O P SR . Em £m
Collechons 1,006.1 8739
Rescurces & Energy 4396 395.2
Specialist Services 2347 1741
Total _ . isEoa 14432

Revenue within divisions is ehminated upon consolidation. Sales between operating divisions are corried out of arm’s length. There have
been no material amounts of revenue recognised in the year that relate to performance obligahons satisfied or partially satisfied in
previous years Revenue received where the performance obligation will be fulfilled in the future is clossified as deferred income or

contract habilities and disclosed in Note 14

All trading actiity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there 1s therefore ne secondary reporting format by gecgraphical
segment There 15 no single customer that dccounts for more that 10% of the Group’s revenue (2022 none}

2023 2022
_Operating profit / (foss) . . . £m ; £m
Callechons 59 &5.6
Resources & Energy 353 175
Specialist Services 127 (19Mm
Gravp Business Function - S _Aaun (715
Total L o 87 (35
2023 2022
Depreciation Amaortisation Tofal Depreciation  Amortisation Totaf
Deprecigtion and Amortisation £Em £m £m £m £m Em
Coliections 63.6 52 8.8 558 45 60.3
Resotrces & Enargy 323 227 55.0 297 251 54.8
Sperinlist Services 8.0 0.4 8.4 62 - 6.2
_Group Business Function 4.1 10 5.1 32 11 4.3
Toinl o w8o @3 133 840 I . -
2023 2022
_ Property, planf ond equipment - net book value o £m - £m
Collections 3603 9.5
Resnlirees & Fnergy 2089 2264
Specialist Serwicas 504 50.5
Group Businass Function S S e = < S _.. 08
_Total § G546 6172
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2. Segmental information continued

2023 2022

Other intangible assets - net book value L £m £m
Collections 452 21.3
Resources & Energy &26 1218
Specalist Services - 5.4
Group Business Function 98.8 744
Total 206.6 2229
2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m £m
Collections 1234 1041
Resources & Energy 275 962
Specialist Services 1.8 16.4
Group Business Function 217 71

_ Total N ) e . 174.4 223.8

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant ond equipment including leased assets and acquisitions,

3. Finance income and charges
2023 2022
£m £m
Interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and ioans (15.8) (9.7}
Interest on lease labilities (Note 24) (10.3) (98)
Lnteresr unwind on discoutited provisions (Note 18) (3.3} (2.8)
Interesy on forward confrocts L ) L . (0.1 (0.1)
Total finance charges (29.5) (22.4)
[nteresrt income 19 09
Net interest on the net defined benetit surplus (Note 25) 4.8 2.5
Total finance income 6.7 3.2

_ Net finance charges e Lol o A%
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4.

Profit before taxation

The following rosts / (income) have been included in arriving at the profit before taxation:

Employee costs

___.Notes . £m

Cost of nventories recognised 0 sxpense

EVP tax dispute

Provision for HMRC landfill tax engquiry

Net defined benefit surplus {income) / expense

Deprecigtion of property, plant and eguipment:

Owned assets

Right-of-use assets

Amortisation of infangible asgets
Ac quisition intangibles

Other intangibles

5 4309
12 876

25 (13

Expense / (income) relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Plant and machinery
Other

Impairments

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets

Profit on disposal of property, plont and equipment, and intangible assers

Income from gronts

Expected credit loss recognised

238
(2.2)

89 9.1
(3.3)

(2.3)

(0.2

05

428
521

296
i1

210
4.5
250
¥33)
62
(0 4]

12

During the current finoncial period an impairment of £8 7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
to o £0 4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemeouth site, In the prior period an impoirment of £25.0m was recognised i relgtion 1o
the goodwill arising from the CSG acquisition,

Operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs os detalled below:

2023

— £m

Disthibution costs 29.2
Admiistrative expenses B ~ 60.8
90.0

Operating costs

5. Employees and Directors
The avernge monthly number of persons (Including Executive Directorsy emplayed by the Group, by reporting division during the periocd,
WIS
2023 2022
o 3 Number Number
Collactions 7361 5,749
Resources & Energy 1.246 1105
Specialist Services 1,700 1,454
Groyp Business Funciion 490 436
Total o 10,836 9,744
Their aggregate remuneration comprised.
2023 2022
S S £m —.Em_
Woges and snlories 3795 3a7
Social security costs 373 N4
Qther pension costs 12.2 132
Redundaﬂcy and fermination payments 19 27
Tetal 4309 - 38610
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Directors’ remuneration
During the year, the emscluments of the 7 (2022: 9) Directors of the Group were as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m_

Aggregate emoluments 1.9 23
Company confributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.2 0
Compensation for loss of oftice 0.1 -
_Total 22 25
2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number
Are members of G money purchuse pension scheme 2 2
Exercised ophions over shares i the Company 2 -
Haod awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 Z
2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoliments 11 11
_ Company contiibutions fo money purchase pension schemes o o1 |
Total 1.2 12

In addition 1o the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under ong-term incentive
schemes.

6. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the Company and Group’s auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

2023 2022
. R I - Em £m_
Fees payuble 1o The Campany's auditor for the audit of the Company’s consolidated
annual tinaricial staterments 1.0 10
Fees payable 10 the Company’s auditor for the cudit of the Company’s subsiciaries 0.5 05
Increose in fees paid to the Company's auditor related to the audit In the priar period 0.7 -
Total qudit fees 22 15
_Audit-relared ussurance services . - b S o1
_Total audit and non-audit fees 2.3 16

Subsequent to the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, a remunerafion increase of £0.7m was agreed with the auditors for the
audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022

The other assurance services provided by the auditor related 1o agreed upon procedures and other assurance services ourtside of statutory
requirements.
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7. Taxation recognised in profit or loss
2023 2022
- R R B EM
Current tax
Current penod 0.1 02
Adjustments in respect of prior yeors R o R ¢ 1o B
L (0.9 .02
Deferrad tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 29 (?5)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.6 03
_Adiustment athibytable to changes in tox rates and lows S . 4.8 2o
o _ 2.5 (11.2)
_Total tax charge / (credit) 16 (11.0)
Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2027: 19%) of the estimoted assessoble profit for the period. The charge for the periord con be
reconciled to the profit per the consolidoted income statement os follows:
2023 2022
. . £m L Em
Loss before toxation (15.1) (28.6)
Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022: 19%) 20 (54)
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior yeals 38 03
Fxpenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.4 (02)
Super deduction 4N (56
Chonge i raie 0.6 (20
__Mon taxable income e . ~ (0.2) [N < 1 Y
_Total tax charge / (credity 1.6 (11.0)
1n addition to the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been (credited) / charged directly
O BTty
2023 2022
_Deferred tox {credit) / charge arising on: £m £m
Actuarnal gains / losses (20.6) 150
Herlging (Z4) 27
_Share based payments {a.5) ———— o
Total deferred tax (credited) / charged directly to equity {24.5) 172

The Finanece Act 2021, which prowvides for an increase in the main rate of corporation tox from 19% to 25% effective from 1 Aprit 2023, waos
enacted on 24 May 2021, As deferred tax assets and llobikties are measured ot the rates that are expected to apply in the perods of
reversal, deferred tax bolances at the halance sheet date have been calculated at the rate at which the relevant balance 1s expected to he

recovered or seftled,

8. Acguisitions
53-week period ended 31 March 2023
DJB Recycling Limited

On 1 July 2022, the Group gcquired the trade and assets of OJB Recyching Limited, o waste collection and recycling business for
consideration nf £1.7m. The business generated revenue of c.£4.7m in the 12 months prior to acquisition, employed 3t people. had a fleet of

13 vehicles and operated from 2 sites in Sheffield. Goodwill arising on the deguisition was £0 6m.

Since aogunsition to the end of the financial year, D 1B Recycling has generated revenues of £2.9m and a profit nefore tax of £0 4m. If the
acqusition had been completed an the first day of the tinancial year. Group revenues for the year would have been £1,684 3m and

operating profit for the yoar would have been £29 2m.
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8.

53-week period ended 31 March 2023 continued

Acquisitions continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited

On 2 November 2022, the Group aoguired 100% of the share capital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries. Forge

Recycling is a Leeds-based I&C collections business with 100 emiployees and 3,800 customers. Upfront net cash consideration was £14.7m,
with a further contingent sumn due post year-end, calculated by reference to the performance of the acguired business through to the end
of March 2023. The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12.1m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year Forge has generated reven
cequisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group
operating profit for the year would have been £30.4m.

ues of £5.9m and a profit before tax of £0 7m. If the
revenues for the year would have been £1,694 5m and

As af 31 March 2023, the opening halance sheet for the Forge acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement period post-

acquisition and should therefore be considered provisional

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Toral Recycling Services Limited. Total Recycling is an industrial waste
management business with 3 sites acress the North East of Englond, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash
consideration was £17.1m and Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12 0m.

In addtion to net cash consideration paid above, acquired berrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Given the timing of the acquisition the business’ contribution to the revenue and profit before tax was immaterial. The business generated
revenue of C.£15m in the 12 months prior fo acguisition. If the acquisition had been completed on the fust day of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695.2m and operating profit for the year would have been £29.8m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Total Recycling Services acguisition remains within the 12 month megsurement

period past-acquisition and should theretore be considered provisional.

The omounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and licbilities assumed are set out in the table below.

Total
DIB Forge  Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Total
R £m £m £m £m
Intangible assets 0.8 b4 5.3 125
Property, plont and equipment 0.8 2.6 8.4 118
Trade and uther receivables - 1.9 29 48
Lnvenrory - - 0.1 0l
Cash and cash equivalents - 3.4 04 4.5
Deferred tax liability o0 (22 (3.2 (56)
Trade and other payables - (2.0) (3.9) 59
Lease habilities {0.3) (14) {0.5) (2.2)
Borrowings - (0.4) (4.0 (4.4}
Total net assets 11 8.3 6.0 15.4
Goodwill 0.6 12.1 12.0 247
_Total consideration 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Satistied by:
Cash 1.4 18.1 180 375
Deferred and contingent censiderarion 03 2.3 - 26
Total consideration transferred 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 14 18.1 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideratien paid 0.3 - - 03
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired - (3.4) (0.9} (4.5
_Net cash flow arising on acquisition 1.7 14.7 171 335

Acqguisition-related costs included in adjusting items amount to £2,0m (2022

1 £9 41m). See the Appendix for further details.
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8. Acquisitions continued

52-week period ended 25 March 2022

On 31 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Syracuse Waste Limited and its subsidiaries from the Viridor Group.
Syracuse Woste Limited is a specially created entity into which Viridor hived down its collections business and certain recycling cssets in
order to enable the sale. The deal involved the transfer of approximately 21,000 existing Viridor business waste customers alongside o
network of 15 depots across the UK The acquisition is in line with the Group’s growth strategy ond complements the current operations
across the Collections and Resources & Energy divisions. The accounting on the Viridor acquisition, in dccordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, invalves a number of key judgements. The majority of these judgements were made during the year ending 25 March 2022,
but some additional adjustments have been made in the current period, as set out below

The adjustments are grouped as follows

g £2 1rm of assets within Property, plant and equipment have been impaired to £l

- Expected future capital expenditure cbhigations on the West Sussex Recycling contract hove increased, increasing the IFRIC 12
provision by £3 8m and recducing the IFRIC 12 intangible asset by £12m

" Recevables and Payables have been updated, with a net £0.6m incredse Ta working capital

. Deferred tax calculations have been updated, resulting in o £3.7m reduction in the net deferred tax liability

These adjustments have caused an increase of £28m to the goodwill ansing on acquisition

On 25 June 2021, the Group acouired the trade and assets of Green Cirrcle (Polymers) Limited in exchange for cash consideration of £5 ém
and deferred cash consideration of £3.7m payable over a period of 13 years. The deferred consideration had on acquisition date fair value
of £33m Goodwill of £6 Onywas recognised on acquisition During the current period, outstanding deferred consideration of £0 3m was
setted

9. Gooedwill
Cost
As gt 25 March 2022 2898
aAdditions (Notfe 8) 247
Adjustments to prior penod acquisitions (Note B) .28
~ As at 31 March 2023 . _ } _ 3173
Accumulated impairment losses
As ot Q_EMnrr‘h 2022 _— (25.5)
_As at 31 March 2023 = (25.5)
Net book value
_As.a1 25 March 2072 _ R - 2633
As at 31 March 2023 B o ) e . 2918
2023 2022
£ e e e — e EMO L EM_
Collections 1712 158 5
Resaurces & Energy 56.5 567
Specialist Services 61.1 49.1
_Total . : . o . 291.8 26435
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9. Goodwill continued

Operating divisions
At ecch reporting period the Group reviews whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with TAS 36: Impairment ot
Assefrs. An annual impairment review 1s completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for each cperating division to its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amaunt is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 1f the recoverable

amount 15 less than the carrying omeunt, an impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying armount of the goodwill and then 1o

the assets of the eperating division.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast tive-year cash flows which are prepared based on past performance and expectations ot future performance. The
value in use is aiso determined after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter.

The pre-tax discount rates used in the value in use calculations at year end are as follows:

Collections 11.00%
Resources & Energy 10.00%

Specialist Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annual growth rate assumption for the Group's operating divisions beyond the tive-year plan period, based on market trends, after
adjustment for assumed inflation, is 3.25% (2022: 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due 1o the long-rerm nature of the business. No
reasonably foreseeable change in the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an Impairment to any of the

operating divisions.

Company Shop Group
Specialist Services goodwill includes £40.6m (2022: £40.6m) attnibutable to CSG. The valuation of the goodwil! allocated to CSG has
headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financicl year. The pre-tax discount rate used in the value in use calculation was 10,75%, An increase
In the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis points would reduce headroom 1o nil. The long term compounded annual growth rate used wos
3.25%. A reduction of S87 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would reduce headroon fo nil. The average gross
profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profit margin would reduce headroom to nil.

10.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill IT Customer concession
gas rights  development Brands contracts agreements Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
As ot 26 March 2021 190.2 83 452 824 - 326.1
Acguired Through business combination - - 0.3 312 375 69.0
Additions - 2.1 - - - 2.1
_Disposals - (16) - - - (1.6)
As at 25 March 2022 190,2 8.8 45.5 113.6 37.5 395.6
Acguired through business comuination - - - 12.5 - 125
Adjustrments to prior period acquisitions {Note 8) - - - - (1.2) (1.2)
Additions - 1.7 - - - 1.7
Disposals o o 40) (1.3} (45.7) - (51.0)
As ot 31 March 2023 190.2 6.5 44.2 80.4 36.3 357.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As af 26 March 2021 (89.8) (37} (L2 (489 - (143.6)
Amortisation charge for the period (20.1) [49)) (0.3 (7.2) (2.0) (30.7)
Disposals - 1.6 - - - 1.6
As at 25 Morch 2022 (109.9) (3.2) (1.5} (56.1) (2.0) (172.7)
Amortisation charge for the period (18.8) (1) - (6.4) (31 (29 %)
Disposals - 4.0 13 45./ - 510
As at 31 March 2023 (128.7) (0.2) (0.2) (16.8) (5.1) (151.0)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 o 018 83 44.0 63.6 51.2 206.8
As af 25 Morch 2022 803 5.6 44.0 575 355 2229
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10.  Other intangible assets continued

During the year, the Group undertook o review of our fixed osset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business,
Disposals of ntangible assets in the current year with a gross cost and accumulated amortisation and impairment of £51.0m relate to this

review,

The Group holds intangible assets relating to the Landfill Gas ('LFG') business, The LFG business geherdtes some of 1ts income via the
production of Renewable Obligation Certificates (‘'ROCS’). These are “green energy certificates” which ore issued to operators of
uccredited renewable generating stations for the eligible renewable electricity that they generate. ROCs are then sold on o energy
providers for which the Group recognises revenue on sales. The ROCs scheme lasts for 20 yeors and the majonity of landfill gas sites will
so0 their ROCs scheme terminate in financial yeor 2027, At this point, the revenue and profit profile of the LFG division will change
significantly. The Group recognised amortisation of £18 8m on LFG sites during the financial year (2022: £20.1m).

All amortisatian charges are recognised in profit or loss. Inchuided within IT development costs ore internally generoted assets with a net
book value of £3 2m (2027 £3 4m). The amortisation charge in relation to these ossets was £0 6m (2072: £0 6m).

Given the significant investment 10 technology and 1T development, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each year and impairs where necessary those that are superseded by new technology. The key estimate underpinning the value in use for
IT projects is forecast costs.

IFRS 3 requires that on acquisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair value. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then, 1t remains a highly recognisable brond. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset to have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsider the valuation of the brand at each reporting date. The recognition of
brand and landfill gas rights as intangible assets mitially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by Wastehaldeo 1in 2008, The values were subsequently remeasured following the restricturing of the Group in 2013

11.  Property, plant and equipment

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles ond under
buildings Sites! equipment construction Total
R £m fm £m £m £m
Cost
As a1 26 Mareh 2021 2677 G3.4 4183 26.2 8035 A
Acquired through business comhinahon 19.8 - el=l) - 490
Adjusiment ta prior penod acguishons 14 - - - 1.4
Additions 125 51 7654 83 1023
Disposals (9.5) [(ORS] (364) - (46
Transferst - 11 283 . (28 3 "]7.1__'
As at 25 March 2022 2919 99.5 515.8 6.2 9134
a¢guired throigh business compinotion 29 - 79 - 18
Adjustments to prior period acnuisitions (Note 8] - - (2.1y - (2.1
Arldihons 175 29 atll 702 1517
Disposals {47.5) - {244 33 - (291.8)
Transfers e 2 3 (365) A
As ot 31 March 2023 265.2 100.2 3755 39.9 780.8
1 Vanghll iter nch de £5am 2022 S3 8miinelatnn 15 f ture ecorerar benefit to he derved g5 o esult of actively fulfilling efter core aokaations thas ve Gt n gas

c=nagrn L anabill o re traesfers inclide £2 2m 2027 LMY relanior o the hiture eronamice beretit 4o ke det yed o5 2 result af artively flfiling after Cove orlicatinns thae

ranilts i Aas gerai ot When the oblgotar recooniced 05 0 Grovision g vas eceess e fhibre e oennic kenshits an usset i property, plont ond eonipmen® ©oecnomnng

g es e the areasens anung from resserd estimetea shat relote fo e nsset ore cecorded as adiestments 1 the cammygng valie of the asse” when the oo gireg s eslus of the

AAsset I8 reaative thens e slnsgified 10 provsines
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11.  Property, plant and equipment continued

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites? equipment construction Total
. 7 £m £m £&m £m £m
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (53.3) (56.5) (132.8) (L (243.4)
Depreciation charge for the period (20.4) 4.7 {69.8) - (949
Dispesals 6.0 - 36.1 - 421
As at 25 March 2022 (67.7) (61.0) (166.5) (1.0} (296.2)
Depreciatton charge for the period (19.9) (4.6) (835) - (108.0)
Impairment charge for the period - - [SRY - (G2
Disposals 45.2 - 2419 - 2871
_Asat 31 March 2023 o (42.4) (65.6) (17.2) 1.0 Qe
Net book value B
As at 31 March 2023 222.8 34.6 358.3 38.9 654.6
As at 25 March 2022 22472 385 3493 5.2 6177
] Landbill sites neludes £59¥m 2022 £8 8m) nrelotion to tature econonie benetit 1o Le dernved @5 o result ot actively flfilling afrer-care wohgutions that reuults i gos

genenatron Lang il sife Transters mciude £2 2m (2UZ2 E1 Doy mvefatiar b Tne future econonne benet 20 De gernved a5 G result uf ucireely tult e g atter-cae obiigatians e
1esults i1 gus gereration When e vbligaton recoymesed us g provision geves docess To furure e anunie Denehts, an esset i propei ty, plunt und equipient s recognised
Crnges 11 the provimon atiamyg tront revised estenates that relufe to the uaset are recorded as odjusTimernits 1o the Lannying vadue of the usse™ wWhet The carrying value of the

assel s NegUuTive, these are cassifled Tu provisians

Assets corresponding to the Poplars Anaerobic Digestion Piant with ¢ tetal net book value of £9.1m were impaired fo £n1l during the year

due fo its perfarmance being weaker than expected.

During the yeat, the Group undertook a review of cur fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of property, plant end equipment 1n the current year with a gross cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment of

£281 8m relate 1o this review.

In addition, further assets were disposed of in return for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buildings with a nef book value of
£2.3m and vehicles and equiprment with a net book value of £2.4m. Total proceeds of £7.0m were received (2022 £6.9m), of which £5 2m
was cash, leading to the recognition of a gain on disposal ot tixed assets of £2.3m (2022 £6.2m).

Land and buildings and landfill sites at net book value comprise:

2023 2022

Land and Landfill Land and Landfill

buildings sites buildings sites

, _Em £m Em ~  gm

Freehold - - 42.0 125 428 135
Long leasehold 652 143 587 16.0
_ Short leasehold ~ o 115.6 8 1227 9.0
2228 346 2242 585

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment

amounting 1o £49.6m (2022: £12.5m}.
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11.  Property, plant and equipment continued

Right-of-use assets
The Group records its night-ot-use assets within property, plant and equipment. The Group teases assets including buildings and plant and
equipment

The average lease term is 14 8 years (2022: 12.8 years). The Group has options to purchase certgin plant and equipment for a nominal
amount ot the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases

The carrying amount of the Group’s total right-of-use ossets included within Property, plant and equipment are as tollows.

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
Carrying amount _ £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 1726 1234 2960
Acguired through business combination 137 36 172
Aclditions B2 203 285
Deprecigtion charge for the period (171 (340 [ ReD]
Disposals 1.8 0z 20
Lerse madificotions o7 - 07
As ot 25 March 2022 o 1791 113.5 2926
Acqured through business combination 0.1 2.1 2.2
Additions 11.0 52.1 631
Depreciation charge for the pericd (17.63 {(3R.2) (55.8)
Dispasals [(0A)] (0 a) {(15)
Lense modifirations 56 - 56
Transferred 1o owned cassets (20 1Y 3b (17.1)
_As ot 3_1 March 2(-.1—2_.;:—‘u“4 156.6 132.5 h 289.1
Net book value T -
As ot 31 March 2023 156.6 132.5 289.1
As ar 25 March 2022 176.1 113.5 2976
12.  Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Raw materials ond consumahles 32 2.3
JFunshedgoeds e L %03 L 320.
435 352

Loventones are stated at the lower of cost and nef realisable volue Inventories consumed in the pericd ended 31 March 2023 were £87.6m
{2022: £68.3m). Inventory wnitten down in the period totalied £nil (2022 £ni). Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period
were £rul (2022: £rily.

Ar the end of the financial yeor £3.8m (2022: £4 2m) of inventory held by the Group reloted to CSG.
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13. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022
_ Amounts falling due within one year . ) £m £m
Trade receivables 1835 /80
Less expected credit loss gllowarnice (6.3) (5.8
Trade receivables - net 177.2 172.2
Qther debtors 11.5 53
Prepayments 259 30.0
_Prepoid landfilf provision expenditure L 33 01
2179 207.6

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

Al amounts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year, Trade receivables are non-inferest bearing Due 1o ther short
raturities, the fawr value of frude and other receivables approxinates 1o their book value. The average credy period taken on mvoices was 38 days
(2022 35 days).

Included within Other debtors is £6.1m related 1o the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland. Refer 1o Note 34 for turther information.

Included in the Group’s trade receivibles balances are debts with a coreying amount of £32.5m (2022 £16.2m) which are past due at the reporting
date, representing 18% of the toral balance (2022 9%)

Credit lirmuts for new customers are assigned based on the customer’s credit quality. An external credit scoring system is used before assigming any
credit it over £500. Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly. The trade receivables balance consists of a large number ot
customer balances, in excess of 82,000, represented lorgely by local account customers, and there is no significant concentrarion of credir risk,

The Group writes off a frade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there 1s no realistic
prospett of recovery, for example when a customer enters haudation. The following table detals the risk profile of Trade 1eceivables As The Group's
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly ditferent loss potterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowarnice
bused on past due status 1s not distinguished between type of customer.

. 2025 2072
Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime
credit loss expected credit loss expected
rate credit loss rate credit loss
Trade receivables - days past due % £m Yo £m
1 to 30 days 1.0% 34 1.0% 27
31 to 60 doys 1.0% 03 1.0% 0.5
&1 to 90 days 1.0% 03 1.0% 0.3
Cver 90 days 50.0% 2.3 50 0% 23
&3 o 58

The allowance for expected credit loss (‘ECL™) includes individually impaired trade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liguidanon
or are the subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying cmount of these frade receivables ond the
present value of any expected recoveries. Expected credit losses are recognised in accordunce with the simplified cpproach set out in IFRS 9

2023 2022
Movement in expected credit Joss R £m . Em_
Balance or the beginming of the perigd 58 4.6
Impairment losses recognised in the period 5.4 14
Armounts recovered during the period (3.9) 1.U
Aimounts written off as uncollectable {1.0) (1.2}
Balance af the end of the period 6.3 5.8
Long-term receivables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Funds on long-term deposit o 25 23
25 2.3

No expected credit foss has beenh tecognised for long-term receivatles on the bosis that the counterparties are A-rated financial nstitutions
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14, Assets and Liabilities related to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets

2023 2022
e £Em Em
Cunent contract assers e , B2 B
62.5 718

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the halance sheet date.
Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounts are agreed by the custamer. On most cantracts, certificates and
agreement Is by the customer on a monthly basis All contract assets held at 31 March 2023 15 expected to be invoiced and transferred to
fiade recevables within the next 12 months.

None of the contract assets af the end of the reporting penod 1s past due, and, taking into account the historical default experience and
the future prospects in the industry, the Directors consider that no contract assets are impaired,

Contract liabilities

2023 2022
e o o gm __ $m
Current contract habilities o . - 7%y (27 1y
(27.9) (27.1)

The fiming of payments received from customers, relative to the recording of revenue, can have o sighificant impact on the hiabilities
rec.aided on the Group's Statement of Financtal Position.

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned 1o when revenue is recogrised,
particularly for those contracts with revenue recogmised over time by reference fo the stage of completion Where cosh is received in
cidvance of work carned out, and therefore the revenue recognised, o contract hability arises.

The contract habilities primanly relate to the advance consideration recewved from custormers in respect of perfarmance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised Al contract habilites held at 31 March 2023 are expected
to sahisfy performance abligations in the next 12 months,

i15. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

. _ o £m B . Em

Cash gt bank and in hand a1z 40z
_ Short-term deposits 01 L0e
413 408

Deposits comprise of an msurance deposit of £0.1m (2022 £0.6m) which represents cash held as security for seif-insurance obligations,

i6. Financial instruments

2023 2022
Assets held at amaortised cost . . £m _ £m
Jaudey funed e L B @5 07
9.5 10.7

1 Copvrnt roectraests held by Boay 1asogne e Compeny Lire ted, the Grovn s < mptive ms i e comimnimy.
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16. Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments

The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9. All cash tlow hedges were
deemed to be fully effective and therefore movernents in fair value were all recognised within the hedge reserve.

The Group has entered info forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all mature within one year: these torwards will be used by the
Group to hedge Euro currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF’). The forward foreign exchange contracts have
resulted in the recognition of a derivative liability of £nil (2022; £0.2m).

The Group enters Into commodity swaps to hedge agamst future movements in fuel prices. At the end of the financial year these hedyes

were in an asset posinion of £0.5m (20272 £11.7m).

The fair value measurements of derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair value
Measurement, as they are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are cbservable for the asset or liability, either directly {i.e. as

prices) or indirectly {1.e. derived from prices).

2023 2022
Fair value Notional Fair value Notional
£Em £m £fm £m
Forward foreign exchange conracts - 53 (0.2) 63
_Commodiry hedges L ) 0.5 348 Y S A L
- 0.5 40.1 115 30.2
The table below represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on the Group’s dervative financial instruments,
__Foreign exchange nisk _ Inferest rate risk Commodity risk . Tora
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
o e £m £m £m ~ fm  £m £m £m £m
Bolance ot the begimming of the peniod a2z 03 - 27 {117 0.6 (11.5) 36
Gain / {loss) arising on changes in tair 0.2) (0.1 - 14 (0.2) (161) (04 (14 8)
value of hedging instruments during the
period
(Gam) / loss reclassified To praoiit or loss - - - - (41 - - - (4.1)
forecast transaction no longer expected to
occur
Cumulative (gain) / loss ransterred 1o - - - - 114 38 11.4 5.8
initial carrying amount of hedged items L
_Balance at the end of the period B - 0.2 - 0.5) (1.7 (0.5)  (118)
Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Privare placements and bank loans 4185 6304
EVP preference lability - 143 _ 143
432.8 644.%
B 2023 o 2022
Book Average Book Average
value  interest rote value  interest rate
£m % £&m %
Current
Private placements and bank lpans 3450 2.6% - .
EVP preterence instrument 6.3 - - -
- 3513 o - A
Non-current
Privare placements and bank loons - - 354.0 2.8%
Parent compuany loan 735 8 3% - -
EVP preference instrument 8.0 - 14.3 -
B81.5 368.3
Total borrowings _ 432.8 3683
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16. Financial instruments continued

Borrowings continlled

Refer to Note 23 for the cashflow mavement on borrowings during the current and prior financial periods.

The Group repand 1ts Revalving Credit Focility (RCF™) during the year, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bidco Linuted.

The private placements have been clossified as current because they were terminated on 23 May 2023

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPO lenders were 1ssued with preference share capital in Wasteholdeo 1 Limited in exchange
for setlenyent of amaounts due ta them The associated liability 1s £14.3m,

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost and the EVP preference liability is measured at fair value. All financiol assets and financial

habilities have been classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy os defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurernent

Interest rates on borrowings

2023 2022
Principal Average Principal Averuge
amount interest rate amount interest rate
B £m % £m . %
Term fnrihlfy - - 9.0 32
Parent company loan 735 8.5% - -
Private plgcement - £150 Om 150.0 2. 7% 150.0 27%
Private placement - £195.0im e R s 2h% 1950 e 23%
L o 41B.5 3540
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
2023 B 022
Book value Fair value Bocok value Fair value
e L Notes £m __Em gm__ m
Financial ossets
Trade and ofher receivables! 13 177.2 1772 1722 1722
Fimancal gsset arising nn hguidity fund 95 9.5 10.7 07
Financial gsset arising from [FRIC {2 29 43 43 4.0 4.0
binanciol geset arising from capitalisation of borrowing fees - - 1.0 10
Financial asset arising fiom mvestment in Lavejunk fimited 0.6 0.b 0.6 06
Fundgs oh Inneg-term deposit 13 2.5 25 2% 2%
Loans to joint ventures and associates 202 2012 144 145
Dersvative finoncial instrument 09 09 17 11.7
Lash and cash equivilents R BRI 0 SN 3 2 408 108
) o _ 256.5 256.5 257.6 257.6
Financial liabilities
Erivate plocements and hank loans” (345.0) (306 ) (3540 (3374
Prrent company loan (7357 {735} - -
tease lichihities 24 (283 ) (2835} (276 %) (276%)
EVP preforence Latiliry 29 (14 3 (14 %y (14 3 f14 3
Trade and nther payables” 17 (305.4) (305.6} (78613 (286.7)
Deferred and contingent cansideration (59 (59 (/7) (7.2)
_Deratie finonoal msument 04 ©s_ 09 0z
777777777777 e (1,028.2) (989.2) (938.7) (9221)
Net financigl labilities arLn 7327y (681.1) _ (664.5)

L Tean= apned ther eescgbles exclires preayeents gina other debptos

Trade el ataal poyables axclides continuent liriities, detersd meame, fosar on aned sooal cecnnty ghcd Stase oon faoacnl bolliteag

z Presgtes o sviemts rne Lees e o loctes £195 0 grean lnan olles ns the launch of s Soeramanibty Dinked Fironee Framewenk m he oo sndea 25 Mo 2822 That oo

ke b v by pestfottneer poiarnete reducing ©cope 1 ana 2 GG emisanns by 500 by 2030 and tripheg B e Polvmers plrastion racgr lees Faer by iy 2125

1 Lrmee fame s Ten costs af £100 w vired o the or gat en o the posere phecements, b been smttes off darn the year

The far valies of non-derivative financial gssets and fiobilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current

market rates for sinvler nstruments
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16. Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose It 1o a variety of financial risks: marke? risk (including capital risk managernent, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency nsk and price nsk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk manogement programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using o number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidoted statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strategy 1s appropriate and etfective,

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s inferest-bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at fioating rates. The Group’s income ond
operating cosh flows are substunticlly independent of changes in market inferest rates. The Group’s mterest rate risk arises from long-rerm
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cush flow interest rate risk. Group policy is fo maintain an
appropriate proportion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

2023 2022
Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - 9.0
Fixed rate 7020 6213
Non-interest bearing
EVP preference instrument 143 14.5
_Other financial fiabilities . e 3115 2939
1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate tinancial ligbilities relate to lease liabilities. Non-interest bearing finencial liabilities comprise frade payables.

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating tate - cash and cash eguvalents 413 40.8
Floating rate - other 2.5 23
Fixed rate 2072 -
Non-interest bearing
Liguidity fund 95 6.9
Other fingncial gssets 182.1 1921
255.6 245.%

The interest on fixed rate financial nstruments is fixed untl rhe maturity of the investment. The interest on floating rate financiad
instruments 1s reset at inter vals of less than one year. The ather financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in the
above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are exposed to fair vatue interest rate risk and floating rate finanuial
assets and liabilities to cash tlow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group Is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures primarily related o the disposal of ROF via export to Europe. The
Group enters inte forward contracts to purchase Eulos based upon expected costs. These denvatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk, but is exposed to commodity price risks on its outputs. The
commodities that the Group is exposed to are fuel, electricity, paper, glass, cardboard, steel, alumirum and plastics {including HDPE and
PET). The price risk associated with commodities is considered to be in the ordinary course of business for the Group.
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14, Financial instruments continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is manoged on o Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cosh and cash equivalents, dervative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and finoncicl institutions, s well as credit exposures to customers, including cutstanding recervables, For banks
and finoncial institutions, only independently roted parties with o minimum roting of A are accepted.

Management does not expect any significant lesses of receivables that have hot been provided for as shown in Note 13

The careying cimount of financial assets recorded in the financial information, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group's
maximum exposiure to credit risk, These ameunts include receivable balances from local authority clients, hence are not exposed 1o
significant credit risk. Given the obove factors, the Board dogs not consider it necessary to present a detailed analysis of credit risk,

Liguidity risk
The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into account

the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cash flow of the Group's
finoncial assets and liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2023 .
Due between  Due between Due five .
Due within ane and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond Total
. £m fm £m £m _ Em_
Non-derivative financiol liabjlities
Baorrowings' (345.0) - - (735) (418.5%)
Lease habllities {55.1) (41.6) (749 (1119 (7R35)
Trade and other payahles (300.0) (41) {12 (03 (305.6)
Deferred ond contingent cansideration [EX))] (0.3 09y (L&) 59
EVP hability 16.3) (8.0 - - {14 %)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and rash equivalents 413 - - - 413
tiguichty fund 95 - - - 9.5
 Mrade and other receivables 177.2 - - I T2 2
R e ol — (4815 @ 40y _ (70)  _ (A8L®H (7998
b Ao dare ed the Garogps's bt peoame o feson May 3024 as part ol bthe privete ploe emes s wora refiianced Ses Nate 34 far further setaids
!
D . 2022
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year yedrs years beyond Total
. . £m £m £m Em £m
Non-derivative finoncial liabilities
Borrowings - - (9.0) (345.0) (354 0y
Lease liabilities (53.8) (43.1) (69 4) (1t0.0) (274 3)
Trarde uncd ather poyobles (2B6.7) - - - (2867,
Deferred and contingent consideration (4.2) (0.3) (08} 1, 7N
EYP liablity - - (14 33 - (14 %)
Nan-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 408 - - - 408
Ligenchny finrd 107 - - - 07
_Twdnand other recevables _ 1772 = T - 122
e o (121.0) {43.4) (93.5) (456.9)  (714.B)
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17.  Trade and other payables

2023 2022
. £m £m
Current
Trode poyables 2249 2087
Taxation and social security 49.2 540
Interest payable 1o 18
Accruals 718 756
Other payables . . 18 o 06
o e . 349.2 340.7
Non-current
Trade and other payobles 5.6 0.6
R 5.6 [ X:]
354.8 3413

Included within trade and other payables is £2.0m (2022; £2.5m) in relation to government grants,

The taxation and social security figure of £49.2m (2022 £54.0m) includes £0.1m (2022; £0.3m) in relation to the corporation tax creditor.

18. Provisions

Landfill
restoration HMRC
and after- Onerous IFRIC  Landfill Tax
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enquiry Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 4 March 2021 71.0 151 20.5 8.8 - - 1.0 1174
Utilised during the period (4.7} (5.8) (6 3) 02 - - (35) (20.5)
Acquired through business
compination - - 2.0 3.4 127 - 50 251
Charged to the income
statement during the period 4.6 27 4.2 15 - 170 13 313
[mpoct of real discount rafe
changes o profit or loss (0.3 - - - - - - (0.3
Unwind of discount 24 - - - 04 - - 28
Transfers from tixed assets
(Note 11) 0.9 - - - ~ - - 0.9
Transfers from trade and other
puyables T i h - - _BY -1t
As at 25 March 2022 73.9 13.0 20.4 135 131 20.0 X} 157.7
Utilised during the period (4.4) (0.4) 6.2) 0.2) L4y (3.7) (22) (18.5)
Adjustments fo prior period
acquisitions (Note 8) - - - - 38 - - 3.8
Charged fo the income
statement during the period 49 1.9 61 Q.1 - 507 09 646
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (24.8) - - - - - - (24.8)
Unwind of discounr 29 - - - Q4 - - 33
Tronsfers to fixed assets
{Note 113 (2.2 - - - - - - (2.2)
Transfers from trade and other
receivables 33 - - - - - - 33
Transfers from /(to) trade and
other payables - g3 - - - (EX0) - (27}
As at 31 March 2023 53.6 148 203 13.4 15.9 64.0 2.5 1845
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18. Provisions continued I

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as foliows:

2023 2022

L o . . - SO fm c Em

Current T 200 203

Nan-current 164.5 o 1374
1845 1577 ,

Landfilt restoration and after-care
As part of its normal activities, the Group undertakes to restore its landfill sites and to maintain the sites and confrol leachate ond
methane emissions from the sites, A provision 1s made for these anticipated costs. A number of estimare uncertainties affect the
calculation, including the impact of regulation, cimete change, accuracy of site surveys, fransportation costs, and changes in the recl
discount rate The provision incorporates our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of
these estimales could materially impact the calculation of the provision Restoration costs are incurred as each site 15 filled and in the
period immediately after its closure Maintenance and leachate and methane control casts are incurred as each site s filled and for a
number of years post dosure Aftar-care costs are incurred for a number of years post closure This period can vary significantly from site
to site, depending upan the types of waste landfilled, the speed ot which it decomposes, the way the site is engineered and the regulatory
requirements specific o the aite

Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relate Yo
property, plant and eguipment are recognised within the income statement The associaied outflows are estimated to arise over o perind
of up 10 60 years depending on the date of each site closure. In determining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure reguired to
settle the obligation are inflated using longer-term inflation rates, and discounted using the nominal discount rate as explained in the
‘discounting of provisions’ section below,

Insurance
The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to six vears from the bolance sheet date The Tnsurance provision includes self
insurance by the Group on both tow and high value items

Onerous contracts

The Group recogmses anaraus contract provisions for any unavoidable net [nsses arising from cantracts. The Group reviews its onerois rontrod! i
provistens at each reporting dete and whenever there is a material change in management's expectations of the confract At the end of the

fincineial yeor the Groug held onerous contract provisions i relation 1o the fallowing controcts

- Fpping Forest District Council (<2 years remaming)

South Oxfordshire & Vale (<2 years remaining)
- Letcaster City Connel (<6 years remaining)
The future cash inflows from these onerous contracts are relatively predictable as they are fixed ond based on the terms of the continct However,
the costs assaciated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future cash outfiows is considered o significant estimate when
madelling the future net rash outflows on onerous contract provisions,

Dilapidaticns
Dilagidations arse on leased items where the Graup has an obligotion to return these items to their onginal condition as at the lease inceprion.

IFRIC 12

The TFRIC 17 prowision represents the future capital expenditure on reverting assets on the west Sussex Recycling contract. This contract was
aropired as part of the Vindor acauisition and o provsion of £12 7m was initially recognised on the acquisiion npening balanc e sheet in the prior
perioc A subsequent remeasurement axercise resulted in the provision nn the opening balance sheet being increased by £3 8m i the current year
The pravision 1s discounted over the duration of the contract ferm.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As sot nut in Note 1, Biffa Waoste Services Limited (' BWSL) 15 currently the subject of an enguiry by HMRC regarding certam aspects of its Landfill
Tax comphance Cthe Enquiry'y, as part of concerns HMRE has primarily relatmg to the interpretation of the nualifying fines regme set out in LFT1
HMRC also raised conceens, based on 1ts analysis of BWSL's data. over the potential zonduct of BWSL and specific customers, which may hove led
1o the meortect rate of Landfill Tax being pad

In Biffa's view, and based on advice received to date, there are a range of passible outcomes to the Enquiry and it 1s difficult to accurotely
ascertain the guantum or timing of any potential hability with certainty or precision Whilst Biffa believes it has a strong case, there remains
signficant uncertainty iy the ultimate outcome and a provision has been recogrised for L64m. including assaciated costs and interest, which
addresses the range of matters arising from the £377m of protective assessments received o date and the further estimares of lighiliry shared by
HMRE i the context of withaut prejudice settlement discussions disclased 1n Note 1 excluding the element we consider to be a contingent iobility
riscinsed in Mote 27

The sstirmate assumes that any possible penalty that could be levied waould be suspended and aceordingly has not beanecognised Payment would
not be required at the e of the suspension period providing the relevant conditions dre met
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18. Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relate to legul fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions
Long-term prowvisions included in landfill restoration and after-care have been inflated and discounted using the below iominal rates. The
rates reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which vanes between 10 and 60 years.

Long-term provisions included in onerous contracts hove been discounted using the below nominal rates,

. _Inflation rate

___Discount rate_

Period of obiigation 2023 2022 2023 2022
5 years 2.4% 3.4% 4.9% 27%
10 years 29% 3.6% 4 8% 2.8%
20 years 3.3% 3.0% 4.9% 2.9%
30 years 3.2% 3.4% 4.6% 2 9%
60 years 3.1% 3.3% 4.4% 27%

Anincrease of 1% in the real discount rate (at current cost) would resdlt in a decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022: £16,0m). A 10% increose in cash ocutflows would result in an increased environmental provision of £5.2m (2022 £7.8m). Long-terni
after-care provisicns included in landfill restoration and after-care provisions have been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An incregse
of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m).

In arriving af the onerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale centracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash flows using a risk-tree rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by S00 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In
arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate
of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.
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19. Deferred taxation

The Tollowing are the major tox assets ond labilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period,

Temporary
difference
arising on Recognised !
property, Share- Retirement Other tax losses
ptant end baosed benefit intangible corried
equipment payments Provisions Hedging surplus Goodwill assets forward Total
S — £m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 256 23 0.8 - (21.5) 6.8 (33.7) 8.4 (11.1)
Acquired threugh business
combinahion (55 - (0 7y (96 - 7154y

Lracut J {elicrrge b the

mcome statement durng

e perod fé ne 0% 01 (4.9) na (3.3) 110 17
Chrge to other

COMprehenave Inc0nie

Aunng thepemed - - - - 122) (150 - 2 . LA
As at 25 March 2022 26.7 27 13 2.1) (41.5) 16 (4b.6) 194 (32.5)
Acryturedd threugh busine s
combinahion (253) - - - - - 3N 1561
Acljustnients to prior perod
acquisifions (Note #) 34 - - - VS - 37

(Crgey /ocreclit 1o the H
Income stestemant dureo

the penod (129 (4 162 29 (13, (=3 5.1 (24)

crecht to other

COMPrenensive i ome

_during ¥he pennd - 15 - 24 d0é - - S 215
_ Asat 31 March 2023 . 7 R 5 93 3§ 43 @Ry 225 (124)

A deferred tax liability of £.24 5m (2022 £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) Deferred
tax assefs and fiahilities are offsef when there is o legally enforceable right 1o set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities

As at 31 March 2022 the Group had unused tax losses of £106.9m (2022 £94.6m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tar
asset has been recognised In respect of £89 7m (2022: £77.4m) of these losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £172m (2022 £172m) s it 1s net considered probabile that there will be future taxable profits available in the statutory entity in
which these losses are being carried forward

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced o the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be avoilable to allow all or part of the asset 1o be
recovered.

The Group has considered the mpact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient raxable profits tincluding loss of revenue
from cessation of ROCs in 2027, the potential Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS™) in England and increased carbon taxesy in subseguent
reporting perods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in forecasts,
howeaver given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have a
material impact on the recoverahility of the deferred tax asset
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20. Share-based payments

Share-based payments charges of £2.7m (2022 £3.7m) have been charged to administrative expenses. The increased charge during the
year is due to the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acguisition, all schemes either vested early or were concelled, resulting inan

accelerated charge.

During the year the Group had one conditional share-based puyment arrangement granted to Directors and employees. The arrangement
tapsed in full on completion of the ECP acquisition. The likelihood of lapse was reflected in the reduced fab value on grant, as detailed in

the following table.

Performance Share Plan

Number of sShare price
options  Contractual at date of  Number of Expected Fair volue
originally lite grant  employees  Expected life Risk-free  per option
_ Date of grant ___granted (years) {pence) _at grant volatility (years) rate {pence)
2 July 2018 1,014,880 29 251.0 36 24Y% 2.93 0.71% 173.2
1 October 2018 218,359 29 255.0 2 24% 293 0.89% 1738
11 December 2018 18,819 2.9 192.2 1 24% 293 0.90% 114.1
1 July 2019 1,773,988 30 211.0 37 25% 30 0.54% 112.8
1 Julby 2020 2,554,948 3.0 201.0 77 27% 293 (007)% 107.7
1 June 2021 29,792 3.0 5005 1 30% 209 0.09% 174.4
14 June 2021 1,855,274 3.0 2935 41 20% 301 0.14% 187.6
4 Qctober 2022 1,051,065 3.0 409.2 26 39% 30 4.05% 345

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochastic, black-scholes and chaffe model.

The expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a share price is expected 1o fluctuate during the peried. It is calculated based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. A reconciliation of movements in the numiber of share

awards can be summarized as tollows:

Number of options

Outstanding as at

Date of grant originally granted Vested  Laopsed / forfeited 31 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,319) (194,561) -
1 October 2018 218,359 (218,359) - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18,819 - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427) -
1 July 2020 2,354,948 (2,058,878) (266,070} -
L June 2021 29,792 (29.792) - -
14 June 2021 1,855,274 (1,066,675) (788,599) -
4 Cctober 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065) -

Ihe Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and June 2021 awards vested during the year ended 31 March 2023, with the latter two vesting early due to the sale to ECP.
The 14 June 2021 award was reduced by one third for time pro-ration o reflect the early vest. The October 2022 award lapsed n full on
completion ot the sale to ECP. Given the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected to be no future

PSP awards

Sharesave Plan

in the financial year 2017 the Biffa Group taunched the Biffa Sharesave Plan to all employees with six months or more continuous
employment ot the date of the scheme lounch. The scheme 1s subject 1o HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions 1o £500. The
scheme term is tor three years and options may be exercised during the six menths after complerion of the Save As You Eurn contfract.

Since the launch of the scheme new Sharesave Plans have been launched in subsequent financial years under 1he same ferms.

There were no new options granted during the year, All Sharesave Plans ended on acguisition of the Biffa Group by ECP.
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21. Reserves

Share capital

Number _ £
As at 25 March 2072 305,908,483 3,059,085
_Shatgissues L . 2389.261 U7 2
As af 31 March 2023 509,297,744 3,092,977
Share premium
The share premium represents amounts received in excess of the nominal vakue of shares issued since PG, net of the direct costs
associated with 1ssuing those shares,
- . e EM
Ag at 25 March 2022 2476
Share 1gsi1ec _ A6
252.2

_As ot 31 March 2023

Merger reserve

The opening merger reserve of £170 3m arose on both the acquisition of Wastehaldco 1 Limited in 2008 ond a Jersey registered 'cash box'

company that factlitated an equity raise in 2020

- o Em
As at 25 March 2022 S e — 1702
_As at 31 March 2023 170.3
Hedging reserve
2023 2022
o . B £m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 9.9 (64
Faw value (toss) / gain ansing on hedging insfruments during the period (10.9) 150
Tax relating ta lems that moy be reclossified subsequently to profit orJoss 2 (27
Nrt gain on cash flow hedges in jonit ventures and nssociates (net of tax) R .2 35
Bualance at the end of the peried a2 29
22. Retained earnings
2023 2022
L R _ . L Em £m_
Bolance at the heginning of the penod 524 439
Loss for the period (16.7) (1763
Other comprehensive (Joss) 7/ income for the periad (61.9) 337
Value of employee service in respect of share option schemes (excluding NICs) 47 27
Purchase of shares w1 E8T (15) (3.4)
Deferred oy movement in share option schemes 1.5 -
Dividends pad (43
Balance ot the end of the period (35.8)

Biffa Limited / Anhual Report and Accounts 2023

78



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt

2023 2022

— . . Em £m
Net Increase in cash and cash equevalents 05 100
MNet Increase in private placements and bkank logns {64.5) (156.4)

Net (ncreose) / decregse n lease fiabilities L I v 74
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period {71.2) (139.0)
Group Net Debt ot the beginning of the period (595.8) (456 8)

_ Group Net Debt at the end of the period _ __{e670) ~ (595.8)

Analysis of Group Net Debt

2023 2022
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Lease ligbilities {283 5) (276.3)
Private placements and loans (418.5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability (6.3) (6.3)
Group Net Debt {667.0) {595.8)
EVP preference liability 6.3 63
Other fingnce instruments 9.5 10.7
Covenant basis Net Debt {651.2) (578.8}

The £6.3m EVP preference liability hos been included within Group Net Debt as it s payable to EVP preference shareholders. The remaining
£8 Om liability payable to EVP preference shareholders wilt be funded by reduced tax payments an future earnings.

The Group's leverage s caiculated on Group Net Debt as foliows:

. - ....e028 2022
Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA) 3.0x 3.1x

Adjusted EBITDA is defined and reconciled tc Operating Profit in the Appendix to the financiol statements.

Changes in ligbilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
cansolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

As ot As at
25 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 31 March
2022 cash flows ioans subsidiary leases Changes! 2023
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (276.3) 72.2 - (2.2) {68.7) (8.5) (283.5)
Private placements and loans (354 ) 134 (72.5) (4.4) - (10) (418.5)
EVP preference liability {14.3y - - - - - {14.3}
(6446) 854 (72.5) _(66)  (6BT) (9.5) (716.3)

1 Qrher chunges nicludes nrerest eaperse recogrised on lease hobilines, aisposals of leose hubilit es, and interes! accruea on loans and pnvots placerments
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23, Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities confinued

As at As at

26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 25 March

2021 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes! 2022

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Lease hobllities (28371 62.8 - (173) (319 (6.2) (276.3)

Private plocements and loons (197 &) 1911 (3450 - - (2.5) (254.0)

EVF preference liability (4763 - - - - 33.3 (14.3)
- (528.9) 2559 (345.0) (17.3) (31.9) 4.6 (644.6)

1

24. Lease liabilities

Orher charages ineludes inte et fvprase |eeogised na leese [ abilltias, dapoasals of [=nse inbilities, ane mts st fe-eped on loans and private plarements

Lease obligations are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and ofter more than 12

maonths from the reporting date, as foliows:

2023 2022
S e B EM
Current 551 538
(Men-ewerent . ; - 2284 2225
L . 2835 276.3
Undiscounted payments Present value
2023 2022 2023 2022
Lease ligbility maturity anolysis £m £m £m Em
within one year 653 677 55.1 3.8
More than one year but less than two years 55.0 49.0 416 431
Meore than two yedrs but less than five years 100.0 765 749 a9 a
After frve yeors 1786 2571 1189 Lo
889 4478 2835 2763
Less future finonce charges (115 4) (1715 - T
283.5 2763 2835 2763

The average lease tenn is 14 8 years (2022 12.8 years) For the period ended 31 March 2023, the effective botrowing rate was 4.0% (2022,

Aun

Caosts / (income) recogrised in the income statement relating to leases ond nght-of-use assets are as follows.

Depreciatinn expense on right of use assers
[nterest expanse on lease liabilities

[ncome from st-leasing right-of use assets

Expense refnting to short_term and low-value assets

Cash repayments of £72 2m (20227 £62 8m) on leases have been made in the year

2023
£m

55.8
0.3
(33}
216

2022

a1

o8
(33
5
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25.  Pension and post-refirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes
During the period the Group Incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) in relation te defined contributions schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes: Biffa Pension Scheme ('BPS"), an Unfunded Unapproved Retirernent Benetits
Scheme ('UURBSY), the Federated Pension Plan (FPP’), Prudenticl Platinum {Platinum’), tThe Kent County Council Pension Fund (the ‘Kent
Fund™), The Citrus Pension Plan- Biffa waste Services Limited Section {previously named the Vindor Somerset Section) (‘Citrus™}, the Devon
County Council Pension Fund (Devon’), the Staffordshire Pension Fund (the ‘Staffordshire Fund’) and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
(‘GMPF’) (collectively, the ‘Schemes”).

The Group Is also admitted in the Cornwalt Pension Fund (the ‘Cornwall Fund’) and Noifolk Pension Fund (the ‘Norfolk Fund’). The
contractual Terms of the commercial agreerments that admit the Group to these schemes limit the actuartal risk that the Group is exposed
to; consequently the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions In retirement and death benefirs 1o members, All the Schemes are closed to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cornwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although the BPS «s closed for the majority of members
and only o few employees with starutory protections remain in active service. The BPS makes up around 25% of the 1otal liabihry across
the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such os market (iInvestment) risk, interest rate risk, intlation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that 15 the Group. The Trustee board of the
Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to act in The best inferests of the mermnbers
of the Scheme Investment policy with regard 1o the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Scheme™ surplus or deficit. The accounting pesition 1s shown on the Group’s Consclidated
Statement of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated at the triennial actuarial assessment, s used 1o agree contributions to the
Schemes. The two measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated ar different rates and in different ways
The key colcutation difference is thaot the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scherme”
liability, whereas the accounting position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an accounting surplus that 1s fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally available
m the form of a reduction in the tuture cash confributions or as a cash refund. wWhere o surplus of a defined benefir Scheme arises or there
is potential for a surplus to arise from commurted future contributions, the right of the Trustees to prevent the Group cbtoining o refund of
that surplus 15 considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that s recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which revealed a funding surplus of £19.3m on the technical
provisions basis, a deficit of £106.9m against the solvency estimate, and a deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimare.

The Group will contribute as follows until the earlier of: i, 30 June 2025; and ii. the date on which Biffa Corporate Heldings Limited (BCHL')
and the participating employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term farget of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive quarter ends;

. the first poyment was mode during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal to £4.2m;

* the second payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2023 equal 1o £4.3m;

+  the third payment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 egual 1o £4.3m; and

* thereafter, payments wilt be made in monthly instalments of £358,333 payable on or before the last day of the month in which they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Norfolk Fund, Kent Fund, Staffordshire Fund and GMPF are all Local Government Pension Schemes, When determining

the appropriate accounting treatment for these schemes, the Group considers the extent 1o which it is exposed to actuarial risk

throughout the term of the commercial contract and olsa obligated o fund any deficit on exit of the contract.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculgted using a discount rate determined by reference to yields avallable on high-
quality AA-rated corporate bonds; in other words, from the position of being fully tunded then if the refurn on the Schemes’ assets were
helow this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addition 1o the natural inferest rate hedging provided by its investment in bonds, the Trustees also puichase denvatives to ensure that
the funding position of the Schemes are, overdll, hedged ogamst 85% of movements in long-term risk-free inferest rates and 85% of
movements in inflation expectations. No annuities or specitic mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25, Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interest risk

& decrence in the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes’ habilities: however, 1his will be partially offest by an increasa in the value of the
Srhemes” caorporate bhond ossets

Longevity risk
The present volies of the Schemes’ hobiines ore rolculoted by reference to the best eshimate of the mortality of the Schemes’ members both during
and after their employment. An Increase in the Iife expectancy of the Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes’ abilities

Inflation risk

The present values of the Schemes’ ligbilities are calculated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in deferment
and pension mcreases in paymient) which will depend on future inflation expectations. As such, an increase in the expectation of future inflation wil
nerecse the Srhemes’ labilities

The lump sum death benefits paid to dependents of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external msurance company The present value of
the obhgotion, and the related clrent service cost and post service cost, were measured using the projected umit credit method

Actuarial valuation
A ull actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 and has been updated to 31 March 2023 by o qualified independent
actuary The mdjor assumptions tused by the actuary were (in nominal terms) as follows

e o . o ! 2023 2022
Discount rate 4.9% 29%
Rate of salary increase 3.2% % 9%
Rate of inflation - RPL 31% 4.2%
Rate ot inflation - CPI 2.1% 5 que
Rate of pension increases! - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 2 5% p.a (pensioners / non pensioners) 2.0% 227 /9%
Rate of pension increases’ - RPT with floor of 0% cap of 5.0% p.a. (pensicners / non-pensioners) 2.9% 3.3% /7 B%
Rate of pension incregses' - RPT with floor of 0% cap of 6.0% p a. (pensicners / non-pensioners) 3.0% 35% / 30%
Rate of pension increases! - CPI with floor of 0% cap of 3 0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 27% 23% /21
Rate of pension increases! - CPT uncapped (pensioners / non-pensioners) 78% 33% / 30%
Longevity (years)

Expected future lifetime of a male pensioner carrently aged 65 208 217
Expected future ifetime of a female pensioner currently aged 65 229 233
Expected futire fitetime fram age 65 of a male member currently oged 45 221 225

_Expected future hfetime from age 65 of o female member currently aged 45 e —_ 245249

1 e e of Ay Gracienmecd Mimsoeny Peancaan [GHP

The nssets in the Schemes wera:

2023 o 2022

O VO o &m % _ EM_ %
Bty 82.4 18.5% 1074 17 1%
Bonds 3.0 1.8% i0.8
Properhies and infrastructure 180 4 1% 225
Herge funds 721 16 2% 120
L DI investments - BPS 164.2 37.0% 3014
Other . S . S~ I | L S

o o S v _ 683

_ Actual return on plan assets (176.3) 9.4

The fenr valie of the above geset classes are determined based on quoted ('bid") market prices Virtually ali equity and debt instrements have
queted prices in active markets Dervatives are classified as Level 2 nstruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 nstriments under TFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement. It 1s the policy of the Schemes 1o use hedge funds and lability driven investments to hedge <ome of their exposure
mterest rate and nflahon risks This pohcy has bean implemented during the corrent and prior years,

The kev source of pstirnation uncertanty relates o the valuation of the property pertfolio, where o valighon is nbtained annually from
professionally auahfied external valuers The evidence to support these property valuations is based pnmarly on recent, competable market
transnctions on an armis length bosis However the assumptions applhed are inherently subjective and so qre subject 10 a degree of uncertainty

Anincrease i the proper ty valuntion of 10% would increase pension assets by £18m Anincrease i the valuation of fraded assets of 10% would
Inrrease pensIon Agsets by £ 16 7m
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued
Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022
. _ . &m_ . gm
Benetit cbligation at the beginning of the period 470.6 5258
Service cost 24 25
Interest cost 13.5 104
Contribunocns by scheme participants 04 0.5
Net remeasurement gains - financial (1422) (56 2)
Net rerneasurement gains - demographic (4.2) (43)
Net remeasurement losses - experience 176 1.0
Newly recognised schemes - 18
Benefits poid {18.2) (le48)
Past service ¢osts - 0.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the pericd 539.9 4708
Reconciliotion of movements in the fair value of Schemes’ ossats
2023 2022
. ~ Em_ o Em
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the beginning of the period 6283 6216
Interest ncoine oh Scheme’s assers 18.1 124
Return on assers. excluding interest income (194.3) 3.0y
Other experience 17 -
Contributions by employers 10.2 57
Contibunons by Scheme’s participants 0.4 u3
Newly recognised schemes - 9.3
Benefits paid (18.2) (168)
Scheme administrative cos! - o o oy
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 628.3
Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in the period
2023 2022
- . ~ . . £m
Current service cost 24 26
Past service ¢ost - 0.1
Administrative cost 19 1.2
Service cost adjustment n respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.8) (1.1)
Net inferest on the defined benehit surplus (4.8) (2.3
Components of defined benefit (gain) / cost recognised in the income statement (1.3) 0.5
Return on Scheme’s assets (excluding amounts in net interest expense) 1942 30
Actuarial gain lass from changes in financial ossumgptions (14223 (56.2)
Actuanal goin from changes in demograghic assumptions (4.2) (4.3)
Actuarnial loss from changes in experience assumptions 159 10
Movemnent in asset celling (C.4) 31
Newly recognised schemes - (1.5
GMPF Adnussion agreement 19.2 6.0
Components of defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in other comprehensive income 825 (48.7)
Total defined benefit cost / {gain) recognised in total comprehensive income 81.2 (48.2)

The current service cost 1s included in operating costs in the income statement. The net interest expense is included within finance charges

in the income statement. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comptehensive income.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actuarial valuation continued
The amount included in the consalidated stotement of financial position orising from the Group's obligotion in respect of its defined
benefit Schemes is as follows:

2023 2022

em gm_
Present value of funded defined henefit obligation (339.9) (470 6)
Fair vidue of funded Scheme’s assets 4442 6283
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benefit [GR)] 43
_Adjustment i respect of GMPF agreement (5.2) 127
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 95.1 166.1

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected future inflation
and mortality The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasanably poassible changes in the assumptions occursing
at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

Tf the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022 £104.6m).
TF the infighion assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit gsset would decreose by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m).
1t the life expectancy ncreases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrecse by £3.4m (2022 £14.9m)

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unikely
thot the chonge in ossumphons would nccur i isalation of ene onother

Furthermare, in presenting the ahove sensitivity analysis, the present volue of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which 1s the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefif
obligation lability recognised in the statement of financial position

The Schemes' participating employers are Biffa waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, 8iffa Environmental Municipal Services
limited, Biffa | eicester | imited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidianes fund the cost of any protected members’ future accrual
{toy the extent that any protected mambers remain working for each of these companies) eamed on a yearly basis.

Protected members pay o range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionable salory. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
above entities of the Group These contributions are agreed botween BCHL (the Pnncipal Employer) and the Trustees of the Schemes
following each friennial valuation of the Schemes

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes’ liabilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the friennial valuetion,
hut sorme gsset out performance is allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers
Additional lisbilities stermming from past service due to augmentation of benefits are added fo the Schemes” deficit

The average duration of the benefit obligation ot 31 March 2023 1s approximately 18 years (2022: 19 years).

The Group expacts 1o Make a confribution of £6.0m to the Schemes during the financial year 1o 29 March 2024,

26. Related party transactions
There have been no materic! related porty transactions with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nily except for key
management compensation as set out in Note 5,

During the vear 10 31 March 2023, the Groun invested £11 7m ¢2022: £174m) in Proftos ERF Lid and Newhurst ERF Limited The Group issued
further loan notes of £4 7m (2022 £7 5m) during the period and accrued unpaid interest income of £1 2m (2022: £0 8m), As at 31 March
2023 the Grotp recognised outstanding loan recevable balances due from Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Ltd of £20.2m (2022

14 3m). Both parties can redeem the notes at any time. The annual rate of interest on the notes is 8%. This whole balance remained
outstanding at year end None of the amount is deemed to be uncollectable and no expenses have been tecognised duning the period in
respect of bod or doubtfnl debts in this regard.

No Directors held any materiol interest in any contract with the Company or the Graup in the year to 31 March 2023 or subsequent period,
The Group has made £10.2m (2027: £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes,

During the year ta 31 March 2023, the Group rereived loans of 173.5m from its parent company, Biffa Bidce Limited. The loan proceeds
were used ta repay the Group RCF Interest accrues on the outstanding lnan balance at 8.3%

There are no additional related party transactions to disclose,
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27. Contingent liabilities

Bonds

The Group must safisfy envirenmental agency financial security requirements in order 1o ensure that it s able to discharge the obligations
in landfilt site licences and permits. The Group meets these financial security requirements by providing tinancial security bonds The
amount of tinancial security which is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatory agencies, as is the method by which
assurance is provided The Group has cutstanding beond arrangerments in England and Wales of approximately £96 3m (2022 £86 7m) tor
permitted waste activifies where the Group has obligations under the Environment Agency's fit and proper person test 1o make adequate
financial provision. Additionally, the Group has bonds to a value of £18.5m (2022. £16.1m) for performance of local authority and other
contracts, No liability is expected to arise in respect of these bends. The Group alse has three letrers of credit in relation to the deferred
equity confributions on Newhurst £twW and Profos EfwW amounting to £17.2m (2022: £32.2m).

Hazardous soils

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of sub-scils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not certain, however the Group has received a pratective gssessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and s included in prepayments as the Group I1s disputing this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffa Wwaste Services Limited ("BWSL") Is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Londfill Tax complianes ¢*the Enquiry’y, as part of concerns HMRC has pnimarily relating to the imterpretation of the qualitying fines
regime set cut in LFT1, HMRC also raised concerns, based on 11s analysis of BWSL's data, over the potennat conduct of BWSL and
specific customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised for £64.0m (2022: £20.0m) including associated costs and interest based on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC to date. In addition, HMRC has raised general issues about Biffa’s compliance with the gualifying fines regime set out in LFTL.
The Directors do not consider that a liability is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is freated as o contingent
liability.

BwSL's potential additional liability for Landfill Tax for the relevant period could ke up to approximately £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

For further information, please refer to the key source of estimation uncertainty disclosure relating to this raatfer in Note 1 and the
related provision disclosure in Note 18.

28. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Detaits of each of the Groyp's joint ventures and associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture or Place of incorperation and Proportion of ownership
_asseciate L Principal activity ) principal place of business interest and voting rights held
Protos Hotding Linuted Energy from waste Englond and wWales 25%
Protos ERF Linwted Energy from waste Englong and Wales 25%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited Energy from waste Englond and wWoles S0%
Newhurst ERF Lirmited £nergy from waste England and Wales SO0

summarised financicl information for each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates Is set out below Amounfs presented are prepared
in accordance with IFRS Standards.

. 2023 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

_ Statement of Financial Position i _£m £m £&m  Em
Current assets 19.8 102.1 70 529
Non-current ossets 3381 2633 2553 1858
Current licbilities .7 84) (7.4) (221)
Non-current liabilities {254 3) (297.1) (197.7) (2151
Net assets 93.9 59.9 57.2 3.5

Net assets includes,

Cash and cash equivalents 9.2 930 5.1 500
Current tinancial habidities? (9.9) £49) (5.7) (148}
Non-current financial liabilitiest (254 3 (29/1) (1977) {215.1)

1 Financial hab hfies eiclud=s tade ond other payables and wrovisions
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28. Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

2023 2022

Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

Statement of Comprehensive Income £m £m £m £m

Revenue b6 - - -

Profit 7 (Inss) for the period 2.6 (1.1 (18) 1.2y

_ Other cormprehensive imcome / {033 for the penod 25,2 285 141 L tiaay
_ Total comprehensive income / (loss) __ e 344 278 123 (15.6)

Reconciiation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the jaint venture or

associate;
- . .. 202% . . 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
. . ._._fmMm _ gm ____ _fm__ £m
Net assets 929 599 477 35
Group percentage ownership interest 50% 25% 50% 25%
Carrying omount of the Group's interest I &0 i50 _ __2®&  0F
Interest in oint venture or associate at the start of the period 286 08 115 (1.9
Additions 4.4 73 0.8 hé
Share of post-tax results i3 {0.3) (0.8) (0.3}
Share of netgoun /(ess) oncesh flow hedge 126 .12 N S B .1 )]
_Interest in joint venture or associote ot the end of the peried 469 150 86 08

29, EVP-related items

The: Group has been engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning historical Landfill Tax

HMRC claimed thot the Groug was liable for £619m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa's igndfill sites
trom 2009 1o 2012 CEVP'}). Biffe contested that the material was used in the sites far an engineering purpaose and was not therefore subject
to Landfill Tax. Notwithstanding the Group’s opimion on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 oll materials of this nature have been
subrected 10 | andfill Tax,

The matter weis herrd by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRC's favour, before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tribunal for the EVP
rase. HMRE however requested n further bearing from the Court of Appeal which took ploce in March 2021 Biffa was unsuccessful in the
hearing with the Court of Appeal and the Directors sought leave to appecl the decision to the Supreme Court In May 2022 the Group's
request of ieave 1o appeal waos refused by the Supreme Court

The contested amount was pard to HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upon its TPO in Octaber 2016, In addition to the payment
of f619m, the Group paid £17m ininterest in the period ended 24 March 2017 The Directors, having taken appropriate advice, did not
believe that a iability to tax exists and accordingly freated the payment of the tax and associated inferest as o prepayment.

As part of the TPO of the Group, arrangements were put in piace to make certsin payments to the shareholders and certain members of
smployee incentive schemes of the Group smmediately prior to its Listing, subject to and in respect of the outcome of the dispute A
financial liability of £47 6m was recognised in borrawings and an accrual of £13.0m was recognised in non-current liahilities.

with the negative outcome confirmed, in the yeor ended 25 March 2022; the £63 6m prepayment was impaired 1o £nil and a corresponding
deferred 1ax asset of £15 5m was recognised, the £47 ém financial liability was reduced to £14 3m; and the accrual was reduced to £3.5m
These nutstanding balances reflect the amounts payable o the sharehalders and certain members of employee incentive schemes of the
Graup respechively, immediateby prior to its Lishing. The net impact of these fransoctions Is o loss after tax of £5.4m in the priar neriod.

No payments were made in the year ended 31 March 2023, Subsequent to the year end date, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference
<hareholders and ex-mannagement ds explained in Note 34,

Of the outstanding kability a7 the yeor end date of £178m, £6 3m has been included within Group Net Debt, as explamed in Note 23
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has two infegrated waste management contracts that are considered to fall within the scope of IFRIC 12: Service Concession
Arrangements, These are the West Sussex County Council recycling confract (length of 29 years - awarded in 2004 and acquired by the
Group as part of the Vindor acquisition in the year ended 25 March 2022) and the Leicester City Council controct (25 years - awarded in
2003)

The concessions vary as to the extent of thelr obligations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concessian period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically of the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes To these arrangements in the pericd.

The West Sussex County Council recycling contract involves the construction and maintenance of recycling assets that will be returned to
the council at the end of the contract. This arrangement is theretore considered to be within the scope of IFRICI2. An intangible asset of
£31.2m 15 held at the year end date (2022: £35.5m) and s being amortised over the remaining life of the contract. A provision for future

capital expenditure on reverting assets of £15.9m (2022: £13.1m) has been recognised I relation to this contract as described in Note 18,

The Leicester City Council contract also folls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a finanuio] asset of £4.3m (2022: £4.0m) has been
recognised. The contract is loss making and a return to profitability 1s not expected, and as such an onerous contiact provision has been
recognised as described in Note 18,

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022; £21.9m).

31 Subsidiary undertakings

The following entities are L00% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023, All subsidiary undertakings have a financial yeor
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise noted.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Amber Engineering Limted’ England and wales waste Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Linited'  England and Wales Holding company

Barge woste Management
Lirruted!

Bitta {Corby) Limited'

Biffa (Earks Barfon) Limited!
Bitta (Jersey) Linited”

Biffa (Lond) Limited-

Bitfa (Raxby) Limited’

Biffa (UK) Holdings Linuted!
Bitta {WES) Limited’

Biffa tWest Sussex) Recycling

Larnted'
Biffo Corporate Holdings Limited'

Bifta Corporate Services Limited'

Biffa Environmental Municipal
Services Linvted!

England ond wales
England arkd Wales
England ond Wales
Jersey

Guernsey

England and Wales
England and wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England ond Waoles

England and wales

England and wales

management
waste
rncnugenk'-m

Dorrant

Cormant

Haolding conipany
waste
management
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

waste
management

Holding company

Cormant

Wwaste
F'F'IGHGQE‘I'HEHT

Biffa Group Holdings Limited-
Biffa Group Linmited'

Biffa GS (FC) Limited!

Biffa GS (LPP) Limited

Giffa GS (M&B) Limited®

Biffa G3 Environimerttal Limited’
Biffe GS Environmental Recycling

Limited!
Biffa G5 Holdings Limited'

Biffu GS UK Holdings Limited'

Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited:

Biffa Holdings Lirmited!

Biffa Leicester Limited*

Jersey

England and wales
Englund und wales
Englond and wales
England and Wules
England and wales
England and Wales
England ond wales
England and Wales
Jersey

Engtond and wales

Englond and wales

Holding compuny

Holding company

Waste
management

Waste
management

waste
managerment

\Waste
managemernt

Wwaste
managenment
Holding company
Holding compary
Dormant

Holding compuany

Wwaste
managernent

1 Registerad ol Coronution Roud, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghams me HP12 317

2 Registered ot 44 Esplanade, 5t Helier, Jersay, 174 9w
3 Registered at PO Box 119, Martello Lourt, Adminal Padk, St Pete: Port, Guernisey, GY1 3H
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Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation

Matenal Recovery Nommees

31 Subsidiary undertakings continued
Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary _ _incorporation  activity
Bifta tMunmcipal Linited! Englond and Wales Waste
manogement Limited

Biffes Netherlands BV

Riff Penaian Scheme Trustees
Lirmited!'

Biftt UK Growup Linwted!

Biffrs UK L irmitec!!

Bitfa wWoste Linmited!

Biffo waste Monagement bimitedl

Biffa Waste Services Linnted’
Biffcr West Sussev Holdeo Linited
Biffcrwest Sussex Linyted

Rrrry Insuranee Campany Limited
CAMO) Limwlerd!

Communty Shop CLE
Company Shap Holdea Linited

{ omprny Shop Himited™

ressex [nsurnnce Services

Lirrntedd’

Forge Recy g (Holdings)
Liritect**

Forge Reoychng (UK) Linmited* !
Forge Weste [imited]!

Gh Acquisthons tmwled!
G5 Equity Cor

Tslesndd Waste Setvices timitedd!

Lavelle & Sons Limitecd
Loristen Services Limitec!!

M Inseph & Son (Birrminghcim)
| rutecd!

MNetherlands
England and Weles
England and Wales
FEngland and Waies
England and wales
Fngland and wales
England und welss
Frgland and wedes
Frgland aned Wles,
Gibraltar

Fnoglond and Wwales
England ond Wales
England and Wales
Fnglond and Wiles
Foegland anrl wWales
fngland and wales
Engiand and wales
Fngland and wWoles

England and Wales
Cayman Islands
Englond and Wales

Enggland and Wales
England and wales
England and wales

Holding company
Dormant
Dormant
Dormarnt
Bormant

Waste
Management

waste
managemeont

Dormant

Waste
mcmugrmcm

Insurance
SOrvIces

Dormant

Other retal non-
specialiat

Waste
Management

Other refall non-
specialist

Dormant
Holding company

Wwaste
rmanagement

Darmant

Holding company
Holding comparny

Waste
management

Dormant
Oormant

Oormant

Nesw Star Environmental Limited’
Norwaste Limited'

O Brien Woste Recyeling Solutions
Haoldings Limited'

O'Brien Waste Recyching Selitions
Limvted!

Paplars Resource Management
Company Limited*’

Reclomation & Disposal Limrted

Richard Biffa (Reclamationy
[ mited!

RURZ Environmental Limitec!’
Simply Waoste Sclutions Limited’

Specialist Waste Recycling
Limitect

SWR smash & Giah Limited
SWRNewstar imited!
Syracuse wWaste Limited

The withnell Bric k and Terro Cotin
Company {1612) Ltd'

Trtetl Recycling Services
Limiteds

UK waste Management Holdings
Limited'

UK Waste Monogement timited'
Wastednve (Manchester} Limited

Wostedrive Limied'
Wwasteholdeo | Limitedt

Wasteholdco 2 Lirmitect:

Weir Recyclng Services Lmited!
Welr wWaste Services Limred

Wwhite Cross Limited!

Englund and Wales
England and waoles
England and wiiles
Enaland and wiles
Frglrnd and Wales,
England and Wales
Frgland and Wales
England and Wales
England and wiles
Focglond and waoles
Seatland

Fngland and wles
England ancd wWaoles
Engtlond and Wales
Ennlnng and Wales
Fnalond ond wales
Fragland and wales
England and Wales
Ergland and wales

Englend nrd wles
Terscy

Jersey

England ond wales,
Englond and Wales
Fngland and Wwales

_activity

Principal
Dormont

waste
management

Gormant
Dormant
Dormicint

Waoste
management
Dormaont

Mormaont

wasre
managentent

Dormant

Waste
managerent

Weiste
"WE)W(JQE‘H’\F nt

Dormiaint

Wweiste
management

Dormont

wiaste
monagemernt

Do mant

Wasile
managemerst

Wasie
maenagement

Dormant
Holding compriny
Holchng cormpomy

Crormant
Dyorment

Darmant

CoRmeneanl e aneeed 2 Apr | 2022

* e thy beledl oy Baffo Limated

! Do ctered At Coanne fien Bend Crasses High Wiy ambe Breckinahamsore 312 ~T4

Rl ypen o e 27 Map-h 2027

£ Ragietarsn st 4.4 Leplanoda, St Heoler | Teraoy, TE4 90
: Qeqetarad ar PO Ras 119, Mamedle Caort Acderenl 2aqk 51 P=ter Por) Serpsery (3] 34
1 Pegpetoror et Jumiter G onldirn 2nd Flonr, Henkorhe:cueng P8 110L CM Ametai-dom Tla Metlakan-s,

Pamqeteren st Fridue qoy Mancsgement Linited, Soite 23 Dortand Hense (ke s dond, Sibeattsp Gl DAa
4 Seqisteran ~twentworth wioy Tarkeraley, Bartsley, Soath Yarkshea 575 30h

; beqicterad At Intertnist Carpirnte Sery
2 Peqetsrad at Aanan Saita 10 Yoark P

oo (Crymon Lenten 1990 Elnn Avaria, Ceorae Town, Groe el Coymas boeissns
= Feinbargh Sentlanet BB S0

= Bnnng ) yeor sndedd 310 rober 2020

Suohsequent ta tha reporting dote, Loristan Services Limiterd wis dissnlven on 18 April 2023 and Foterpet Lirmited wos aceured on 25 Anril os o arloeer 11 keorte

24
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32 Controlling party

Biffa Linuted 1s a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Linvted (tormerly Bears Bideo Limited). a Company meorparated in the Uiited Kingdom, whose
registered office 1s Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wwycombe, Bucks, HPLZ 3T7 Bitfa Limuted 15 the parent company of the smallest and largest graug i which
the Company's rosults are consolidated,

On 10 July 2023, Beurs Bideo Linited changed 11s name fo Biffa Bideo Limited,

The utimate controling party 15 ECF ControlCo, LLC, registered in Deloware, United States

33, Dividends

The Board reconmends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022 6.89p) A fincd dividend of 4 69 pence per share tor the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the year,

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

On 25 April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital ot Esterpet Limited (Esterpet’), a recycler of Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) plasthic, tor
consideration of £0.7m. From s stute-of-the-art recycling facility 1n Noith Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 fonnes of plastic tlakes each year, generated
from recycled bBottles, o high-purity plastic peliets. These pellets are made inte new plastic bottles for beveraoges, cosimetics and household goods, with 1he
company's customers including some of the largest brands in the UK and Europe

Atongside the acquisition of Esterpet, the Group ocguired 49 9% of the 1ssued share capital of 11s sister company Esterform Pockaging Linvfed, g leading
ranufacturer of plastic bottles and Esterper’s largest custemer, for o consideration of £5.5m. Both investments wil form part of the Polymers business in the
Resources & Eneigy division.

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group restructured its existing debt as tollows

. The Group repaid its private ploceinents of £345.0m These were replaceo by £260.0m of private placements held within Bifta Linited
. The new notes are a mixture of 5- and 7-year notes with a weighted average bonowing rate of £.2%
. Term loans and RCF hefd by Bifta Bidco Limited, 1o which the Group has access, were increased. Term loans of £100.0m were increased 1o £235.0m and

RCF of £225.0m was Increused 1o £325.0m [nterest 15 charged at a flooting rate and other 1erms remain unchanged.

EVP Payments
1n May ond June 2023, £7 8m was paid to £vP preference shareholders and ex-management in relofion 1o the EVEP dispute disclosed in Note 29 At 31 March
2023, the total lubility was £17.8m. The remaining £10 Om 1y expected Tu be paid 1n the year ending 28 March 2025,

DRS

On 7 June 2023 1he Scothsh governmen announced thal, wiile they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme i Scollond, 1t would be delayed unnl
October 2025 af the carliest. An announcemet had been made previously on 18 Apnl 2023 that the start date of the scheme would be delayed trom Augus’
2023 to March 2024, Circulanty Scotland Limited ¢('C5L'), the scheme adnunistrator, entered adnunistration on 20 June 2023 as 11s funding was withdrawn and
wus therefore unuble To meet its controctual cbhgations ta Biffa ond other parties The Joint Admunistrators’ Proposuls wete released on 28 July 2023,
indicating that ut best Biffo would receive an immatenal portion of the total amount due from CSL

In the year ended 31 Morch 2023 the scheme made no contribution to operating profiit but the following material amourrs were held on e balance sheet ut
the vewr end date’

- Accrued ncome - £6.1m

- Property, Plani and Eguipment - £9.8m

. Right-of-use assets - £8.1m

- Lease abilities - £8.5m

in addition to the amounts recorded af 31 March 2023 the Group hod further capital commitments of approximately £39m, of which o proportion are expected
to be legsed. It 15 likely that impairments will be recogrsed on o number of assets, with the impact on FY24 Operating Protit within the range £l to £64m
The Group has various options availoble to mitigate the committed cash outflows ond lotest estimates indicate that up 1o £40m can be recovered

The onnouncement on 7 June 202315 judged to be a non-adjusting event i accordance with 1AS 10, Events arter the Repor fing Period because itis not
considered fo provide evidence ot condifions that existed at 31 March 2023, In other words there were no reliable incicutions betore 31 March 2023 That Hs
postponement would accur Theretore no aojustments corresponding to this announcement have been made 1o the 31 March 2023 financiul statements and
mstecd the appropriofe dccounting entries will be posted in the year ending 29 March 2024 onee mitigation plans are tinalised and enacted.
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company staternents are prepared under FRS 101 ond relate to the Company and not to the Group. The financial statements
are prepared under the historical cost convention.

As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
o . - Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Tnvestments 3 2551 2579
Trode and ndher tecelvables 4 L 4200 4340
} - 675.1 6919
Current assets
_ Fmonciol assets ] - - 10
e T 18
Current labilities
Trade and other payahles 7 (1.5 1183
. Borrowings e . .8 sy -
, _ e (346.5) 18
_ Net current liabilities . ~ (346.5) . (08
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings e . I - S €. 1A €))
y . - (3450)
__Met assets . 328.6 3461
Equity
Called up share capital 9 3.1 31
Shete premium 9 2522 24746
Merger resarve 95.8 958
_ Retamed eamings o (22.5) 4y
__Total equity attributable to shareholders . 32846 3460

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statemeant of
comprohensive ncome The loss of the Company for the year atinbutable to shareholders was £11.0m (2022, £8 91 loss)

The financinl statemeants were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on ifs
behalf fy

,MX.(“LLA-,
Michoel Topham

Director
Company nn 1N336040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£im £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 31 247.0 (2.9 95.8 161 359.1
Loss for the perod - - - - (8.9) (84}
Other comprehensive income - - 29 - - 29
Total comprehensive incame / (loss) for the period - - 2.9 - (8.9) (6.0)
Exercise of share options - Q.6 - - - (3.6}
Shares purchased by employee benefirs rrust - - - - (3.6) 27
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes {excluding NICs) - - - - 27 0.6
Dividends paid - - - - (6.7) (6.7)
As at 25 March 2022 31 2474 - 95.8 (0.4) 3481
Loss for The period - - - - (11.0) {(11.0)
Other comprehensive income / (ioss) ot - - - - -
Total comprehensive incame / (loss) for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Exercise of share optians - 4.6 - - - 4.6
Shares purchased by employee benetirs frust - - - - (1.5) (1.59)
Value of employee service iniespect of share option
schemes fexcluding NICs) - - - - 4.7 4.7
Dividends paid - - - - (14 3) (14.5)
As at 31 March 2023 31 252.2 - 95.8 (22.5) 328.6

In May 2020, the Company incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company in order 1o facilitate an equity raise fhe fransaction
satisfied all required conditions to obtain merger relief in accordance with section 612 of the UK Companies Act 2006 The amount within
the merger reserve relating to this equity raise is now a distributable reserve.
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1. Accounting policies

General Informaotion

The Company 15 d private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the Group The
address of the Company's registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghomshire, HP12 377 The princgpal
activity of the Campany is as holding campany far the Group. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management
services in the United Kingdom,

The Company was a public company iimited by shares until 26 January 2023 when its entire share capital was acquired by Bears Bidco
Limited, a private company limited by shares mcarporated and registered in the UK. The Campany name changed from Biffa ple to Biffa
Limited upon delisting from the London Stock Exchange on 27 Januoary 2023

Basis of preparation
These financial staterments present the results of the Company as an individugl entity and are prepared on the going concern basis, in
accordance with Finoneial Reporting Stendaord 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' ('FRS 101y and the Companies Act 2006,

The Company meets the definition of o qualifying entity under FRS 100 Applicanion of Financial Reporting Reguirements issued by the
FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101, The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently applied to all the years presented except where the
Company has elected to take the following exemptions as aliowed under FRS 101

. The requircments of 1AS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows'.

. The recuirements of paragraph 17 of 1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures' in respect of key monaogement personnel

. Requirerments of 1A5 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” to disclose transartians between wholly awned members of the Group.

. The renquirements of IFRS 7 Finanaidi Instruments Disclosures', os equivalent disclosures are provided in the consolidated financial statements
of the Graup to which the Company belongs

. The requorements of JFRS 2 'Shore-bosed Poyments’

. The requirements of paragraphs 91 10 99 of TFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurements’, as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolinated
financial statemer s
These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling (‘'GBPY) and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

The Company participates in the Group's centralised freasury and banking arrangements. The Company is expected ¢ generate positive
rash flows to continue 1o operate 0 the foreseeable future

The Company has not presented i1s own income statement or statement of comprehensive income as permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006

Critical accounting judgements and Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Company does not consider there to be any there to be any critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Investments
Investments are witiafy staterd af cost. Investments are tested for impairment when an event that micht affect asset value hos occurred

An imporment loss 15 recognised 1o the extent that the carrying amounts cannet be recovered either by selling the asset or by the
discounted future cash flows from the investment,

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution tn the Company's shareholders 1s recognised as a liahility in the Company's finoncial statements in the
periad 11 which the dividends are appraved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other receivables
Other recevables are recognised initially at fair value less any provision for expacted credit lass. They are subseguently held ar amortised
rost less any provision for expected credit loss.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabitities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the centractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractuat terms expire. The tinanciol
instruments recognised by the Company are set out below.

Trade receivables
Trade recevables are recognised initially at fair volue and subsequently at amorfised cost using the effective interest method, less
expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recogrised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liobilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the confractucl

arrangements,

Borrowings are recognised initiclly at fair value, net of fransaction costs, Any difference between the amount initially recognised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the barrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Company has an unconditionol right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivalives are initiolly recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered info and subseguently remecosured at far vatue
at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulfing gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument and, it so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Compuany designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recagnised assets or lighilities), or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a porticular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or ¢ highly probable forecast fransaction), or ©)
net investment hedge (hedges of nef investments in foreign cperations).

The Company documents the fransaction reloticnship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
at each reporting date the Compony assesses whether the derivatives used hove been highly effective in offserting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hadges.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's managernent awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject 1o vesting
conditions, The economic cost ot awarding the share options 1o its employees is recognised as an employee benefil expense in the income
statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stechastic pricing model.
The charge i1s recognised over the vesting period of the award.

2, Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022: 2), being the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Their emoluments
were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 15 18
_Company contributions fo money purchase pension schemes R 0.2 a2

Total 17 2.0
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2. Employees and Directors continued
2023 2022
_The number of Ditectors who: . _Numher  Number
Are members of a money purrhase pension scheme 2 ?
Fxercised optiohs over shares in the Company 2 -
_ Hod awards receivable in the form of shares iinder g lang-rerm incentive scheme .z _ 2.
2023 2022
Highest paid Director 3 £Em £m
Aggregate emoluments il 11
_ Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.1 01 ‘
_Total 12 12

In addition fo the above, The highest paid Director exercised share opticns in the year and hed shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

3. Investments
N o £m I
As at 26 March 2021 2564
Movements relating ta share options granted on behalf of subsidiory employeas 15
As ar 25 March 2022 237%
_Movements relating to share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees = . 28
As at 31 March 2023 . _255.1

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year ond no requirement for impairment. The Directors believe that the carrying
vailue of the Investments 1z supported by their underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Company’s {oint ventures and associates and subsidiares is given in Netes 28 and 30 of the Group financial statements.

4. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due after more than ene year £m - _Em_
_Amgunts due from subsidiary undertakings 4200 . 4340
L4200 4340

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value. The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings is unsecured, non-interest bearing ond repayabie on demand. An expecfed credif loss provision of £4 2m hds been
recogrised as af the close of the current period (2022: £4.4m3 in relation 1o the balance due from subsidiary undertakings

5. Financial assets

2023 2022
e N £m _Em
_E ol gssets . - . Lo

During the previous finonciol period the Company undertook two private placements and capitalised associated bonowing costs of £1.0m
The private placements were refinonced m May 2023 and the capitalised costs have therefore been written of f during the vear ended 31
March 2022
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6. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trode and other receivables 4200 420.0 4340 4340
Financial assets - - 1.0 10
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (1.5} {15) (18) (1.8)
Private ploctements (545.0) (3450) (345.4) {3450)
_Total financiat assets and liobilities 73.5 735 882  8BZ
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
__Amounts falling due in under one year e £m £m
Other crediftors ) - 0.5
Interest payable 15 15
e 1.5 18
All creditors are unsecured,
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
L . R £m _£m
Amounts falling due in under one year
Private olacements 3450 -
345.0 -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
_ Prvate placements e I _ QU 3450
- 345.0

The £345m private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of privare

piacermnent notes heid by Bears Bidco Limited, maturing in May 2028

9. Reserves

Refer to Note 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10. Related party transactions

There have been no material related party transactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022 £nil) except for key management

compensation as set cut in Note 5 of the Group financial statements,
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11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Biffa Limited 15 the parent company of the Group. The following UK subsichanes will take advantage of the audit exemption set ol within
Section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 31 March 2023, The undertakings listed below are 100% indirectly owned by
Biffa Limited. In accordance with Section 479¢C of the Companies Act, the Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the below UK

subsicdary undertakongs,

Name

Amber Fngineering Limited

Barge Waste Management Limited
Biffa (Corimy) Limited

Riffa (Farls Barton) Linmted

Biffa (Roxby) Limited

Biffar (UK) Holdings Limited

Biffa (WES) L imited

Riffa Corporate Hokdings Limited
Biffa Carporate Services Limiterd

Siffa Environmental Municipol Services Limited
Biffa Group Holdings (UK L imited

Riffa GS (FCY 1 imiter!

Biffa GS (LPPY Limited

Riffa GS (M&B) | imited

Bitta GS Frivironmental Limited

Bifta G5 Frvironmental Recycling | imited
Biffa S Holdings Limited

Riffa GS UK Holdings | imited

Bitfa Holdings Limited

Biffay Pension Sehetme Trustees Lirmited
Biffa UK Group Limited

Biffa UK | imited

Bitfa Woaste | imited

Biffa Waste Management Limited
Bifo West Sussex Holdeo Limited
CAMO Liumited

Company Shop Holde o Limired
Company Shop Limited

Cres<ex Insurdnce Services Limited

12.  Controlling party

Company

Number Name

1067285 Forge Recycling (Holdings) | 1d

2849409 Forge Recycling (UK) Ltd

3216850 Forge Waste Limiterd

748129 G5 Acquisitions Limited

2031961 Islond Waste Services Limited

3249158 Lavelle & Sons Limied

2729607 M Joseph & Son (Birmingharn) Limited
5656364 Material Recovery Nominees Limited
71555949 New Star Environmental Limitect

QU5800 Narwaste Limited

4081901 O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited
4800628 O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions | imited
2276396 Paoplars Rescurce Management Company Limited
1173504 Reclamotion & Disposal Limited

34466593 Richard Riffa (Reclamation) Limited
4786413 RURZ Fnvironmental Limited

4602885 Simply Waste Solutions Limited

4631832 Specialist waste Recycling | imited
1032104 SWR Smash & Grab Limited

2694166 SWRNeawstar Linwted

3650457 Syracuse Waste Limited

3650459 UK waste Management Holdings Limited
4084432 UK waste Management | imited

1138022 wastedrive (Manchester) Limited
7001231 wastedrive L imited

6524298 weir Recycling Services Limited
12215502 Weir Wasfe Services L imited

192743 White Cross Limited

4848093

Compuany
Number
11062914

07383076
4594882
7255980
1552791
1312847
440100
5186581
7306131
1041912
9560587
3342987
2630491
879315
226000
6304761
12155099
50324466
5667032
11098385
13269384
25356345
1362615
1517244
1396771
33906464
3777183
1537610

Biffai Limited 15 1 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bidco Limited), a company incorporated m the United
Kingdom, whnse registerad office 1s Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limitad is the parent company of
the snallest and largest group N which the Compony's results are consolidated.

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bidco Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidco Limited.

The ultimerte controlling party is FCP ControlCo, 11 C, registered in Celaware, United States.

13, Post balance sheet events

Cn 23 May 2023, the Company repaid £345 0m of private placements, Refer to Note 34 of the Group fimancial statements for details
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group's financial performance is analysed into three components: *Staturory Performance’, ‘Adjusted Performance’ and “Adjusting
[tems’. Adjusted performance is used as it gids comparobility of the reported financial performance year to yeor and between divisions.
Management identify a number of Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) in order to separately disclose an adjusted performance for
the Group. 1he Directors believe That the presentation of the results in this way, which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior 1o
IFRS measures, is relovant to an understanding of the Group’s performance trends, financial performance and posinon Our APMs and
KP[s are aligned to our strategy and fogether form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are
consistent with how the perfermance is planned and reported irternally fo the Board and Operating Corminittees to aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented in this Appendix fo provide o useful tool in understanding the performance of the business. It should be noted,
howoever, That these APMs may not be comparable with similarly titled measures presented by other companies. It is recommended that
APMs are viewed as supplementary information alongside the equivalent statutory measures

This Appendix hos been presented 1o help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind our use of APMs, cur
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impact of these adjusting itfems on the APMs. The Group incorme statement does not
disclose any adjusting items and has been presented as o single column showing the statutory results only. The same approach has been
adopted tor the Group statement of cash flows.

Depreciation and amortisation relates 1o the write-down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives, Amortisation of ccquisition intangibtes is disciosed separately in line with divisienal Adjusted Operating Protit.

The Group's policy Is To exclude items that are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the normal course of business or are
consistent with items that were separately disclosed in prior periods. Management utilises an exceptionat item framework that hos been
approved by the Board. This tollows a three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the finoncial materiality involved and the
particular tacts and circumstances, Ttems of inceme and expense that are considered for designation gs adjusting items include
significant acquisition-reloted costs, write-downs or impairments of non-current assets, movements on oNercLs coniract provisions ond
strategy-related and resfructuring costs.

Closest equivalent

APM statutory measure Definition N e

Net revenue Revenue Staturory revenue excluding landfill tax. Unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers to statutory revenue.
Landfill tax is exciuded os The rate is outside the Group’s control.
See table below for reconciliction

Organic Nef Revenue The increase/(decrease) in Net Revenue in the period excluding Net Revenue from acguisitions completed

revenue grawth in the period and Net Revenue trom aeguisihions completed in The phor period up 1o the anniversary of the
refevont acquis tion date, 1o the extent such Netr Revenue folls in the current peniod. Where comparative
perods differ in duration, the KPI s adjusted on a pro-rata basis.

Orgonic Net Revenue GrowTh can be expressed both as an absolute financial value and as a percentage ot
pricr pericd revenue,
Organic Net Revenue Growth is presented to demenstrate to users of the financial staterments the growth
attributed to organic growth rother than as a result of acquisitions.
See table below for reconciiation

Acquisition Nel  Revenue Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period

revenue growth from (i) acquisttions completed in the relevant period and (i) any acguisitions completed in the 12 months
prior to the relevant period up fo the 12-month anniversary of the relevant acguisimion date (o the extent
such Net Revenue fails i the current period). Acguisition Revenue Growth is calculated on the same basis,
using revenue in ploce of Ner Revenue,
Acquisition Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate the level of grawth achieved as o direct result
of the Group's acquisrtion strategy.
See table below for reconciliation

EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation, amorfisation, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted EBITDA Operafing profit Protit before depreciation and amorhisation, adiusting items, changes to landtill provisions, net finance
costs and taxagtion,
Adjusted Divisional EBITDA is stated after allocation of shaved service costs
Adjusted EBITDA 15 presented because it 1s widely used by analysts and investors to evaluate the
prafitubility of comparies, EBITDA eliminates potenhal differences in performance coused by vananions
in capitat structures, tax positions, the cost and age of tangible assets and the extent 16 which intangible
assets are idenhfiable,
See table below for reconciliation
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

APM
Adjustecd
Operating profit

Adjustad Prafir
hefore fax
Adusted Profir
for the period
Adsted Free
cash flow

Adjnsted Return
O eperering
assetrs

Adjuster] Return
on Capited
Empiayed
‘ROCEN

Group

Net Debt

Covenant Basis
Net Dehr

Group
L everage Rotio

Closest equivalent
statutory measure
QOperating profit

Profit before tax
Profit tor the period

Net cash flom
operating activines

n/a

n/a

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Pefinition

Profit before adjusting items, amortization of acquisition intangibles, impact of real discount rate
changes to londfill provisions, net finonce costs and taxation

Adjusted divisional aperating profit is stated after gilocation of shared service costs

See table below for reconciliation.

profil before tax excluding adjusting tems. amortisation of acgusition mtangibles and the impoct of
real discount rate changes to landfill provisions,

profit after tax excluding adjusting items, amartisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real
discount rate changes to landfill provisions

Net increqse/(decrease) in cash and cosh enuivalents excluding dividends, restructuning costs, adjusting
itemns, acquistions, movement in financial assets and movements in borrowings or <hare capitol (but
including finance legse principol payments),

This measure reflects the cash generafed in the period excluding adjusting ifems ancf forms parf of ,
management incentives.

Adjusted Operating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and closing Property, Plant &
Equipmient, plus average of opening and cosing ret working copital

See table beiow for reconciliation.

Adjusted Operating Profit lass nmorfisation of acquisition intangibles divided by the average of opening
and dlasing sharehalders” equity, Net Debt (induding lease liobilitics), pensions ond envirchmentzl ,
provIsions

Gee table below Tor reconciliation.

Bank and other borrowings plus lease habilines ond EVP preference hnbilivy, less cash ond cosh
equivalents

See Note 23 o the consolidated financial statements for a reconcilation.

Bank ond other horrowings plus loose habiihes, less rolovant finanonl ossets ond cosh and cash
equivalents This 1s the mensurement thet our lenders use when assessing covenant compliance.

See table below for reconciliation.

Ramo of Group Net Debt 1o Adjnsted EBITDA

See Note 23 fo the consclidated financial statements for a reconciliation

Recenciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfili
results in Asset provisions
joint impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
ventures and related and Landfilf af discount
53 weeks and Acquisition anerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rote
enden Adjusted assaciates costs cantracts £0515 dispute enquiry 12 intangibles chonges Statutpry
31 March 2023 _fm _ Em e  fw _fm  fm &M B Em__ im0 im
Revenue 1,680.2 - nz 1,680.4
[T (LSRN [PRE-N (1RO ) Blaks} Ay 48 17273
Aorme of et
1T BN T
and pssocaes L U L] _ R — - R
__EBITDA 2255 (.5 (248 - (189} a2 (507 (1
uepre [inor Ui - %
Arrvartsat ee 1o - - - an
_L[_npowmm"r,___ N . ¢l
Operating
_proft_ M2 (A3 (248 @N 080y (43 GO @& @53 244 b7
R T AT ER Tl &7 - al
[ onpnee oot ey i 1275
Shone ol ranidbe
1Nt wertLrms
2 506 0Tps i, L B . S o I R R
Profit/ (loss)
before
raxation 900 - (24.8) (9.9 (18.0) [eF)) (507 (0.9) (25.2) 24.8 151
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting ifem confinued

Lanafill
Asset provisions
impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
and related and LondFill of discount Excepticnal
52 weeks Acquisition onerous restrucruring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate ret interest
ended Adjusted costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Starutory
_25March 2022 fm £m £m £m £m £fm_ fm £m im o £m £m
Revenue 1,443.2 - - 1,4432
Custs (1248 2, (94 - (48] 1208) (120} (10 1 1.5009;
EBITDA 1950 _(94) -  (a8) (20.8) (a7.0) (1.0 - 03 - 1az3
Lepreciatton (973 - - 24 - IVERS
Arnartisar cn 11 - LAY 50N
[Mpulrmenrs 2503 - 290y
Operating
profit / (loss} 8.6 (9.4} (25.0) {4.8) (20.8) 7.0 1.4 (29.6) 0.3 - (8.3)
tinance wcoine 71 - 1.1 32
France costs {2200 - - - (04 (24 4)
shaie of results
oIt vertures
[STals WS PTRSTATSIITN (1.1) - {11
Profit / {loss)
before
saxation _ 756 (94) (25.0) (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 10 (29.6) 0.3 _1 (286)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
Adjusted Operating profit . £m . Em_
Collections 82.5 750
Resources & Energy 423 411
Specialist Services 138 54
Group Business Function o 258y (2491
Total 112.8 6.6
2023 2022
_ Adjusted EBITDA . im_ . __Em
Collections 146.1 1307
Resources & Energy 78.5 754
Specialist Services 216 1.6
Group Business Function {20.5) (207)
Total 225.5 195.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Function costs tepresent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alic, Boord and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal ond insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) rermaining after aliocation o operating divisions. Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit eorned by each division without allecation of depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, finance costs, matenal impacts of
changes in real discount rate applied to the Group's long-term provisions and income fax expense. Adjusted Operating Profit recognises
the impact of depreciation und amortisation excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles. These measures are both reported to

the Group Executive Team tor the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of divisional performance.

Share of results of joint ventures
In o joint venture with Encyclis, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facilities {'ERFs’). Newhurst and Protos.
Ihe Newhurst ERF entered commercial operation during the year to 31 March 2023, The Group’s share of the results of this joint venture

have therefore been recognised in Adjusted Operating Pratit (£1.3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Acquisition-related costs

Delivery of the Group's strategy includes investment in acguisitions that enhance the quality of its operations The exclusion of significont
iterms arising from M&A activity is designed by the Board 16 align shori-term operutionol decisions with this longer-1erm straregy.
Accordingly, amounts arising on acguisttions are excluded from adjusted performance. The £2.0m (2022 £9.4m) of acquisition-related
expenditure in the 53-week period ended 31 March 2023 relates to professional fees and other costs which are direcily atiributchble ro
acolisitions

Alsoincluded in Acguisihion-related casts are £22 8m of costs relating to the acquisition of the Group by ECP in January 2023.

Asset impairments

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerohic digestion plant, in addimion
to a £0 4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site The prior financiol period saw a £25 Om one-off cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on C3G, which was coguired in February 2021

Strategy-related and restructuring costs

Strategy-refoted costs of £18.0m (2022: £4.8m) arise from Group-wide initiotives to reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency
In the business These costs ara substantiol in scope and impact, ond do not form part of our operational performance. Adjusting for these
charges provides a measure of aperating profitability that is comparable over fime. within the strategy-reiated costs is £16 Zm reluting to
the Trunsformation Project which does not qualify for capitalisation (2022 £4.6m)

Amertisation of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25 2m (2022, £29 6m) represents the amounts amortisad by the Group in each period in respect of infangibles from prior
ncguisitions, which are reported separately from the Group's depreciation and dmortisation chorges The performance of the acquired
business is assessed as part of the Group's adjusted nperational results The Group uses this adjusting item to improve the comparability
of information between reporting periods and divisions.

Impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions

The impact of real discount rate chonges on landfill provisions reflects the provision movement which arises wholly due to the change in
riiscount rate Within the current financial period o crodit of £24 8m was recognised (2022: £0 3m credit) This s not reflective of
operationc! performance,

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry
A< set out in Note 27, BWSL 1= currently the subject of an enguiry by HMRC regarding cerfain aspects of its Landfill Tox compliance.

A prowision of £20.0m was recognised i the prior vear In the current year, the provision has been increased to £64.0m with a charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjushng items Further information s pravided in Note 18.

IFRIC 12 adjustments

The adoption of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements, resuits in large accounting adjustments that are aot reflective of the

operational performance of the undedyting contracts, The purpose af these adjustments is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 12 in Adpisted I
Performanca.

Under TFRIC 12 depreciation on reverting PPE items 1s reversed out The IFRIC 12 adjustment reinstates this depreciation.

Also under IFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order fo fulfil the contract is captured upfront and
recogmiced as a provision, with the corresponding discount unwind beitig recognised within net finance costs The IFRIC 12 adjustment
reverses 1his charge from the Adjusted Performance

The net impact of these IFTRIC 12 adjustments s a £0 3m credit to the Income Statement, which is treated as an adjusting item,

Onerous contracts

Qnerous contract provisions reflect the future undvoidable [osses expected on the Group's existing contract portfolio. At the year end rafe
the Group held oneraus contreict provisions for the | eicester City Council, Epping Forest District Council and South Oxfordshire & vale
controcts.

when onerolis contract provisions are recognised of Increased, the corresponding P&L charge is freated as an adjusting ifem becouse
recognising muliiple years of Insses in one financial year skews the financial performance in that year. Onerous confract provision relecses
are also treated as adjusting itfems because the inflated profit they cause does not represent the in-year performance of the business This
approcach ensures thot Adjusted Operating Profit far ony given period presents the contract losses incurred in that period
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of adjusting items to profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £rm
Adjusting items
HMRC Landfill Tax enguiry 50.7 170
Share of results of joint ventures 13 -
Acquisihion related costs 248 94
Strategy reloted and restructunng costs 180 48
Assel impairnients g.1 250
EVP dispute 12 208
IFRIC 12 depreciation adjustiment 0.6 (14)
105.7 75.6
Other adjusting items
Amornisation of acquisimon nrangibles 2572 296
lmpoct of real discount rare changes on landtill provisions (24.8) (0.3
Impact on Operating profit 106.1 1049
Finance income adjusting items
£xceptional net interest income - (L)
Unwind ot discounting on IFRIC 12 provision 03 U4
0.3 ©.7)
Share of results of Joint ventures ) (1.3) -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Taxation on adjusting items (7.4) (26.4)
Impact on Loss for the period e 97.7 718
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Operating profit by division £m fm
Collections 6.6 9.4
Resources & Energy 70 236
Specialist Services 11 253
Group Business Function 4 46.6
_Total . 1061 1049
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
o &m £m
Starutory Revenue 1,680.4 1,4332
Landfill Tax (75.7) (79.3)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.9
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division £m £m
Collections 1,006.1 8739
Resources & Energy 3639 31549
Specialist Services 234.7 174.1
Total 1,604.7 1,365%
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Reverwe continued

o o202 2022
Growth Growth
Revenue growth o £m factor £m factor
Net revenue for the prior period 13639 988 1
Acquisition revenue growth 836 4% 1799 18%
_ Qrganic revenue growth 156722 12% 1959 . 200
__Net revenue for the current period 1,604.7 1,3639

Other performance measures

In additien to the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Return on Operating Assets and Adjusted Return an Coptal
Fmployed as performance measures. These are aligned 1o the strategy and are reported internally to the Board and Operating

Committees to aid their decision making. These are calculated as below:

2023 2022
. . £m £m
Adjusted Operating profit 1128 b6
Average of praperty, plont and equipment’ 6343 5897
Averoge et workng captal’ —- _ . aEey 1582
R 6214 5315
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets® 18.2% 18.2%
;oo , b
. ! ' LR N
! 1 I vl 1 ' P ST
' i o '
2023 2022
S R s e EM - £m
Adjusted Operating profit 112.8 bt
_Amortisation of Acguisition Intangibles (25.2) (967
Adjusted Operating profit less Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles 87.6 67.0
Averoge of shareholders eauity’ 4566 2 4706
average Net Delat 6314 “470
Average retirement Lenefits (130.6) (139M
Average environmental provisions’ o ) L - - =
B 1,030.7 951.0
_ Adjusted Return on Capital Employed® = . 8.5% T.0%
1 Areraces ot cpen rg ane dlasing sacreholilers pginty 0 2097 ane 022
2 v tace Sf cpering and Aloeing Net Debt i 2023 and 2022
Eurrone o ohpen ey ond Iosmg tetiremant benatts v Y023 and 2022 (hote 253
1 Aeevane of ohen ey goe - lzamg envronmental provieisns m 2023 ana X327 tote 18)
5 Lol e Dpaeghing Prafit lens omiortisation of acoinat oo ntangibles divisded by the avernare of apering nnd clssmg saarebolbers' sqoty, net dent sincodieg lese ieil tis

eSS AN epwronmen=ol provisiors
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Forward-looking Statements

Certain staterments made in this Annual Report are torward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The staternents are subject
to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company's contrat and which could cause actual results
to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required by law,
regulations ur accounting standards, the Company does not
undertake to update or revise any forward-looking staterment,
whether as a result of new intormation or future developments. Any
forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Group
speak cnly as ot the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge and intermation available to the Directors on the date of
this Annual Report,

Website

The Company's website www.bitfa.co.uk gives additional
information on the business, Notwithstanding the references made
in the Annual Report 1o the website, none of the informarnion made
on the website constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed
to be incorporated by reference herein.
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